Department of Anaesthesiology and Intensive Care Medicine Helsinki University Central Hospital University of Helsinki Helsinki, Finland

# BIOMARKERS IN ACUTE RESPIRATORY FAILURE

Marjatta Okkonen

Academic dissertation

To be presented with the permission of the Medical Faculty of the University of Helsinki, for public examination in Auditorium 2 of the Biomedicum, Haartmaninkatu 8, on February 11th 2012, at 10 am. Helsinki 2011

#### SUPERVISORS

Docent Ville Pettilä Department of Anaesthesiology and Intensive Care Medicine Helsinki University Central Hospital Helsinki, Finland

Docent Tero Varpula Department of Anaesthesiology and Intensive Care Medicine Helsinki University Central Hospital Helsinki, Finland

## REVIEWERS

Professor Leena Lindgren Department of Anaesthesia Tampere University Hospital Tampere, Finland

Professor Olli Polo Department of Respiratory Medicine Tampere University Hospital Tampere, Finland

## **OFFICIAL OPPONENT**

Professor Stefan Lundin Department of Anaesthesiology University of Gothenberg Gothenberg, Sweden

ISBN 978-952-10-7590-2 (PAPERBACK) ISBN 978-952-10-7591-9 (PDF) HTTP://ETHESIS.HELSINKI.FI UNIGRAFIA OY HELSINKI 2011

# CONTENTS

| LI | ST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS   |
|----|---|
| LI | ST OF ABBREVIATIONS7  |
| Ał | 3STRACT9  |
| 1  | INTRODUCTION11  |
| 2  | REVIEW OF LITERATURE13  |
|    | 2.1. The epidemiology of ARF, ALI and ARDS13                        |
|    | 2.1.1. Definitions  |
|    | 2.1.2. Incidence  |
|    | 2.1.3. Outcome  |
|    | 2.2. Mechanisms of acute lung injury and associated biomarkers 20   |
|    | 2.2.1. Pulmonary oedema24   |
|    | 2.2.1.1. N-terminal pro-brain natriuretic peptide<br>(NT-pro-BNP)24 |
|    | 2.2.2. Mechanical injury26  |
|    | 2.2.3. Epithelial injury  |
|    | 2.2.4. Endothelial injury29   |
|    | 2.2.5. Systemic inflammation  |
|    | 2.2.6. Coagulation  |
|    | 2.2.7. Apoptosis  |
|    | 2.2.7.1. Plasma cell-free DNA                                       |
|    | 2.2.8. Fibrogenesis   |
|    | 2.2.8.1. Markers of collagen metabolism                             |
|    | 2.2.9. Resolution   |
|    | 2.3. Measuring outcome  |
| 3  | AIMS OF THE STUDY   |

| 4  | PATIENTS AND METHODS41   |
|----|--|
|    | 4.1. Patients  |
|    | 4.2. Study designs   |
|    | 4.3. Clinical data   |
|    | 4.4. Measurements of biomarkers44                                      |
|    | 4.4.1 NT-pro-BNP44   |
|    | 4.4.2 Plasma cell-free DNA45   |
|    | 4.4.3 Markers of collagen metabolism45                                 |
|    | 4.5. Disease severity scorings and definitions45                       |
|    | 4.6. Outcome   |
|    | 4.7. Statistical methods   |
| 5  | RESULTS  |
|    | 5.1. The incidence of ARF, ALI and ARDS in Finland                     |
|    | 5.2. Ventilatory treatment   |
|    | 5.3. NT-pro-BNP and cell-free DNA in ARF patients49                    |
|    | 5.4. Prognostic value of combining plasma NT-pro-BNP and cell-free DNA |
|    | 5.5. Serum markers of collagen metabolism53                            |
|    | 5.6. Outcome   |
| 6  | DISCUSSION   |
| 7  | CONCLUSIONS  |
| AC | CKNOWLEDGEMENTS67  |
| RF | EFERENCES  |

# LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS

This thesis is based on the following original publications. In the text they are referred to by their Roman numerals (I-IV). Articles have been reprinted with the kind permission of their copyright holders.

- I Linko R, Okkonen M, Pettilä V, Perttilä J, Parviainen I, Ruokonen E, Tenhunen J, Ala-Kokko T, Varpula T, the FINNALI Study Group. Acute respiratory failure in intensive care units. FINNALI: a prospective cohort study. Intensive Care Med 2009;35:1352–1361
- II Okkonen M, Varpula M, Linko R, Perttilä J, Varpula T, Pettilä V, the FINNALI Study Group. *N-terminal-pro-BNP in critically ill patients with acute respiratory failure: a prospective cohort study*. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand 2011;55:749-757
- III Okkonen M, Lakkisto P, Korhonen AM, Parviainen I, Reinikainen M, Varpula T, Pettilä V, the FINNALI Study Group. *Plasma cell-free DNA in mechanically ventilated patients*. Crit Care 2011;15:R196
- IV Okkonen M\*, Gäddnäs F\*, Pettilä V, Laurila J, Ohtonen P, Risteli J, Linko R, Ala-Kokko T, the FINNALI Study Group. Serum markers of collagen synthesis and degradation in acute respiratory failure patients with prolonged hospitalisation.
  \* contributed equally

Submitted.

# LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

| AEC                                  | Alveolar epithelial cell   |
|--------------------------------------|--|
| AECC                                 | American-European Consensus Conference   |
| ALI                                  | Acute lung injury  |
| APACHE                               | Acute physiology and chronic health evaluation                                   |
| APC                                  | Activated protein C  |
| ARDS                                 | Acute respiratory distress syndrome  |
| ARF                                  | Acute respiratory failure  |
| ATII                                 | Angiotensin II   |
| AUC                                  | Area under receiver operating characteristics curve                              |
| BAL                                  | Bronchoalveolar lavage   |
| CC16                                 | Clara cell secretory protein 16  |
| COPD                                 | Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease  |
| DAD                                  | Diffuse alveolar damage  |
| G-CSF                                | Granulocyte colony-stimulating factor  |
| ICD                                  | International statistical classification of diseases and health problems         |
| ICTP                                 | Type I collagen cross-linked telopeptides  |
| ICU                                  | Intensive care unit  |
| IDI                                  | Integrated discrimination improvement  |
| IL                                   | Interleukin  |
| ITU                                  | Intensive treatment unit   |
| LIS                                  | Lung injury score  |
| MMP                                  | Matrix metalloproteinase   |
| MOD                                  | Multiple organ dysfunction   |
| MV                                   | Mechanical ventilation   |
| NO                                   | Nitric oxide   |
| NRI                                  | Net reclassification improvement   |
| NT-pro-BNI                           | P Aminoterminal pro-brain natriuretic peptide                                    |
| PAF                                  | Platelet activating factor   |
| PAI-1                                | Plasminogen activator inhibitor –1   |
| PaO <sub>2</sub> /FiO <sub>2</sub> - | -ratio The ratio of arterial oxygen pressure and the fraction of inspired oxygen |
| PAOP                                 | Pulmonary artery occlusion pressure  |
| PAR-1                                | Protease activated receptor -1   |
| PBW                                  | Predicted body weight  |
| PEEP                                 | Positive end expiratory pressure   |
| PINP                                 | Procollagen type I aminoterminal propeptide                                      |
| PIIINP                               | Procollagen type III aminoterminal propeptide                                    |

| RAGE  | Receptor for advanced glycation end products |
|-------|--|
| ROC   | Receiver operating characteristics curve     |
| RCT   | Randomized controlled trial                  |
| SAPS  | Simplified acute physiology score            |
| sICAM | Soluble intercellular adhesion molecule      |
| SOFA  | Sequential organ failure assessment          |
| SP-A  | Surfactant protein –A                        |
| SP-D  | Surfactant protein –D                        |
| sTNFR | Soluble tumor necrosis factor receptor       |
| TF    | Tissue factor                                |
| TGF-β | Transforming growth factor –beeta            |
| TNF-α | Tumor necrosis factor -alfa                  |
| VALI  | Ventilator associated injury                 |
| vWf   | von Willebrand factor                        |
|       |  |

# ABSTRACT

**Background:** Acute respiratory failure (ARF) is the most common type of organ failure leading to the need for intensive care. It is often secondary to acute lung injury (ALI) and its more severe form, acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS). These disorders are characterised by inflammatory reaction and tissue damage. After the inflammatory reaction ceases, it is typically followed by a repair process and restored organ function. In some cases, inflammation continues and leads to an overwhelming repair process with ongoing fibrosis, accompanied by organ dysfunction and eventually a loss of function.

ARF, and especially ALI and ARDS, cause increased morbidity and a need for intensive care. Mortality rates remain high (up to 40%) despite extensive research efforts and increased caution in patient care. Mechanical ventilation, although a lifesaving treatment for ARF, can cause injury to the lungs and amplify the inflammatory process; however the use of a lung protective ventilatory strategy is known to improve the outcome in ALI and ARDS.

Measuring the magnitude of the inflammation, and the repair process, early in the course of disease, would theoretically offer information concerning the outcome. Early identification of patients whose disease process is likely to proceed unfavourably, would help clinicians to optimise their treatment and target novel therapies reasonably. Different biomarkers have been studied in order to understand the process of lung injury, find new therapies, and predict outcome.

The aim of this study was to evaluate the epidemiology of ARF, its treatment, and outcome in Finland, with special interest in biomarkers, and their value in the prediction of mortality.

**Patients and methods:** Altogether, 958 patients were prospectively included in this study during an eight week period in 2007. The patient cohort comprised adult patients treated in 25 intensive care units with invasive or non-invasive ventilatory support for more than six hours. The whole cohort was studied in order to investigate the epidemiology, treatment methods used, and the outcome of ARF in Finland (Study I). Concentrations of aminoterminal pro-brain natriuretic peptide (NT-pro-BNP) were assessed in 602 patients (Study II), and plasma cell-free DNA in 580 patients (Study III), to evaluate their value as prognostic markers in ARF. Finally, in 68 patients, procollagen type I and III aminoterminal propeptides (PINP, PIIINP) were studied as markers of collagen synthesis and collagen type I cross-linked telopeptides (ICTP) as a marker of collagen I degradation. Their concentrations in longitudinal serum samples were measured in order to evaluate their evolution in

ARF patients with and without multiple organ dysfunction (Study IV).

**Main results:** Of all 2473 patients admitted to intensive care units, 958 (39%) were treated with ventilatory support for more than six hours. The estimated incidence of ARF treated in the ICUs over this eight-week period was 149.5 / 100 000 per year. Median tidal volume per predicted body weight was higher than recommended, median 8.7 ml/kg. Overall mortality at 90 days was 31%.

Both plasma NT-pro-BNP and cell-free DNA concentrations were highly increased in ARF patients, and levels were higher in 90-day non-survivors than survivors. NT-pro-BNP values were higher in patients with cardiac condition, and with renal dysfunction. Plasma NT-pro-BNP was a moderate predictor of 90-day mortality. Plasma cell-free DNA levels were higher in non-operative patients with infection than without infection. Baseline values of plasma DNA were independent predictors of 90-day mortality, but the discriminative power was poor.

NT-pro-BNP and plasma cell-free DNA remained independent predictors for 90-day mortality in logistic regression analysis including both biomarkers. The mortality was highest in those patients, in whom both biomarkers were over their separate cut-off values.

PIIINP levels increased over time in ARF patients with prolonged hospitalization. PINP levels also increased, but the degradation exceeded the synthesis during first week of ARF. The markers of collagen metabolism showed recovery back to baseline at day 21. None of the markers of collagen metabolism did associate with multiple organ dysfunction.

**Conclusions**: The estimated incidence of ARF treated in the ICU was 149.5 / 100 000 per year in Finland. Ventilatory support for more than six hours was used in 39% of all ICU patients. The 90-day mortality in ARF was 31%. Lung protective ventilatory strategy was adapted moderately. Plasma NT-pro-BNP and cell-free DNA were commonly high in ARF patients, and both were independent predictors of 90-day mortality. However, plasma NT-pro-BNP concentrations were affected by renal failure, and the sensitivity and specificity of plasma cell-free DNA values were poor. Combined use of these biomarkers, however, may increase their clinical value in mortality prediction. The degradation of collagen type I and synthesis of collagen type III increased during the first week in surviving patients. Collagen metabolism approached normal levels at three weeks.

*Keywords:* Acute respiratory failure, intensive care, mortality, outcome, N-terminal-pro-brain natriuretic peptide, plasma cell-free DNA, collagen, procollagen propeptide

# **1 INTRODUCTION**

Acute respiratory failure (ARF) is the most common organ failure reported in intensive care unit patients (Flaatten et al. 2003). In fact, according to most reports, 45-60% of all patients admitted to intensive care units require respiratory support (Demoule et al. 2006, Roupie et al. 1999, Vincent et al. 2002). Since almost all diseases and organ dysfunctions can lead to insufficient pulmonary ventilation, pulmonary oxygenation, or both, triggers for ARF are very heterogeneous. They can also initiate an inflammatory reaction that leads to acute lung injury (ALI) or its more severe form, acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS). ALI and ARDS are important precursors of ARF and share common pathophysiological features. They are characterised by inflammatory reaction and tissue damage, histologically depicted as diffuse alveolar damage (DAD), resulting in a clinical picture of deteriorating oxygenation and/or ventilation. The inflammatory reaction often ceases, and is followed by repair process and restored organ function. Nonetheless, inflammation does continue in some cases, where it leads to an overwhelmed repair process with ongoing fibrosis accompanied by organ dysfunction and, in the worstcase scenario, loss of function.

Introducing ventilatory support in ARF can be life saving, assuming that the disorder leading to respiratory failure is temporary and can be treated. Ventilatory support, however, is known to be potentially injurious. Since the first landmark studies (Dreyfuss et al. 1985, Webb et al. 1974), numerous other experimental studies have shown that lung injury can ensue in previously healthy lungs after implementing injurious ventilatory settings. More recent clinical studies have also supported these findings (Gajic et al. 2005, Pinheiro de Oliveira et al. 2010). A lung protective ventilatory strategy for ALI and ARDS patients, aiming to avoid overdistension and cyclic opening and closing of alveoli, has been established a decade ago, based on a large multicentre study (ARDSNet 2000). Mortality has been suggested to have decreased to some extent, but still remains high at around 40% (Esteban et al. 2008, Zambon et al. 2008).

A detailed understanding of ARF is lacking, given that typically non-homogeneous studies of very different patient materials are reported, due to lack of standard definition. Instead, the most severe forms of ARF, acute lung injury (ALI) and acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS), have been the research target of interest over the last decades. ARDS as a clinical syndrome was first described in 1967 by Ashbaugh and colleagues (Ashbaugh et al. 1967). Standard definitions for ALI and ARDS were formulated by American-European Consensus Conference (AECC) in 1994 (Bernard et al. 1994). Due to the lack of a standard definition, the

need for mechanical ventilation has been commonly used as a definition of ARF in epidemiological studies.

Preventing ALI is a desirable goal, since it causes increased morbidity and mortality, and its treatment is expensive. Early identification of those patients who are at a high risk of developing severe lung injury would help clinicians to optimise their treatment and to target novel therapies. In most cases, the development of severe lung injury is multifactorial, including genetic predisposition. Thus, in order to prevent ALI, it is essential to focus on a large and unselected patient population with existing risk factors for ALI. Patients treated with ventilatory support represent a plausible study population, since after the original injurious incident, ventilatory treatment can be considered a second hit, increasing the risk of ALI. Due to the inflammatory nature of ALI, encompassing numerous elements of inflammatory and coagulation cascades, a myriad of possible biomarkers for ALI exist. Biomarker studies have not only increased the knowledge of pathophysiological pathways, but also yielded some biomarkers that have shown promise in the diagnostics and outcome prediction for ALI and ARDS.

The epidemiology of ARF and its treatment in Finland have not been studied previously, thus a clear opening for a new investigation is evident. Furthermore, measuring the magnitude of the inflammation and the repair process would be advantageous in theory. Early identification of those patients, whose disease process is likely to proceed unfavourably, would help clinicians to optimise their treatment and target novel therapies reasonably. In addition, it would be of great interest to find new and individual tools for prognostic purposes. The aim of this thesis was to study the epidemiology of ARF, its treatment, and outcome in Finland, with special interest in biomarkers, and their value in the prediction of mortality.

# **2 REVIEW OF LITERATURE**

## 2.1. THE EPIDEMIOLOGY OF ARF, ALI AND ARDS

#### 2.1.1. DEFINITIONS

#### 2.1.1.1. ARF

Respiratory failure may be described as an incapability of the respiratory system to maintain sufficient function with regard to demands. The respiratory system has two functions, oxygenation of blood and elimination of carbon dioxide. The failure of either or both of these functions results in hypoxemia and/or respiratory acidosis (Roussos et al. 2003). If the onset of the failure is acute, the compensatory mechanisms do not have time to work and a life threatening situation ensues.

Numerous illnesses and pathological states can result in acute respiratory failure. Primary pulmonary diseases may directly affect gas exchange, the control of breathing may be disabled by central nervous system disease, and systemic inflammatory reaction may cause increased oxygen consumption or increased production of carbon dioxide resulting in increased work of breathing and respiratory muscle fatigue. This miscellaneous background and the symptom-like nature of ARF most probably is one reason why a standard definition is lacking.

Most studies have only included patients with ALI or ARDS, but these syndromes cover a minority of ARF patients. In a Nordic multicentre study, where ARF was defined as invasive mechanical ventilation for more than 24 hours, ALI or ARDS definitions were fulfilled in 287 (23%) of 1231 ARF patients (Luhr et al. 1999), in agreement with proportions reported by others (Villar et al. 2007). Even smaller proportions of ALI patients have been found, when mechanically ventilated patients have been evaluated (Esteban et al. 2008, Roupie et al. 1999). Widely differing definitions of ARF have been used, some including criteria for oxygenation (Flaatten et al. 2003, Vincent et al. 2002), and some demanding invasive ventilation (Lewandowski et al. 1995, Luhr et al. 1999).

The use of variable inclusion criteria has resulted in wide range of study results. Table 1 presents epidemiological studies with different patient populations included, and also the proportions of ALI/ARDS from study patients.

#### Table 1. Epidemiological studies of ARF or ALI/ARDS

| Study   | Setting  | ICU<br>admissions                     | Study patients<br>* Inclusion criteria entitled as ARF                       |
|---|--|---------------------------------------|--|
| Lewandovski 1995                              | 72 ICUs in Berlin<br>1991, 8 weeks<br>Prospective                            | NA                                    | * Intubation<br>+ MV $\ge$ 24 h ( $\ge$ 14 years)                            |
| Roupie 1999                                   | 36 French ICUs<br>1996, 14 days<br>Prospective                               | 976<br>(424 with MV)                  | PaO2/FiO2 < 300 mmHg + MV + acute<br>unset (NIV included)                    |
| Luhr 1999                                     | 132 ICUs in 3 Nordic countries<br>1997, 8 weeks<br>Prospective               | 13 346                                | * Intubation + MV $\ge$ 24 h   |
| Behrendt 2000                                 | Register data analysis,<br>1994, 1 year<br>Retrospective                     | NA                                    | * ICD-9-CM code for acute respiratory<br>distress or failure + MV (>5 years) |
| Vincent 2002                                  | 40 ICUs in 16 countries,<br>1995, 1 month<br>Prospective                     | 1449                                  | * PaO2/FiO2 < 200 mmHg + MV<br>(≥12 years)<br>(NIV included)                 |
| Bersten 2002                                  | 21 adult ICUs in 3 Australian<br>states<br>1999, 8 weeks<br>Prospective      | 1977                                  | ALI/ARDS<br>(AECC criteria)  |
| Esteban 2002                                  | 361 ICUs in 20 countries,<br>1998, 28 days<br>Prospective                    | 15 757                                | MV > 12 h<br>(NIV included)  |
| Flaatten 2003                                 | One ICU in Norway,<br>2000-2002, 2.5 years<br>Prospective                    | 832                                   | * SOFA 3 or 4 at least on 2 days<br>(>16 years)<br>(NIV included)            |
| Goss 2003                                     | 20 hospitals in United States<br>1996-1999<br>Prospective                    | NA                                    | ALI/ARDS<br>(AECC criteria)  |
| Brun-Buisson 2003                             | 78 ICUs in 10 European<br>countries<br>1999, 2 months<br>Prospective         | 6522                                  | ICU stay > 24 h or ALI/ARDS at admission                                     |
| Rubenfeld 2005                                | 21 hospitals in one county in<br>USA<br>1999-2000, 12 months,<br>Prospective | NA<br>(6235<br>admissions<br>with MV) | MV > 24 h<br>(> 6 months of age)   |
| Esteban 2008                                  | 349 ICUs in 23 countries<br>2004, 1 month<br>Prospective                     | 19 505                                | MV > 12 h<br>(NIV included)  |
| The Irish Critical Care<br>Trials Groups 2008 | 14 ICUs in Ireland,<br>10 weeks<br>Prospective                               | 1029<br>(728 with MV)                 | ALI/ARDS<br>(AECC criteria)  |

AECC, American-European Consensus Conference; ALI, Acute lung injury; ARDS, Acute respiratory distress syndrome; ARF, Acute respiratory failure; ICD-9-CM, The International Classification of Diseases, Ninth Revision, Clinical Modification; ICU, Intensive care unit; LIS, Lung injury score; MV, Mechanical ventilation

| Patients                    | ALI/ARDS<br>of study patients                                    | Incidence<br>/100 000                 | Hospital mortality                                  | Comment   |
|-----------------------------|--|---------------------------------------|---|---|
| 508                         | 17 (3.6%) Severe lung injury<br>(LIS > 2.5)                      | ARF 88.6<br>Severe lung<br>injury 3.0 | 42.7% (ICU)<br>59% ARDS (LIS>2.5)                   | Severe lung injury defined<br>as LIS > 2.5                                  |
| 213                         | 67 ARDS<br>(31.5% of study patients and<br>15.8% of MV patients) | NA                                    | 40% (28 d)<br>60 % ARDS                             | 49% of patients admitted<br>from wards to ICU                               |
| 1231                        | 287 (23%)  | ARF 77.6<br>ALI 17.9<br>ARDS 13.5     | ARF 41% *<br>ALI (not ARDS) 42.2%<br>ARDS 41.2%     | * 90-day mortality  |
| 61 223                      | NA   | ARF 137.1                             | 35.9%   | Based on hospital discharge<br>data   |
| 458 at adm. +<br>352 at ICU | NA   | NA                                    | 34%   | 23% postoperative patients  |
| (NA)                        | 168 (8.5% ) ALI/ARDS<br>148 (7.5%) ARDS                          | ALI 34<br>ARDS 28                     | 32% overall (28 d)<br>15% ALI, not ARDS<br>34% ARDS | Barotrauma in pulmonary<br>ALI 16%, in non-pulm. 1.5%,<br>p<0.001           |
| 5183                        | 231 (4.5%)   | NA                                    | 39.2%   | PaO <sub>2</sub> /FiO <sub>2</sub> independent predictor of death           |
| 392 at adm. +<br>137 at ICU | NA   | NA                                    | 32.9%<br>14.7% single organ ARF                     | Gradual increase in<br>mortality with number of<br>failing organs           |
| (NA)                        | 7455 ALI/ARDS  | 64                                    | NA  | Based on screened<br>patients in ARDSNet study<br>(ARDSNet 2000)            |
| 2768                        | 463 (16.1%)  | NA                                    | 49.4% ALI, not ARDS<br>57.9% ARDS                   | Large variation in ARDS<br>prevalence in different<br>centres               |
| 4251                        | 1113 (26%) ALI<br>828 (19%) ARDS                                 | ALI 78.9<br>ARDS 58.7                 | 38.5% ALI, including<br>ARDS<br>41.1% ARDS          | Only 34% discharged to home   |
| 4968                        | 198 (4%) ARDS  | NA                                    | 37% all patients<br>63% ARDS                        | A follow-up study of a previous epidemiological study (Esteban et al. 2002) |
| 196                         | 196 ALI/ARDS (19% of<br>admissions and 27% of MV<br>patients)    | NA                                    | 32% (ICU)   | PaO <sub>2</sub> /FiO <sub>2</sub> independent predictor of death           |

## 2.1.1.2. ALI and ARDS

Whilst the first descriptions of lung oedema appearing without heart failure were written in the early 1800's, ARDS was first described by Ashbaugh and colleagues in 1967 (Ashbaugh et al. 1967). They described twelve patients with clinical symptoms of severe dyspnoea and cyanosis associated with diffuse alveolar infiltrates seen in the chest x-ray; their symptoms were resistant to usual respiratory therapy approaches. Two decades later, an attempt to define lung injury was made by Murray and colleagues (Murray et al. 1988). Their definition included three parts: time frame (acute or chronic), severity of the lung injury, and the cause of the lung injury. The severity of the lung injury was assessed by lung injury score (LIS), which included the level of positive end expiratory pressure (PEEP) and respiratory system compliance, in addition to the severity of the oxygenation problem, and the number of quadrants affected in the chest x-ray. This definition has been used in some interventional studies (Peek et al. 2009), but has not been adopted widely in epidemiological studies as a diagnostic criteria. The lung injury score, however, has been favoured as a quantitative index of ALI severity.

In 1994, the AECC formulated diagnostic criteria for ALI and ARDS (Bernard et al. 1994), presented in Table 2. The purpose was to standardise the patient populations included in clinical trials, since the definitions, thus patients and results, in earlier studies had varied widely.

| Table 2. | The diagnostic | criteria of ALI | and ARDS | according to | AECC (Be | ernard et al. | 1994). |
|----------|----------------|-----------------|----------|--------------|----------|---------------|--------|
|----------|----------------|-----------------|----------|--------------|----------|---------------|--------|

| Acute onset  |
|--|
| Bilateral infiltrates in chest x-ray   |
| Absence of left atrial hypertension<br>(PCWP < 18 cmH <sub>2</sub> O or clinical exclusion)  |
| $PaO_2/FiO_2 \le 300 \text{ mmHg} (\le 40 \text{ kPa}) \text{ for ALI and} \le 200 \text{ mmHg} (\le 27 \text{ kPa}) \text{ for ARDS}$ |

AECC, American-European Consensus Conference; ALI, Acute lung injury; ARDS, Acute respiratory distress syndrome; kPa, kilopascal; PCWP, pulmonary capillary wedge pressure

These criteria have been criticised for many reasons. First, ventilatory settings are not taken into account, although they are known to have a significant effect on oxygenation and, thus, the fulfilment of the criteria. In a study by Villar and colleagues, 170 patients met ARDS criteria at baseline (Villar et al. 2007). After adjustments in the PEEP level and in the inspired oxygen fraction, only 99 (52%) fulfilled ARDS criteria, while 55 patients had shifted to the group fulfilling ALI criteria and 16 patients did not meet the ALI/ARDS criteria at all. Second, the ratio of arterial oxygen pressure and the fraction of inspired oxygen ( $PaO_2/FiO_2$  –ratio),

which is used as a measure of oxygenation in AECC–criteria, can be manipulated by simply changing the inspired oxygen fraction (Aboab et al. 2006, Karbing et al. 2007).

Additionally, AECC criteria do not necessarily correlate with patients' clinical status. In a recent study, 715 patients treated in respiratory wards were evaluated for ALI/ARDS criteria (Quartin et al. 2009). Of these 715, 474 (66%) had acute infiltrates in their chest x-ray, 62 (9%) fulfilled the criteria for ALI, and 15 (2%) for ARDS. Patients with ALI criteria displayed a 90-day mortality of only 12%, in contrast to a 10% mortality rate for patients not fulfilling the criteria. This result suggests that the criteria currently used to evaluate for ALI/ARDS are neither sensitive nor specific enough to reliably find patients with acute lung injury. Indeed, in an autopsy study of 133 patients who had been diagnosed to have ARDS, the characteristic histological picture of DAD, a gold standard in the diagnosis of ARDS, was seen only in 119 patients (Esteban et al. 2004). The remaining 14 patients with a clinical diagnosis of ARDS were diagnosed to have suffered from pneumonia, alveolar haemorrhage, pulmonary oedema or embolism, and fibrosis due to chemotherapy. Sensitivity and specificity were calculated for AECC criteria, and were found to be only moderate, with a sensitivity of 75% (95% confidence interval [CI], 66% to 82%) and specificity 84% (95% CI, 79% to 88%) in all patients. In patients demonstrating clinical risk factors, the values remained somewhat lower, both were 75%. In contrast, for patients with non-pulmonary risk factors, both sensitivity and specificity were higher, signifying the importance of underlying pathophysiology.

Despite the obvious weaknesses in the criteria used to define ALI, and continuing suggestions to refine them (Lewandowski 1999, Rumbak et al. 2009), inclusion criteria in practically all studies concerning ALI are based on those defined in table 2.

#### 2.1.2. INCIDENCE

Due to inconsistencies in its definition, studies concerning ARF and its incidence are inconsistent. Given that ALI/ARDS patients are defined as a proportion of ARF/MV patients in many studies, the inclusion criteria used for ARF has great impact in this estimate (Table 1). The ARF incidence rates reported have ranged from 77.6 / 100 000 per year in a Nordic study covering Sweden, Denmark, and Iceland (Luhr et al. 1999) to 137.1 / 100 000 per year in a retrospective register data analysis (Behrendt 2000). Correspondingly, the incidence numbers for ARDS (AECC criteria) have varied from 4.9 / 100 000 per year in a 3-year retrospective analysis in one hospital (Valta et al. 1999) to 58.7 and 64 / 100 000 per year in more recent studies from the United States (Goss et al. 2003, Rubenfeld et al. 2005). Lower incidences of 1.5 to 3.5 / 100 000 per year have been reported with a more strict ARDS definition (Villar et al. 1989) and 3.6 / 100 000 per year with 'severe lung injury' defined by LIS score (Lewandowski et al. 1995).

## 2.1.3. OUTCOME

Large variation is seen in both the clinical outcome of ARF, ALI, and ARDS, and their incidence. A crude mortality rate of 35-40% is reported for ARF in most studies (Behrendt 2000, Luhr et al. 1999, Roupie et al. 1999), and 30-60% for ALI/ARDS (Bersten et al. 2002, Brun-Buisson et al. 2004, Rubenfeld et al. 2005).

Whether the mortality of ALI/ARDS has been decreasing over decades is under debate, since the results have not been consistent and the interpretations have also differed, as reported in two recent systematic reviews (Phua et al. 2009, Zambon et al. 2008). Zambon and Vincent analysed ALI/ARDS studies from 1994 (when the AECC criteria were published) to 2006, and included 72 studies with more than 30 patients (Zambon et al. 2008). They found that mortality rates showed wide variation from 15% (28-day mortality) to 72% (hospital mortality) between studies, the overall mortality being 43%. Mortalities reported in studies varied from ICU to 60-day mortality. A constant reduction in the overall and hospital mortalities, but not in others, was noticed over time. In another systematic review, 89 studies including at least 50 patients with ALI/ARDS, were evaluated (Phua et al. 2009). Studies were pooled according to a publishing year, thus were published before or after the AECC consensus criteria in 1994 (Bernard et al. 1994), and also according to study design, namely observational versus randomized controlled trials (RCT). The overall mortality in all studies was 44.3%. Mortality was noticed to decrease over time in observational studies conducted before year 1994, however from 1994 to 2006 no changes in mortality over time were perceived. In the era from 1994 to 2006, the mortality rate differed significantly according to study design, being 44% in observational, and 36% in randomized controlled trials (RCT).

## 2.1.3.1 Parameters affecting outcome

Diverse definitions used in earlier studies are partly responsible for variable results, but differences in the local treatment protocols, organizational factors, admission policies, and also populations may also have had an effect on differing results. When the effect of closed versus open ICUs on hospital mortality was evaluated, the mortality was significantly lower in ALI patients in the closed ICUs (Treggiari et al. 2007). In open ICUs, 31% of the patients were ventilated with tidal volumes

known to be injurious (over 12 ml/kg), compared to 10% in closed ICU, which may be a plausible explanation for the increased mortality in open ICUs. Another study has shown that higher hospital volume, thus the higher number of patients treated, is associated with decreased mortality in mechanically ventilated patients (Kahn et al. 2006).

Predisposing factors for ALI and ARDS also have an impact on the outcome. The mortality in ALI/ARDS has been reported to be highest in sepsis induced ALI (Brun-Buisson et al. 2004, Doyle et al. 1995). Trauma patients, in contrast, have a better prognosis, which is not entirely explained by the baseline characteristics, but has been shown to associate with lower levels of biomarkers for both epithelial and endothelial injury (Calfee et al. 2007). Two retrospective analyses have suggested that race may impact the outcome (Erickson et al. 2009, Moss et al. 2002), however another study found no racial difference in trauma patients regarding ALI development, its severity, or mortality (Brown et al. 2011). Nonetheless, other genetic factors may still have an effect on survival (Marshall et al. 2002)

The impact of the severity of the oxygenation problem on mortality has varied in earlier studies. In a Nordic multicentre study, mortality rates were comparable in different groups, where 90-day mortality was 41% for ARF (including ALI and ARDS patients), 42% for ALI (not including ARDS), and 41% for ARDS patients (Luhr et al. 1999). In another study, the long-term outcome in critically ill trauma and sepsis patients did not differ, whether the ARDS was diagnosed or not (Davidson et al. 1999). Some other studies, on the other hand, have shown significant differences in outcome according to the severity of lung injury (Esteban et al. 2002, IrishCriticalCareTrialsGroup 2008, Roupie et al. 1999, Villar et al. 2007). Overall, PaO<sub>2</sub>/FiO<sub>2</sub> – ratio on the first day of ALI/ARDS has not been shown to be an independent predictor of mortality (Ware 2005).

Acute respiratory failure is an infrequent cause of death in ARDS patients. A landmark study by Montgomery and colleagues, reported that in only 16% of patients with ARDS, death was caused by acute respiratory failure (Montgomery et al. 1985). In most cases, when occurring after the first days of disease onset, death is related to other organ failures, especially to multiple organ failure (Ferring et al. 1997). Mortality has been shown to associate more with other organ dysfunctions than respiratory failure per se (Flaatten et al. 2003). Flaatten and colleagues reported hospital mortality as low as 15% in acute respiratory failure, as a single organ failure, however this increased as organ failures compounded. A comparable mortality rate of 17% with a single organ ARF has been reported, however patient number with ARF as a single organ failure was only 24 (Pettila et al. 2002). In addition, the combination of ARF with any other organ failure, to 75% with hematologic failure. Other organ dysfunctions have also independently predicted death in studies on ALI/ARDS (Brun-Buisson et al. 2004, Doyle et al. 1995).

# 2.2. MECHANISMS OF ACUTE LUNG INJURY AND ASSOCIATED BIOMARKERS

Lung injury may commence with diverse early pathophysiology, caused by either direct or indirect mechanisms. These mechanisms each constitute approximately half of the cases of ALI/ARDS (Bersten et al. 2002, Luhr et al. 1999, Villar et al. 2007). The site of injury is alveolar epithelium in direct pulmonary injury as in aspiration and pneumonia, and vascular endothelium in indirect extrapulmonary injury, as in sepsis, trauma, massive transfusion. Both situations, or often a combination of them, result in increased vascular permeability, interstitial fluid accumulation, and inflammatory cell migration in alveolar spaces (Ware et al. 2000). Air spaces flood with protein rich oedema fluid, and activated neutrophils and macrophages release inflammatory mediators and proteases, which further amplify the inflammatory process and injury. Histologically acute lung injury is characterised by DAD (Castro 2006, Katzenstein et al. 1976). This includes type II alveolar epithelial cell (AEC) loss, leading to surfactant deficiency and functional impairment, while destruction of type I AECs results in impairment of gas exchange.

The inflammatory and regenerative processes take place in the denuded alveolar epithelium (Pugin et al. 1999). Epithelium disruption triggers the activation of coagulation cascades, leading to a subsequent activation of tissue fibroblasts. Myofibroblasts are stimulated, for example by activated transforming growth factor (TGF)- $\beta$ , to secrete procollagens (Scotton et al. 2007) (Figure 1). Excess collagen, in turn, is degraded by matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs), as are other extracellular matrix structural components, thus MMPs are important in the regulation of tissue remodelling. They also participate in the regulation of inflammation and immunity, participating in both pro- and anti-inflammatory actions. In fact, proinflammatory mediators tumor necrosis factor (TNF)- $\alpha$  and TGF- $\beta$  have been reported to induce the action of MMP-2 and MMP-9 (Han et al. 2001a, Han et al. 2001b).



# Figure 1. Simplified mechanisms of acute lung injury, drawn by Helena Schmidt according to draft by Marjatta Okkonen.

A, apoptosis; AEC, alveolar epithelial cell; F, fibroblast; ICTP, collagen type I cross-linked telopeptides; M, macrophage; MMPs, matrix metalloproteinases; N, neutrophil; PAF, platelet activating factor; PAR-1, protease activated receptor-1; TNF- $\alpha$ , tumor necrosis factor- $\alpha$ ; TGF- $\beta$ , transforming growth factor- $\beta$ 

Although many features of ALI are common to both direct pulmonary and indirect extrapulmonary insults, some differences exist. Morphological changes in lung parenchyma, changes in lung mechanics, and expression of MMP-9, have been shown to be different in pulmonary and extrapulmonary lung injury in a mouse model (Santos et al. 2006). Changes in lung parenchyma morphology (collagen deposits, fibroblast appearance) disappeared more rapidly in non-pulmonary injury. Additionally, in pulmonary, but not extrapulmonary injury, elastic fibres increased in addition to collagen fibres. A human study evaluating 21 ARDS patients has shown that the lung mechanics differ significantly in pulmonary and extrapulmonary injury (Gattinoni et al. 1998), in accordance with experimental investigations. Lung elastance was significantly higher in pulmonary than in extrapulmonary ARDS, and the chest wall elastance in turn, was higher in extrapulmonary ARDS. The effect of increasing PEEP level was also different, lung elastance increased and no recruitment was observed in pulmonary ARDS. The opposite effect was noticed in extrapulmonary ARDS, with a decrease in lung elastance and significant lung recruitment. These results clearly suggest that transpulmonary pressure is higher in ARDS caused by pulmonary insult, and thus the risk of further injury caused by ventilatory treatment may be significant.

Due to the inflammatory nature of ALI, a range of elements in biological cascades may have potential as biomarkers. Numerous markers have been studied in experimental studies, but considerably fewer in the clinical setting, and still fewer in multicentre studies. Large multicentre studies evaluating biomarkers are widely based on the patient population recruited to one randomised, controlled study evaluating the effect of low versus traditional tidal volumes on outcome in ALI/ ARDS patients (ARDSNet 2000). Table 3 presents these studies with particular focus on the statistical methods reported in the publications. Most of these studies report the association of the biomarker with the outcome measure. Most studies also report the results of the logistic regression analysis, performed to exclude the effect of the other risk factors, and to measure if the biomarker has an independent effect on outcome. Results concerning the clinical utility of a biomarker are, however, not reported. A test widely used and recommended for this purpose is the area under the receiver-operating-characteristic (ROC) curve (AUC) analysis. This method has been used widely in order to measure the discriminative value and, thus, the clinical utility of a biomarker (Ray et al. 2010). More advanced statistical solutions, namely the net reclassification improvement NRI and the integrated discrimination improvement IDI, have been proposed in order to further improve the assessment of new biomarkers (Cook et al. 2009, Pencina et al. 2008). These indices are based on stratification into clinical risk categories, and have already been reported in a biomarker study (Wang et al. 2011). Although some weaknesses in reports from multicentre biomarker studies exist, the strength of these studies is a large patient population, and especially a controlled study design concerning ventilatory treatment. No systematic review of the biomarkers in ALI/ARDS have been performed, but recently Levitt and colleagues have published an analytical review (Levitt et al. 2009).

Table 3. Multicentre studies evaluating biomarkers of ALI.

|                        |                                |           | - Sol            | Statistics ()     | /es/no)   |         |                        |       |  |
|------------------------|--------------------------------|-----------|------------------|-------------------|---|---------|------------------------|-------|--|
| Study                  | Marker(s)                      | z         | survivors        | Mean or<br>median | Mann-Whitney,<br>Wilcoxon or<br>Kruskall-Wallis | AUC     | logistic<br>regression | ā     | Result   |
| Eisner 2003            | SP-A<br>SP-D                   | 565       | 195              | Median            | +   | I       | +                      | 1     | SP-A: not predictive of outcome<br>SP-D: higher plasma levels associated with<br>mortality, low Vt strategy attenuated levels      |
| Ware 2004              | von Willebrand<br>factor (vWf) | 559       | 193              | Mean              | +   | 1       | +                      |       | No difference in vWf levels in patients with<br>1) sepsis or not<br>2) low or traditional Vt                                       |
| Parsons 2004           | sTNFrI and II                  | 562       | 196              | Median            | +   | 1       | +                      | 1     | sTNFRI and II independent predictors of<br>mortality<br>Reduction in sTNFRI levels by low Vt ventilatory<br>strategy               |
| Parsons 2005           | IL-10<br>IL-10                 | 781       | 276              | Median            | +   | 1       | +                      | 1     | Highest levels in sepsis and pneumonia, lowest<br>in trauma<br>Lower Vt group: greater decrease in IL-6 and<br>IL-8                |
| McClintock 2006        | U-desmosine                    | 579       | NA               | Mean              | +   | 1       | +                      |       | Higher urine desmosine to creatinine ratio independent predictor of death  |
| Ware 2007              | protein C<br>PAI-1             | 779       | AA               | Median            | +   |         | +                      |       | Protein C and PAI-1 both independently predict<br>mortality<br>Synergistic interaction for mortality risk                          |
| McClintock 2007        | ON-U                           | 566       | AN               | Median            | +   | 1       | +                      | 1     | Higher levels of U-NO independently predicted<br>lower mortality<br>Greater increase in values (D0-D3) in low Vt<br>strategy group |
| Calfee 2008            | RAGE                           | 767       | AN               | Median            | +   |         | +                      |       | High levels associated with mortality only in high Vt group  |
| Calfee 2009            | sICAM-1                        | 778       | NA (35%)         | Median            | +   |         | +                      |       | High and increasing sICAM-1 associate with poor outcome  |
| IL, interleukin; NA, r | not available; PAI-            | -1, plasr | ninogen activato | or inhibitor-1    | l; RAGE, receptor f                             | or adva | inced glycatic         | n end | products; sICAM-1, soluble intercellular adhesion  |

molecule-1; SP-A/D, surfactant protein A/D, sTNFr, soluble tumor necrosis factor receptor; U-NO, urine nitric oxide; Vt, tidal volume

#### 2.2.1. PULMONARY OEDEMA

Pulmonary oedema is a distinguishing feature of an acute phase of ALI (Sibbald et al. 1985, Ware et al. 2000). Instead of cardiac insufficiency and increased intravascular pressure, increased alveolar permeability is the major component in the pathogenesis (Staub 1978). Impaired alveolar fluid clearance has also recently been noticed (Ware et al. 2001b). The extent of oedema formation, as measured by extravascular lung water, has been shown to correlate with mortality in ARDS (Sakka et al. 2002). The reduction of pulmonary capillary wedge pressure, as a result of diuretic treatment, has also shown to correlate with improved outcome in a retrospective study (Humphrey et al. 1990). More recently, a randomized, controlled study evaluating conservative versus liberal fluid management strategy in ALI patients has been published (Wiedemann et al. 2006). Therein, conservative fluid management reduced the ventilator time and ICU length of stay without increasing other organ failures, such as acute kidney injury, in patients with established ALI/ ARDS after shock had reversed. This result emphasizes the importance of fluid overload in lung injury, and suggests the possible role of brain natriuretic peptide (BNP) as a biomarker.

## 2.2.1.1. N-terminal pro-brain natriuretic peptide (NT-pro-BNP)

BNP belongs to a family of neurohormones and has several circulatory and homeostatic activities. It is vasodilatory and diuretic, antagonises the reninangiotensin-aldosterone system, and inhibits the sympathetic nerve system. Myocardial cells synthesize and excrete BNP mainly in response to myocardial wall stretch and volume overload. Endothelin-I and angiotensin (AT)II are the most powerful inducers of BNP release (de Bold et al. 1996). Inflammatory pathways and endothelial dysfunction have also been suggested to be interacted with BNP (Clerico et al. 2006). BNP is a prohormone, which is proteolytically cleaved to yield active C-terminal and inactive N-terminal parts in a one to one ratio during its release from cells. NT-pro-BNP is released in equimolar amounts to active BNP, and thus, can be used to measure its levels. The advantage of NT-pro-BNP over BNP is its stability during sampling and storage (Clerico et al. 2007, Pemberton et al. 2000). NT-pro-BNP is excreted mainly by kidneys, thus renal failure is a potential confounding factor in its use as a biomarker in lung failure (Forfia et al. 2005a). The levels of NT-pro-BNP are significantly higher than the levels of BNP but have shown to correlate with each other (Masson et al. 2006).

Numerous cardiac and non-cardiac conditions cause an increase in NT-pro-BNP levels (Zakynthinos et al. 2008). BNP has shown powerful prognostic value on outcome in both acute and chronic heart failure (Di Somma et al. 2010, Jarai et al. 2009, Latini et al. 2004) and in acute coronary syndrome (James et al. 2003, Jarai et al. 2005).

High elevations in natriuretic peptide levels have been reported also in noncardiac patients. Most widely studied after cardiac patients, are patients with sepsis (Brueckmann et al. 2005, Charpentier et al. 2004). Some studies have reported a lack of ability of NT-pro-BNP to differentiate between cardiac and non-cardiac pulmonary oedema patients (Bajwa et al. 2008, Jefic et al. 2005), but contradictory results have also been published (Karmpaliotis et al. 2007). Recent studies have shown some prognostic value for NT-pro-BNP in hypoxic ARF patients (Karmpaliotis et al. 2007), and in patients with severe sepsis or septic shock (Karmpaliotis et al. 2007, Varpula et al. 2007). In more unselected populations of critically ill patients, NT-proBNP has been shown to be an independent predictor of mortality (Almog et al. 2006, Meyer et al. 2007). The value of NT-pro-BNP, however, has remained unclear in the critical care setting (Christenson 2008). Recently, association between elevated levels of NT-pro-BNP and unfavorable outcome has been suggested in mechanically ventilated (Kotanidou et al. 2009) and ARDS (Bajwa et al. 2008) patients. Studies evaluating BNP or NT-pro-BNP in mechanically ventilated, ARF, or ARDS patients are presented in Table 4.

|                      | Patients<br>population                                     | Number of<br>patients<br>/ non-survivors | Study aim   | Result  |
|----------------------|--|--|---|---|
| Jefic 2005           | Hypoxic<br>respiratory failure                             | 41/17 (41%)<br>(30-day)                  | 1) can NT-pro-BNP<br>differentiate between<br>patients with high vs. low<br>PAOP pulmonary oedema<br>2) does NT-pro-BNP<br>predict 30-day mortality                       | 1) NT-pro-BNP does<br>not correlate with<br>PAOP<br>2) no value in<br>mortality prediction  |
| Karmpaliotis<br>2007 | Hypoxic<br>respiratory failure<br>(PaO2/FiO2 <300<br>mmHg) | 80/ NA                                   | <ol> <li>does BNP assist in<br/>diagnostics of cardiogenic<br/>vs. non- cardiogenic<br/>pulmonary oedema?</li> <li>utility of BNP in<br/>prognostic evaluation</li> </ol> | <ol> <li>BNP is useful in<br/>excluding cardiogenic<br/>pulmonary oedema</li> <li>associates with<br/>hospital mortality in<br/>all patients</li> </ol> |
| Berdal 2008          | MV > 48 hours  | 70/25 (36%)<br>(30-day)                  | Prognostic value of<br>NT-pro-BNP on 30-day<br>mortality  | Independent<br>predictor of mortality,<br>AUC 0.74  |
| Bajwa 2008           | ARDS   | 177/70 (40%)<br>(60-day)                 | <ol> <li>to evaluate NT-pro-BNP<br/>levels in ARDS patients</li> <li>to examine the diag-<br/>nostic and prognostic<br/>value</li> </ol>                                  | 1) elevated levels<br>found in ARDS,<br>median 3180 pg/ml<br>2) no diagnostic<br>value, independent<br>predictor of<br>60-mortality                     |
| Kotanidou<br>2009    | Unselected,<br>non-cardiac ICU<br>patients, all with<br>MV | 233/98 (42%)<br>(ICU)                    | to evaluate prognostic<br>value of NT-pro-BNP   | independent<br>predictor of ICU<br>mortality  |

Table 4. Studies evaluating brain natriuretic peptides (BNP or NT-pro-BNP) in mechanically ventilated, ARF, or ARDS patients.

ARDS, acute respiratory distress syndrome; ARF, acute respiratory failure; ICU, intensive care unit; MV, mechanical ventilation; NA, not available; NT-pro-BNP, aminoterminal pro-brain natriuretic peptide; PAOP, pulmonary artery occlusion pressure

#### 2.2.2. MECHANICAL INJURY

Ventilatory support is a life saving treatment in ARF, but it can also augment the existing lung injury and even cause injury to previously healthy lungs. This injury, referred as 'ventilator associated lung injury' (VALI), may originate simply due to mechanistic reasons, since lungs exhibit a non-homogeneous structure with aeration differing widely under mechanical ventilation. This can cause powerful traction forces to occur in the intermediate region between areas of different aeration, as shown by Mead and colleagues in their classical study (Mead et al. 1970). Early animal studies have shown that ventilation with high tidal volumes and high inspiratory pressures is injurious to lungs (Dreyfuss et al. 1985, Kolobow et al. 1987, Tsuno et al. 1991, Webb et al. 1974). In humans, studies have mostly focused on patients with the diagnosis of ALI or ARDS. The first observations of reduced mortality, when tidal volumes and inspiratory pressures had been limited in ARDS patients, were published by Hickling and colleagues (Hickling et al. 1990, Hickling et al. 1994). These studies were retrospective and observational and had no control groups, but raised much interest in the issue.

The issue of injurious ventilation was further studied by including 44 patients in a RCT evaluating the impact of ventilatory settings on inflammatory mediators (Ranieri et al. 1999). Results confirmed that ventilation with high tidal volume (11 ml/ kg) and inspiratory pressure (31 cmH<sub>o</sub>O) caused an increase in both bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL) fluid and plasma levels of TNF-a, interleukin(IL)-6, and TNF receptors. Lung protective ventilation, on the contrary, resulted in a decrease of these mediators. These results support the hypothesis that ventilator treatment may induce and augment the systemic inflammatory response and cause remote organ failure that may ultimately lead to multiple organ failure. Concurrently, four randomised, controlled studies evaluating the effect of tidal volume limitation on outcome in ARDS patients were published (Amato et al. 1998, Brochard et al. 1998, Brower et al. 1999, Stewart et al. 1998). One study showed a large decrease in the 28-day mortality in the low tidal volume group (38%) when compared to traditional tidal volume group (71%) (Amato et al. 1998), but high mortality in the control group has raised criticism. Three other studies, with enrolled patient numbers varying from 52 to 120, however, failed to show any outcome benefit associated with low tidal volume strategy (Brochard et al. 1998, Brower et al. 1999, Stewart et al. 1998). More recently, a large randomized, controlled study comparing low (6 ml/kg predicted body weight, PBW) and traditional (12 ml/kg PBW) tidal volumes in ARDS was performed, with the results showing a significant decrease in hospital mortality in the low tidal volume group (31%) versus the traditional tidal volume group (40%) (ARDSNet 2000). These somewhat contradictory results were discussed in a metaanalysis (Eichacker et al. 2002). Criticism has been presented especially concerning the two beneficial studies and their control groups, in which the ventilatory strategy was not based on the best practise at the time. Tidal volumes, as well as inspiratory pressures, were higher than used routinely and showed significant increase after the randomisation of the study. Thus, the meta-analysis presented that the positive results of two beneficial studies may have rather been a result of the injurious ventilatory strategy in the control groups rather than better treatment in the low tidal volume groups (Eichacker et al. 2002). The effect of large tidal volumes have, however, been shown to be clearly deleterious (Amato et al. 1998, ARDSNet 2000). Recommendations to use low tidal volumes in septic ALI/ARDS patients have been presented (Dellinger et al. 2008), mainly based on the largest multicentre study. The precise size of the tidal volume causing the least injury still remains open.

When ARDSNet researchers tested several lung-injury biomarkers (*vide supra*), plasma RAGE, a marker of epithelial injury, was shown to decrease significantly more in the low tidal volume group. This suggests that the better outcomes achieved with a lower tidal volume strategy, may be due to a lesser amount of epithelial injury (Calfee et al. 2008). The same kind of effect was seen in IL-6 levels, which decrease significantly in both groups from baseline to day 3, but lowered even more in the lower tidal volume group (Parsons et al. 2005a).

Given these observations in ALI and ARDS patients, the field of interest has extended to mechanically ventilated patients who present risk factors for ALI at baseline, but no pre-existing condition. In a retrospective analysis of 332 mechanically ventilated patients without ALI at baseline, tidal volume per PBW was found to be an independent predictor for the development of ALI (Gajic et al. 2004). Later, an observational cohort study comparing two subsequent groups of mechanically ventilated patients without ALI at baseline, showed a significant reduction in tidal volumes as well as in the incidence of ALI (Yilmaz et al. 2007). An intervention in this study, carried out between the patient cohorts, was an introduction of protocol to limit tidal volumes and restrict transfusion policy. The magnitude of the decrease in ALI incidence over time (from 28% in 2001 to 10% in 2005) as well as in tidal volumes (from 10.6 to 7.7. ml/kg PBW) is impressive, especially regarding the simplicity of the intervention. The study setting with historical controls, however, may confuse the results. In a more recent report, the results of earlier studies were confirmed in a prospective, randomized setting evaluating the effect of tidal volume on ALI development in 150 patients (Determann et al. 2010). ALI incidence was 13.5% in a conventional tidal volume group (10 ml/kg PBW) versus 2.6 % in a low tidal volume group (6 ml/kg PBW), and the study was stopped prematurely for safety reasons. In both groups, plasma IL-6 levels decreased over time, but the decrease was more pronounced in the low tidal volume group. This result suggests that ventilation with lower tidal volumes results in a lower level of systemic inflammation.

#### 2.2.3. EPITHELIAL INJURY

Surfactant proteins A (SP-A) and D (SP-D) are glycoproteins that belong to a family of collectins. They are secreted by alveolar epithelial type II cells. SP-A is the most abundant protein in surfactant, acting in the regulation of surfactant homeostasis and in host defence (Levine AM 1998, Wright JR 1993). It has been shown to inhibit the apoptosis of alveolar epithelial type II cells in vitro (White et al. 2001), and SP-A concentrations have been reported to decrease in a BAL fluid of early ARDS patients (Greene et al. 1999). SP-D, on the other hand, has an effect on surfactant phospholipid homeostasis (Botas et al. 1998), and plays an important role in the regulation of lung inflammation (Greene et al. 1999) and innate immunity in the lung (Wright 1997). Both surfactant proteins have been evaluated in 38 invasively ventilated patients, and results suggested that low oedema fluid levels of SP-A and high plasma levels of SP-D may be associated with worse outcome (Cheng et al. 2003). Later, these proteins were studied in patients from a large multicentre study, which was originally designed to compare two ventilatory strategies (ARDSNet 2000). SP-A did not show association with any clinical outcome measure (Eisner et al. 2003). High plasma SP-D levels, on the contrary, were associated with increased mortality and morbidity, and showed attenuation with low tidal volume strategy.

Clara cell secretory protein 16 (CC16) is a major protein secreted by Clara cells, multifunctional epithelial cells that act in the repair process of damaged alveolar epithelium (Broeckaert et al. 2000). CC16 levels have been shown to increase after five hours of mechanical ventilation for elective surgery but tidal volume did not affect its levels (Determann et al. 2008). In a small multicentre study, serum CC16 levels were associated with an increased risk of death at 28 days, however the AUC for the prediction of death was low at 0.68 (Lesur et al. 2006).

Receptor for advanced glycation end-products (RAGE) is a multi-ligand receptor expressed mainly by lung epithelial type I cells (Uchida et al. 2006). Cells from other organs, including nervous system and vascular endothelium, can also produce RAGE, but it is most abundant in lung (Brett et al. 1993). In immunoelectron microscopy, RAGE has shown to be situated in the basal membrane of type I epithelial cells in rat lungs (Shirasawa et al. 2004). Its ligands include, among others, cytokine-like mediators like S100/calgranulins, and high-mobility group box-1, a nuclear protein related to cell necrosis. Ligand binding to RAGE leads to the activation of proinflammatory pathways (mediated by nuclear factor- $\kappa$ B), suggesting that it plays a potential role in systemic inflammation (Chavakis et al. 2004). Indeed, RAGE knockout mice have been shown to be able to resist experimental septic shock (Liliensiek et al. 2004). In addition, an association with chronic inflammatory stages, including diabetic complications and amyloidosis, has been detected (Schmidt et al. 2001). RAGE has been reported to consist of three domains, including a soluble form of RAGE (sRAGE) that represents the

extracellular domain (Uchida et al. 2006). It is thought to emerge into alveolar oedema fluid and plasma by metalloproteinase cleavage (Zhang et al. 2008) or it may represent endogenously secreted RAGE variants (Cheng et al. 2005). In patients with ALI, high levels of sRAGE has been detected in pulmonary oedema fluid and plasma (Uchida et al. 2006). In contrast, in mechanically ventilated hydrostatic pulmonary oedema patients, RAGE was detected in oedema fluid, although at lower levels than in ALI patients, but not in plasma. This finding strengthened the hypothesis that lungs would be a predominant source of sRAGE and suggested that mechanical ventilation may cause slightly increased sRAGE levels in hydrostatic pulmonary oedema patients. In a multicentre study that evaluated sRAGE in 676 ALI/ARDS patients, increased levels associated strongly with a clinical severity of lung injury (Calfee et al. 2008). In the same study, baseline plasma sRAGE was an independent predictor of 180 day mortality, but only in the group of 12 ml/kg tidal volume. These results have provided clinical evidence for epithelial injury in the pathophysiology of ALI, as well as the possible mechanism by which the use of low tidal volumes may affect the outcome. In a more recent study, levels of sRAGE were significantly higher in ALI/ARDS patients with or without severe sepsis or septic shock when compared to septic patients without ALI/ARDS, which reinforces even further the likely role of lungs as a primary source of sRAGE (Jabaudon et al. 2011)

#### 2.2.4. ENDOTHELIAL INJURY

Von Willebrand factor (vWf) is a large multimeric protein that is secreted by endothelial cells and to a smaller extent by platelets. It acts in primary hemostasis by bridging platelets to endothelium, and as a carrier protein for factor VIII. Elevated levels have been found in patients with ARF caused by different reasons (Carvalho et al. 1982). VWf levels 450% or greater have been shown to be associated to the development of ALI in patients with non-pulmonary sepsis (Rubin et al. 1990). Nonetheless, contradictory results regarding the prognostic property of increased vWf levels have been published (Moss et al. 1995). Differences in the definitions of ALI and ARDS, as well as in patient material may explain this. More recently, increased levels of vWf have shown to be a potential prognostic biomarker of endothelial injury (Ware et al. 2001a), which was later confirmed in a large multicentre study (Ware et al. 2004). The ventilatory strategy, thus low tidal volume (6 ml/kg) as compared to conventional tidal volume (12 ml/kg), did not affect vWf levels, suggesting that the effect of the lung protective ventilatory strategy is primarily based on the attenuation of the epithelial injury. The exact source of vWf in ALI remains unclear. Pulmonary endothelium seems the most obvious place of increased release, but systemic endothelium has also been proposed. This hypothesis offers one potential explanation for a pathway of indirect pulmonary injury. In healthy volunteers, infusion of tumor necrosis factor- $\alpha$  increased the vWf concentrations and simultaneously reduced the endothelial staining in skin biopsy, suggesting release of vWf from systemic endothelium (McGill et al. 1998).

Intercellular adhesion molecule-1 (ICAM-1) is present in endothelial cells and leukocytes and is considered to be a marker of both endothelial and epithelial injury (Conner et al. 1999). The production of ICAM-1 is induced by several cytokines, including IL-1 and TNF-a, and can be suppressed by glucocorticoids (van de Stolpe et al. 1996). During inflammation and injury, it mediates leukocyte migration through endothelium (Hordijk 2006). The exact role of ICAM-1 in the epithelium is not clear, but it has been shown to accelerate the inflammatory reaction in injury by activating alveolar macrophages (Schmal et al. 1998). In contrast, inhibition of lymphocyte adhesion by soluble ICAM-1 has also been noticed, suggesting the possibility of anti-inflammatory activity in some circumstances (Shingu et al. 1994). In a single centre study, plasma ICAM-1 levels were found to be higher in ALI patients than in the control group of hydrostatic pulmonary oedema patients (Calfee et al. 2009). Although a large multicentre study has shown the plasma levels to be predictors of some outcome parameters (ventilator-free days, organ-failure free days), its value as a mortality predictor seems more uncertain (Calfee et al. 2009). In an earlier study, ICAM-1 was unable to predict either the development of ARDS or the mortality, but the patient number of this study was small for predictive purposes (Agouridakis et al. 2002).

## 2.2.5. SYSTEMIC INFLAMMATION

Cytokines are an essential part of host defense mechanisms, acting in both innate and adaptive immunity. In critically ill patients, TNF-α and interleukin (IL)-1 are the main proinflammatory cytokines, while IL-6 has anti- and proinflammatory actions, and IL-10 is solely anti-inflammatory (Oberholzer et al. 2000). Cytokines are secreted by mononuclear cells, mainly monocytes and macrophages, in response to microbial antigens and inflammation. Proinflammatory cytokines activate further macrophages and neutrophils, induce endothelial cell production of adhesion proteins (including ICAM-1), mediate neutrophil migration, and stimulate the synthesis of acute phase proteins (Riedemann et al. 2003). IL-10 downregulates many aspects in acute inflammatory process, including proinflammatory cytokine production of activated neutrophils and macrophages (Opal et al. 2000).

Increased levels of cytokines have been detected in patients with ARDS and persistently increased levels in plasma (Meduri et al. 1995) and BAL (Goodman et al. 1996) have been shown to associate with poor outcome. In a multicentre trial, levels of IL-6, IL-8 (another proinflammatory interleukin), and IL-10 were all significantly higher in non-survivors than survivors at baseline and at day 3 (Parsons et al. 2005a). The lung protective ventilation strategy was associated with a greater decrease in IL-6 and IL-8 concentrations, suggesting that injurious ventilation sustains the inflammatory reaction in lungs. More recently, in a small prospective study where several biomarkers were tested in 50 ALI patients, levels of IL-8, but not IL-6, differed between survivors and non-survivors (McClintock et al. 2008). These somewhat conflicting results are most probably due to inadequate sample size in the latter study.

TNF- $\alpha$  is known to be an important mediator of ALI (Parsons et al. 1992, Tracey et al. 1988). In an animal study, a recombinant human soluble TNF receptor (TNFR) fusion protein, which is able to bind to  $TNF-\alpha$ , thus inhibit its activity, attenuated the development of ALI (Wolthuis et al. 2009). Clinical studies have not, however, been able to confirm the association with TNF- $\alpha$  levels and clinical outcome in ALI patients or patients with risk factors for ALI (Park et al. 2001, Pittet et al. 1997). It has been suggested that this may be due to soluble TNF receptors I and II (sTNFRI and II). TNFRI and II are released widely from variety of cells, but epithelial cells mainly express TNFRI. Inflammatory stimuli are reported to cause shedding of these receptors from cell surfaces (Mackay et al. 1993)F. sTNFRs are able to bind TNF and thus, by competing with the cell surface receptors, downregulate TNF activity. Elevated levels of sTNFRs have been reported after trauma (Hensler 2002) and coronary bypass operation (ElBarbary MKKS 2002). Based on these findings, Parsons and colleagues evaluated the levels of TNFRI and II in ALI patients first in a single centre study and later in a multicentre trial (Parsons et al. 2005b). In a single centre study, levels of sTNFRI and II in patients with risk factors for ALI were not able to predict the development of ALI. In a multicentre trial of 562 ALI/ ARDS patients randomized to 6 ml/kg versus 12 ml/kg ventilatory strategy, sTNFRI and II were independent predictors of mortality. sTNFRI, but not sTNFRII, was attenuated by the 6 ml/kg ventilation strategy. Additionally, sTNFRI was reported to be released from alveolar epithelial cells in an experimental substudy, findings supporting the epithelial origin of sTNFRI. It is of interest to note that TNF-α levels, measured from a subgroup of 377 patients, were detectable in only 34 (9%) patients and were comparable in survivors and non-survivors. These results suggest that sTNFRs are markers of inflammation, and perhaps also of epithelial injury in ALI. Additionally, TNF- $\alpha$  does not appear to be an appropriate biomarker.

#### 2.2.6. COAGULATION

Inflammation and coagulation cascades co-operate closely (Levi et al. 1999). The early mediators of the inflammatory process,  $TNF-\alpha$ , IL-1 and IL-6, are known to

activate coagulation via the tissue factor (TF) pathway (or extrinsic pathway), and also to stimulate the release of plasminogen activator inhibitors (PAI), resulting in decreased fibrinolysis. The activation of coagulation proceeds primarily via an extrinsic pathway where TF binds to factor VII (fVII) in sepsis (Biemond et al. 1995), and in ARDS and ventilator associated pneumonia (Idell et al. 1987a, Schultz et al. 2004). The activated TF/fVIIa complex further activates fX to fXa leading to alveolar thrombin, and eventually to fibrin formation.

In addition to its hemostatic effect, thrombin has a key role in pulmonary fibroproliferation, which is mediated by protease activated receptor -1 (PAR-1), a major thrombin receptor (Howell et al. 2002). The expression of PAR-1 on cell surfaces can be upregulated by proinflammatory and profibrotic mediators (Sokolova et al. 2007), and it is proposed to play a central role in coordinating the interactions between coagulation, inflammation, and fibrosis in lung injury (Chambers 2008). In addition to thrombin, fXa is also able to activate PAR-1 and induce fibrotic responses in the mouse lung (Blanc-Brude et al. 2005, Scotton et al. 2009). In an animal study, PAR-1-deficient mice were protected against pulmonary fibrosis (Howell et al. 2005). The protective action of PAR-1 deficiency was accompanied by the reduction of proinflammatory and profibrotic mediators, TGF- $\beta$ 1 among others, known to be induced by PAR-1. In addition, direct inhibition of thrombin has been shown to reduce lung collagen accumulation in an experimental study (Howell et al. 2001). Indeed, reports of the actions of PAR-1 have been limited to experimental settings.

The natural inhibitor of coagulation, namely activated protein C (APC) has an essential role in the regulation of coagulation. Its role in human sepsis has been studied extensively, and a growing body of evidence suggests that it is also involved in ALI. APC has antithrombotic, profibrinolytic, and anti-inflammatory properties. Its concentrations in plasma and BAL fluid were reported to be significantly lower than normal in 45 patients with ALI or ARDS, and lower levels have been associated with increased hospital mortality, independent of sepsis (Ware et al. 2003). Later, the results were confirmed in a multicentre study of 779 patients that showed protein C to be an independent predictor of hospital mortality (Ware et al. 2007). Additionally, plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 (PAI-1) concentrations were evaluated as markers of fibrinolysis, which was noticed to decrease. PAI-1 also was an independent predictor of death, but more importantly, a synergistic interaction between protein C and PAI-1 was observed, where low protein C and high PAI-1 levels coincided. The data suggests that when either fibrinolysis or coagulation impairment exists, the other is able to compensate partly, the situation being contrary if both are impaired. More recently, in another study with 50 patients, levels of other markers of inflammation, coagulation, and fibrinolysis were also evaluated in addition to protein C. All markers (IL-8, sICAM-1, protein C, thrombomodulin, and PAI-1) except IL-6, differed significantly between survivors and non-survivors, confirming the broad abnormalities in these pathways in ALI (McClintock et al. 2008).

A decade ago, a multicentre RCT evaluating recombinant human APC versus placebo in severe sepsis, showed a significant reduction in overall mortality (Bernard et al. 2001). Additionally, those patients with respiratory dysfunction and treated with APC, recovered faster. Thus far, APC has remained the only specific treatment in severe sepsis. However, the manufacturer has just withdrawn the medicine from the worldwide market after the preliminary results of a large multicentre study which did not show any difference in the mortality between APC and placebo in septic shock patients (Eli Lilly, press release, October 2011). Based on earlier findings and the pathophysiological rationale, a multicentre phase II study evaluating APC and placebo in non-septic ALI patients was performed; however, the study was stopped early because of no effect in the treatment group (Liu et al. 2008).

PAI-1 inhibits plasminogen activator, the action leading to decreased fibrinolysis. PAI-1 release is increased by proinflammatory mediators, TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-1. Elevated levels of PAI-1 in plasma and especially in BAL fluid has been reported in patients with ALI in comparison to hydrostatic pulmonary oedema, suggesting inhibition of fibrinolytic activity in ALI (Prabhakaran et al. 2003). The levels of plasma PAI-1 were significantly higher in non-survivors than survivors, a result that was later confirmed in a multicentre study, which showed PAI-1 to independently predict mortality (Ware et al. 2007), as mentioned earlier.

Nitric oxide (NO) is a marker of oxidative injury (Baylis et al. 1998). It reacts with superoxide ion and forms peroxynitrite, a highly reactive intermediate. It nitrates and oxidizes and, thus, inactivates proteins such as SP-A, and inhibits their functions (Ehrhart et al. 2000). Due to the short half life of peroxynitrite, nitric oxide species (NO, nitrate and nitrite) are used to measure its activity. Studies on animal lung injury have suggested that in lung injury, BAL fluid levels of nitric oxide species are higher than in controls (Enkhbaatar et al. 2003, Frank et al. 2003). A single center clinical study confirmed these results in humans, and also suggested that the higher NO levels in BAL fluid associate with mortality (Sittipunt et al. 2001). In a multicentre study, however, the results were contrary, where higher levels of urine NO were associated with better outcome by means of reduced mortality and fewer days in a ventilator and with organ failure (McClintock et al. 2007). The role of NO as a biomarker of ALI, thus, remains uncertain, and requires further studies.

Desmosine, a breakdown product of elastin, has been studied in different chronic pulmonary diseases, including COPD, cystic fibrosis, and tobacco use (Bode et al. 2000, Cocci et al. 2002). Desmosine is excreted to urine, and is a selective marker of elastin breakdown. Urine desmosine has shown promise as a marker of mortality in a multicentre study, but ventilatory strategy did not associate with desmosine levels (McClintock et al. 2006). The prognostic role of urine desmosine in ALI remains unconfirmed.

## 2.2.7. APOPTOSIS

Apoptosis plays an important role in the maintenance of normal tissue structure. Apoptosis, a controlled cell death, can be activated in several ways, as genetic "programmed cell death", via an external pathway, and through receptor-ligand interactions (Perl et al. 2005a). As a result of cell death, DNA is fragmented and can be found in the circulation. Concerning the pathogenesis of ALI, apoptosis may play role at several stages.

The apoptotic death of alveolar epithelial cells has been suggested to play a major role in the development of ALI (Matute-Bello et al. 2001a, Matute-Bello et al. 2001b). The mechanisms of epithelial cell apoptosis are not well understood, but the role of an "extrinsic" or death receptor pathway is supported by several studies (Matute-Bello et al. 1999, Perl et al. 2005b). This pathway is mediated by the cell surface receptor Fas (also known as CD95) and its natural ligand, Fas-ligand, and can be initiated in response to different soluble mediators. The expression of Fas-receptor on the surfaces of alveolar cells is increased by the stimulation of inflammatory mediators (Kitamura et al. 2001). Fas-ligand can exist in soluble and membrane bound form, and both are able to activate Fas-receptor and start the apoptotic pathway. In an animal study, rabbits ventilated with high tidal volume, presented increased apoptosis, measured by plasma levels of Fas-ligand (Imai et al. 2003). Caspases, a family of proteolytic enzymes, are thought to have an essential role in intracellular pathways resulting in DNA cleavage as a final step (Perl et al. 2005a). Fas-ligand has shown to be present in a biologically active form in BAL fluid from early ARDS patients, and high concentrations associated with worse outcome (Matute-Bello et al. 1999). Angiotensin (AT) II has been shown to induce epithelial cell apoptosis in vitro via Fas/Fas ligand –pathway (Wang et al. 1999), and increased amounts of ATII have been detected in BAL fluid in ARDS (Idell et al. 1987b).

Neutrophilic apoptosis is another important mechanism by which apoptosis has been shown to be involved with ALI (Figure 1). Neutrophils are important cells in the first line of host defence against pathogens. They migrate through the injured endothelium to the alveolar space, where they secrete proteases, leukotriens, oxidants, and platelet activating factor (PAF), thus, further enhance the inflammatory reaction. After this, neutrophils apoptose and are cleared from the injury site by phagocytotic cells like macrophages. In a rat lung injury model, neutrophil apoptosis has been reported to be inhibited in the early moments after experimental lung injury, however recovery was evident at 24 hours with a clear clinical and histological picture of early resolution of injury (Hussain et al. 1998). Another rat study has shown an enhancement of neutrophil apoptosis to associate with decreased mortality and lung injury (Sookhai et al. 2002). Also in animal studies, the stimulation of neutrophil release from bone marrow with

human granulocyte colony-stimulating factor (G-CSF) (filgrastim) has been shown to worsen lung function in ALI (King et al. 1995) and the outcome in pneumonia (Held et al. 1998). On the contrary, in human studies these detrimental effects of G-CSF have not been observed in patients with community acquired pneumonia (Nelson et al. 1998) or in mechanically ventilated ICU patients (Pettila et al. 2000). Clearance failure of apoptotic neutrophils is associated with increased inflammation and decreased survival in the CD44 deficient mouse model of acute lung injury (Teder et al. 2002). The phagocytic activity of apoptotic neutrophils attenuates the production of proinflammatory cytokines and stimulates the production of antiinflammatory mediators, thus, favouring resolution of inflammation. In contrast, phagocytotic clearance of necrotic cells is related to the release of proinflammatory cytokines and thus, potentially inducing tissue injury (Fadok et al. 1998).

#### 2.2.7.1 Plasma cell-free DNA

The detection of fetal cell-free DNA in maternal blood has been used in the evaluation of prenatal conditions (Wright et al. 2009). It has also been studied widely in different malignancies, but its role in that area remains uncertain (van der Vaart et al. 2010). Studies have also evaluated cell-free DNA in different states of acute illness, including abdominal pain, chest pain, stroke, pancreatitis, trauma, ischemic cardiomyopathy, and resuscitated patients (Arnalich et al. 2010b, Gornik et al. 2009, Lo et al. 2000, Rainer et al. 2008, Rainer et al. 2006, Rainer et al. 2003, Zaravinos et al. 2011). Few studies reporting critically ill patients have been published (Martins et al. 2000, Rhodes et al. 2006, Saukkonen et al. 2008, Saukkonen et al. 2007, Wijeratne et al. 2004). Table 5 summarizes studies, which have evaluated the prognostic value in ICU patients.

The levels of cell-free DNA in plasma can reflect different phenomenon. In ALI, the apoptosis of neutrophils and lung epithelial cells most likely plays an important role, as reviewed above. Cell necrosis and apoptosis are well known origins of cell-free DNA in blood (Jung et al. 2010). In healthy individuals apoptosis is considered a primary mechanism for DNA occurrence in blood (Suzuki et al. 2008). Active release of DNA fragments from living cells has also been described. DNA can be extracted from both serum and plasma, however plasma samples are more reliable because serum samples can contain DNA originating from *in vitro* lysis of leukocytes (Lee et al. 2001).

There is a lack of knowledge regarding the elimination process of cell-free DNA from blood. It is known that a half-life of four to 30 minutes is evident for the clearance of fetal DNA from maternal blood after delivery (Lo et al. 1999). Renal failure does not seem to affect the elimination since no differences were detected

in the concentrations of plasma cell-free DNA between healthy volunteers and patients with chronic renal failure (Garcia Moreira et al. 2006). Decreased activity of deoxyribonuclease as a reason for high cell-free DNA concentration has been reported (Cherepanova et al. 2008), but the activity of plasma nucleases in the elimination process is considered insignificant (Jung et al. 2010).

|                | Number | Patients included                          | best cut-off<br>(GE/ml) | AUC<br>(mortality)              | Sensitivity, specificity for hospital mortality |  |
|----------------|--------|--|-------------------------|---------------------------------|---|--|
| Wijeratne 2004 | 96     | Consecutive<br>patients<br>admitted in ITU | 6100                    | 0.889 (ITU)                     | sensitivity 85%<br>specificity 80%              |  |
| Rhodes 2006    | 52     | Unselected ICU<br>admissions               | 19 000                  | 0.84 (ICU) *<br>0.79 (hospital) | sensitivity 81% *<br>specificity 81% *          |  |
| Saukkonen 2007 | 228    | Unselected ICU<br>admissions               | NA                      | NA                              | NA  |  |
| Saukkonen 2008 | 255    | Severe sepsis or septic shock              | 12 000                  | 0.71 (ICU) *<br>0.61 (hospital) | sensitivity 67% *<br>specificity 67% *          |  |

| Table 5. | Studies e | evaluating | prognostic | value of | plasma | cell-free | DNA | in critical | ly-ill | patients |
|----------|-----------|------------|------------|----------|--------|-----------|-----|-------------|--------|----------|
|----------|-----------|------------|------------|----------|--------|-----------|-----|-------------|--------|----------|

AUC, area under receiver operating curve; GE, genome equivalent; ICU, intensive care unit; ITU, intensive treatment unit; NA, not available

\* sensitivity and specificity for ICU mortality

#### 2.2.8. FIBROGENESIS

The development of lung injury has been previously considered to take place in subsequent steps where the accumulation of collagen starts only after five to seven days. A growing collection of data, however, supports the likelihood that the process of fibrogenesis starts early after the insult (Chesnutt et al. 1997, Entzian et al. 1990, Liebler et al. 1998). Indeed, it has been shown that the collagen messenger RNA expression is upregulated immediately after cardiopulmonary bypass, an insult known to predispose to ARDS (Deheinzelin et al. 1997).

The cells responsible for collagen production are myofibroblasts that arise from the activation of tissue fibroblasts, bone-marrow-derived fibroblasts, and fibroblasts experiencing epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition (Kisseleva et al. 2008). Fibrin is thought to act as a provisional matrix, on which the proliferation and collagen production of myofibroblasts takes place (Pohl et al. 1979). A proinflammatory mediator, TGF- $\beta$ 1, has a major role in the activation of fibroblasts in wound healing
as well as in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis (Scotton et al. 2007, Singer et al. 1999). A latent form of TGF-  $\beta_1$  is known to be activated by numerous stimuli, including metalloproteinases, plasmin, and reactive oxygen species, all acting in the process of acute inflammation (Mu et al. 2002). The role of TGF- $\beta_1$  in ARDS has been reported for the first time in the study of 13 early ARDS patients, whom showed elevated TGF-  $\beta_1$  activity in BAL fluid (Fahy et al. 2003).

#### 2.2.8.1. Markers of collagen metabolism

Collagen types I and III are the dominating proteins of extracellular matrix and are produced in response to tissue injury. The balance of collagen synthesis and degradation is important in order to maintain tissue integrity. In fibrosis, excessive collagen accumulation in tissues leads to organ failure (Adler et al. 1989, Eddy 1995, Weber 1989).

Collagen III, a reticular fibre, is synthesised quickly by young fibroblasts and is common in granulation tissue. The synthesis of collagen I, the most abundant collagen in human body, takes place later in the course of fibrogenesis and its structure is more stable and resistant, confirming the breaking strength of tissue. Endoplasmic reticulum of myofibroblasts synthesises  $\alpha$ -chains, which subsequently combine, in a zipper-like manner, to form a triple helix structure of procollagen molecule. After secretion to the extracellular space, pro-collagen molecules first go through proteolytical cleavage of carboxy(C)- and amino(N)-terminal ends, and then connect with each other to form insoluble collagen fibrils. These fibrils arrange further to form collagen fibres (Myllyharju et al. 2004). C- and N-terminal ends of procollagen, by-products of collagen synthesis, are produced in equimolar amounts to collagen and, thus, reflect the rate of collagen synthesis. Human studies have shown increased serum levels of procollagen III in trauma patients (Waydhas et al. 1993). In ALI and ARDS patients, procollagen accumulation in BAL fluid has been reported, indicating increased collagen synthesis in lungs (Armstrong et al. 1999, Chesnutt et al. 1997, Clark et al. 1995).

Studies on ICTP, the degradation product of collagen type I, cover mainly diseases of skeleton, a main source of collagen breakdown products (Heider et al. 2006). In critically ill patients, elevations of ICTP, has been measured in two studies in patients with severe sepsis (Gaddnas et al. 2009, Wenisch et al. 1996).

Concentrations of all collagen metabolites measured from serum reflect the metabolism of the whole body. Studies have shown that in lungs (Marshall et al. 2000) increased collagen synthesis is obvious, but for example in undamaged skin of septic patients, the synthesis is depressed (Gaddnas et al. 2010).

### 2.2.9. RESOLUTION

Apoptosis of myofibroblasts responsible for producing collagens, is a key step in cessation of the repair process (Weber 1997). Following apoptosis of myofibroblasts, and the subsequent reduction in TGF- $\beta$ 1 secretion, the process of repair abates (Hussain et al. 1998).

The recovery of alveolar fluid clearance has been suggested to have a major role in the resolution of ALI (Ware et al. 2001b). Traditionally, alveolar epithelial type II cells have been considered to be responsible for the active Na<sup>+</sup> and Cl<sup>-</sup>-ion transport, which is followed by inactive water shift through type I epithelial cells. Recently, epithelial type I cells have been shown to play a major role in ion transport and its following fluid shift (Johnson et al. 2006). The role of special water channels, "aquaporins", in the alveolar fluid clearance has been challenged (Verkman 2007). β-adrenergic agonists are known to stimulate sodium transport and, thus, increase alveolar fluid clearance, an observation from isolated human lung (Sakuma et al. 1994) and from an animal study (McAuley et al. 2004). More recently, the effect of intravenous infusion of salbutamol has been studied in a single centre RCT including 40 patients with ALI/ARDS. Patients in the salbutamol group had significantly lower lung water and plateau pressure at day seven when compared to the placebo group (Perkins et al. 2006). In contrast, amiloride and propranolol decrease sodium transport.

Type II alveolar epithelial cells (AEC) are responsible for the production of surfactant, and act in the first line of host defence, but are essential also in the repair process. Type II AECs are mesenchymal cells with a pluripotent character, and they are able to differentiate to type I epithelial cells and restore the damaged epithelium (Mason 2006). The apoptosis is thought to play a role, in addition to myofibroblasts, in the clearance of neutrophils and the excess type II AECs.

In conclusion, many biomarkers have shown distinct abnormalities in patients with ALI, but none studied so far can be considered useful in clinical practise. The knowledge of the pathophysiological pathways, however, has increased enormously, and will hopefully yield new treatments for ALI in the future.

## 2.3. MEASURING OUTCOME

Outcome can be measured with multiple parameters. Short-term outcome is mandatory for long-term outcome, but long-term outcome is critically important. ICU and hospital mortalities are commonly used as short-term outcome parameters, but recently longer periods of survival have been used increasingly as outcome measures (Bellomo et al. 2009, Finfer et al. 2009). Even five year survival rates after ARF have been reported (Garland et al. 2004). The need for mechanical ventilation has been predicted to increase with the ageing population (Needham et al. 2005). Along with the increased costs of intensive care, associated with mechanical ventilation, the importance of studies of long-term outcome is highlighted. Reporting health related quality of life after critical illness has gained increasing interest. Few studies reporting quality adjusted life years, or cost-effectiveness, have been published (Angus et al. 2001, Linko et al. 2010). Similar studies are warranted, since long-term morbidity and disability after ARDS has been reported (Herridge et al. 2003).

Physiological parameters are frequently used in clinical studies, but they have proven to be poor surrogates as long-term outcome predictors in ALI. In a large multicentre study evaluating the use of inhaled nitric oxide, improved oxygenation was not translated to better outcome (Lundin et al. 1999). Similar observations of improved oxygenation without outcome benefit include studies on exogenous surfactant (Spragg et al. 2004) and prone position (Gattinoni et al. 2001). In contrast, in the ARDSNet study of tidal volumes, worse oxygenation and higher carbondioxide partial pressure was seen in the acute stage of treatment, but finally, all outcome parameters were significantly better in the group of lower tidal volume (6 ml/kg) in comparison with traditional tidal volume (12 ml/kg) (ARDSNet 2000).

# **3 AIMS OF THE STUDY**

The objective of this study was to evaluate the incidence, the treatment, and the outcome of acute respiratory failure in Finland, with special interest in the use of biomarkers in the prediction of outcome and the multi organ dysfunction. The aims in detail were as follows:

1. To evaluate the incidence, the treatment, and the outcome of acute respiratory failure (ARF) in patients who were treated in Finnish intensive care units (I).

2. To investigate the levels of aminoterminal pro-brain natriuretic peptide (NT-pro-BNP) (II) and plasma cell-free DNA (III) in ARF patients, with special interest in their prognostic value.

3. To study the collagen synthesis and degradation and their association with multiple organ dysfunction in ARF patients with prolonged hospital stay. (IV)

## **4 PATIENTS AND METHODS**

## 4.1. PATIENTS

This study consists of 958 adult patients in 25 ICUs who were treated with either invasive or non-invasive ventilatory support for at least six hours. All 958 patients took part in Study I. In studies II-IV patients with laboratory samples drawn for analysis of NT-pro-BNP (Study II), plasma cell-free DNA (Study III), and markers of collagen synthesis and degradation (Study IV) were evaluated. Patients included in studies I-IV are presented in Figure 2. The characteristics of patients included in Studies I-IV are presented in Table 6.



Figure 2. Patients included in studies I-IV

|  | Study I         | Study II       | Study III       | Study IV        |
|--|-----------------|----------------|-----------------|-----------------|
| Patient number   | 958             | 602            | 580             | 68              |
| Age  | 63 (51 - 74)    | 64 (53 - 75)   | 65 (53 - 75)    | 60 (50 - 70)    |
| Gender, male (%)   | 637 (67)        | 398 (66)       | 382 (66)        | 50 (74)         |
| Emergency  | 824 (86)        | 502 (83)       | 481 (83)        | 63 (93)         |
| Operative  | 375 (39)        | 232 (39)       | 229 (40)        | 18 (27)         |
| APACHE II  | 23 (17 - 29)    | 23 (17 - 30)   | 23 (17 - 30)    | 23 (18 - 29)    |
| SAPS II  | 43 (31 - 55)    | 42 (29 - 55)   | 42 (30 - 55)    | 44 (34 - 54)    |
| SOFA at 24 h   | 8 (6 - 10)      | 8 (5 - 10)     | 8 (5 - 10)      | 9 (5 - 10)      |
| Worst PaO <sub>2</sub> /FiO <sub>2</sub><br>(first 3 days), mmHg | 171 (118 - 234) | 176 (123 -236) | 176 (124 - 236) | 150 (110 - 209) |
| Ventilatory support time, days                                   | 2 (1 - 4)       | 2 (1 - 4)      | 2 (1 - 4)       | 8 (4 - 17)      |
| ICU length of stay, days   | 3 (2 - 7)       | 3 (2 - 7)      | 3 (2 - 7)       | 11 (6 - 23)     |
| Hospital length of stay, day                                     | 11 (6 - 21)     | 12 (6 - 21)    | 12 (6 - 21)     | 38 (26 - 52)    |
| ICU mortality, n (%)   | 120 (13)        | 63 (11)        | 61 (11)         | 1 (2)           |
| Hospital mortality, n (%)  | 230 (24)        | 138 (23)       | 134 (23)        | 6 (9)           |
| 90-day mortality, n (%)  | 295 (31)        | 174 (29)       | 169 (29)        | 8 (12)          |

Table 6. Characteristics of patients included in studies I-IV.

Data are presented as median with interquartile range (IQR) or number and percentage (%).

## 4.2. STUDY DESIGNS

This study was a prospective cohort study conducted in Finnish intensive care units in 2007. All 27 ICUs were invited to participate in the study and 25 units consented. During an eight week period from April 16<sup>th</sup> to June 10<sup>th</sup>, all consecutive adult ( $\geq$ 16 years) patients admitted to participating ICUs were screened for acute respiratory failure. Blood samples at four time points, at study admission (day 0) and at days 2, 7, and 21, were drawn if the patient was still hospitalised. The ethical committee of the Surgical Department in Helsinki University Central Hospital approved the study. Written informed consent was not required for data registration, but only for blood sampling.

## Study I

Study I is a description of the whole cohort. All periods of respiratory support were screened and the reason for support lasting less than six hours was recorded. The exclusion criteria were being aged under 16 years and the need for permanent ventilatory assistance. The patients' social security number was used for mortality

assessment and in the combining of the data of the related periods in the separate ICUs. Only the first period of ARF was counted for incidence calculations. The adult population ( $\geq$ 16 years) count in Finland at the end of year 2006 was obtained from Statistics Finland (http://www.stat.fi). The adult population of hospital districts of two ICUs not participating in the study was attained from the Association of Finnish Local and Regional Authorities (http://kunnat.net) and subtracted. In the data processing and analysis, a unique ID number was used.

### Study II

Study II is a substudy of study I. The primary aim was to evaluate the prognostic value of NT-pro-BNP according to 90-day mortality in an unselected cohort of acute respiratory failure patients. Samples were analysed in 602 patients at baseline (day 0) and in 505 patients on day 2.

## Study III

In study III, also a substudy of study I, the levels of plasma cell-free DNA and their potential in the prediction of outcome in ARF patients were investigated. Plasma samples were drawn from 580 patients at baseline (day 0) and in 489 patients on day 2.

## Study IV

In study IV, we aimed to evaluate the change in the markers of collagen metabolism over time. Thus, only patients with serial blood samples from at least three time points (on days 0 and/or 2, 7 and 21) were included in this study. The association of collagen metabolism and multi organ dysfunction was also investigated. Patients were divided into groups according to the presence of MOD during the first week. A patient was defined to have MOD if the organ specific SOFA score of at least two organs was 3 or 4 on at least one day (Vincent et al. 2002). PINP and PIIINP were analysed as markers of collagen synthesis. ICTP was analysed as a marker of collagen I degradation. The ratio of PIIINP and PINP (PIIINP/PINP) was used to describe the relationship of the synthesis of two collagens with different temporal evolution. The ratio of PINP and ICTP (PINP/ICTP) was used to describe the relationship of the synthesis and degradation.

## 4.3. CLINICAL DATA

All 25 participating ICUs belonged to the Finnish Intensive Care Quality Consortium (Intensium<sup>®</sup>), which collects intensive-care data for benchmarking purposes. Data collection was accomplished with the clinical report form (CRF), which acted as a supplement to the routine consortium dataset. The routine consortium dataset includes the reason for ICU admission, outcome measures, and severity scorings [Acute Physiology and Chronic Health evaluation (APACHE) II (Knaus et al. 1985), Simplified Acute Physiology Score (SAPS) II (Le Gall et al. 1993) and Sequential Organ Failure Assessment (SOFA) score (Vincent et al. 1996)]. The CRF data included patient demographics, underlying risk factors for ARF, physiological and ventilatory data, and medications. The survival data were obtained from Statistics Finland (www.stat.fi). The CRF data were collected at study admission, once daily during the intensive care, and at discharge from the ICU. An internet-based interface was utilized to enter the routinely-collected data, and the CRF data was attached as an additional file. All of the data was stored in the ICU quality database.

## 4.4. MEASUREMENTS OF BIOMARKERS

After written consent from the patient or the next of kin, blood samples were drawn from an arterial line. A 10 ml plasma sample collected to a heparin tube, in addition to a 10 ml serum sample collected to a regular tube, was obtained at days 0 (study admission), 2, 7, and 21, if patient was still hospitalised. Samples were centrifuged 3100 rpm ( $\sim$  1500 *g*) for 15 minutes as soon as possible, after which plasma and serum were stored in each hospital at -20 °C or lower. After the study end, all samples were collected to Helsinki University Central Hospital and stored at -80 °C before subsequent analyses.

## 4.4.1 NT-PRO-BNP

Plasma NT-pro-BNP concentrations were determined after the first thaw using a commercial immunoassay (Elecsys proBNP, Roche Diagnostics, Mannheim, Germany) on an Elecsys 2010 automatic analyzer (Roche Diagnostics, Mannheim, Germany). Two-fold dilution was accomplished if the result was above upper range (35 000 pg/ml). If the result was above 70 000 pg/ml, the further dilution was abandoned due to larger deviations in values after dilution and minor information achieved. All laboratory analyses were performed in a single accredited laboratory (Helsinki University Central Hospital Laboratory, HUSLAB).

### 4.4.2 PLASMA CELL-FREE DNA

The extraction of DNA and the quantification of plasma cell-free DNA was performed according to a method described earlier (Saukkonen et al. 2008, Saukkonen et al. 2007). Plasma samples were first centrifuged at 16 000 g for 10 min to remove any residual cells (Swinkels et al. 2003). DNA was extracted using the QIAamp DNA Blood Mini Kit (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany) according to the "blood and body fluid protocol". The measurement of plasma cell-free DNA was accomplished by real-time quantitative PCR assay for the  $\beta$ -globin gene. A 10-fold serial dilution of human genomic DNA (Roche, Mannheim, Germany) was used as a standard curve in the PCR assay. Results are expressed as genome equivalents (GE)/ml; 1 GE equals 6.6 picograms of DNA.

### 4.4.3 MARKERS OF COLLAGEN METABOLISM

Analyses of serum PINP, PIIINP, and ICTP were achieved by radioimmunological assays (Orion Diagnostica, Espoo, Finland). Reference values for PIIINP are 1.7-4.2  $\mu$ g/L, for PINP 19 - 84  $\mu$ g/L (women) and 20 - 76  $\mu$ g/L (male), and for ICTP 1.6 - 4.6  $\mu$ g/L (Risteli et al. 2002). For serum intact PINP assay, the inter- and intraassay coefficients of variation (CV) were between 3.1 and 9.3% for values within the reference intervals (Melkko et al. 1996). For serum PIIINP assay, inter- and intra-assay CVs were from 3.0 to 7.2% for values ranging from 2.7 to 12.2  $\mu$ g/L. The CVs of the ICTP method ranged from 3 to 8% for a wide range of concentrations (Risteli et al. 1993)

## 4.5. DISEASE SEVERITY SCORINGS AND DEFINITIONS

The severity of disease at baseline was assessed by APACHE II (Knaus et al. 1985) and SAPS II (Le Gall et al. 1993) scores, which were calculated after 24 hours in the ICU. Sequential organ failure assessment (SOFA) score was calculated daily to define organ dysfunctions (Vincent et al. 1996). Multiple organ dysfunction (MOD) was defined as a SOFA score of 3-4 for at least two organs at the same time (Vincent et al. 2002) (IV). Acute lung injury (ALI) and acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS) were defined according to AECC consensus criteria (Bernard et al. 1994). The infection status was defined according to APACHE III, ICD-10 diagnoses, and underlying risk factors (pneumonia or sepsis during preceding 48 hours) (III).

## 4.6. OUTCOME

The mortality at 90-days was reported as long-term outcome measure (I-III). As short-term outcome parameters, ICU and hospital mortalities were reported (I-IV).

## 4.7. STATISTICAL METHODS

**Data** are presented in absolute numbers and percentages, in medians with interquartile ranges (25<sup>th</sup> and 75<sup>th</sup> percentiles, IQR), or means and standards deviations (SD) as appropriate.

**Statistical significance**. A p-value < 0.05 was considered significant in all analysis (I-IV). An exception for this is where the plasma cell-free DNA levels were compared between different strata of oxygenation. In this circumstance, Kruskal-Wallis test was used, and Mann-Whitney test in a post-hoc analysis, where p< 0.01 was considered significant due to multiple comparisons (III).

**Fisher's exact test** was used for comparisons of categorical data between groups (I, IV)

**Kaplan-Meier survival curves** of 90-day mortality were constructed according to quartiles of baseline NT-pro-BNP (II) and the best cut-off point of baseline plasma cell-free DNA (III). **Log rank test** was used for comparisons of different strata.

**Kruskal-Wallis test** was used for comparisons of multiple groups of continuous data (II-III)

**Linear mixed model approach** was used for the analyses of repeated measurements of fibrosis markers (IV).

**Multivariate logistic regression analysis** was used to evaluate the independent effect of variables on outcome (I-III).

**Mann-Whitney U-test** was used in the comparisons of continuous data between independent groups. It was used to compare demographic data (I-IV) and biomarker data (II and III).

**Pearson's \chi^2- test** was used in the comparisons of categorical data (IV).

**Receiver operating characteristics (ROC)** curve analysis was used to evaluate the prognostic value NT-pro-BNP and plasma cell-free DNA. The best cut-off values were identified by Youden method (Youden 1950), and the sensitivity, specificity, positive likelihood ratio (II and III), and positive and negative predictive values (II) for baseline NT-pro-BNP and cell-free DNA were calculated for it.

**The area under ROC curve (AUC)** was calculated with 95% confidential intervals (II, III).

**Student's t-test** was used for the comparisons of normally distributed continuous variables (IV).

## **5 RESULTS**

## 5.1. THE INCIDENCE OF ARF, ALI AND ARDS IN FINLAND

During an eight week study period, 2670 patients were admitted to ICUs participating the study, and ventilatory support was accomplished in 1319 (49.4%) of admissions. In 273 (20.7%) of ventilatory support periods, treatment continued for less than six hours. After exclusion of these short treatment periods, multiple admissions, foreign citizens, and periods with incomplete data, there were 958 patients, who were treated for more than six hours with either invasive or non-invasive ventilatory support. The incidence of ARF, estimated from the incidence in the study period, was 149.5 / 100 000 inhabitants per one year. The incidence of ARF patients with ventilatory support for more than 24 hours was 102.7 / 100 000 per year. Of 958 patients, all criteria of ALI were fulfilled in 68 patients and those of ARDS in 32 patients. The incidence of ALI and ARDS defined by AECC criteria were 10.6 and 5.0 / 100 000 per year.

## 5.2. VENTILATORY TREATMENT

The majority of patients (775 of 958, 81%) were invasively ventilated from the start. During the treatment, 78 more patients were intubated, and 105 (11%) were treated only with non-invasive methods. At baseline, pressure controlled modes were used in 43% and volume controlled in 47% of cases. Modes allowing spontaneous triggering were used in 81%, while entirely controlled modes only in 9%.

The median (IQR) tidal volume at baseline was 7.4 (6.2 – 8.7) (ml/kg ABW) and 8.7 (7.6 – 9.9) (ml/kg PBW) in non-ALI/ARDS patients, and 7.5 (6.3 – 9.0) (ml/kg ABW) and 8.6 (7.3 – 9.9) (ml/kg PBW) in ALI/ARDS patients, p = NS. Plateau pressures in non-ALI/ARDS and ALI/ARDS patients were 19 (16 – 23) cmH<sub>2</sub>O and 23 (18 – 27) cmH<sub>2</sub>O, respectively, p < 0.05. The median PEEP level was 6 (5 – 8) cmH<sub>2</sub>O in non-ALI/ARDS group and 8 (6 – 10) cmH<sub>2</sub>O in ALI/ARDS group (p = 0.001), respectively.

## 5.3. NT-PRO-BNP AND CELL-FREE DNA IN ARF PATIENTS

Higher than normal (>125 pg/ml) NT-pro-BNP values were detected in 88 % (529 of 602) of study patients at baseline. Baseline levels were significantly higher in 90-day non-survivors than survivors, median (IQR) 4378 pg/ml (1400 – 13943 pg/ml) versus 1052 pg/ml (232 – 4076 pg/ml) (p < 0.001), and the difference remained significant for sample B on day 2, 3458 pg/ml (865 – 11875 pg/ml) versus 1613 pg/ml (359 – 3891 pg/ml) (p < 0.001), respectively.

NT-pro-BNP levels at baseline according to baseline levels of arterial oxygen pressure are presented in Figure 3. The difference between groups was significant, p < 0.001 (Kruskal-Wallis for all groups). Baseline NT-pro-BNP values in patients with normal renal function were significantly higher with chronic cardiac disease or cardiac surgery when compared to non-cardiac patients (p < 0.001). The levels of NT-pro-BNP increased significantly with deteriorating renal function in all patients (p < 0.001 for both cardiac and non-cardiac patients).



Figure 3. Baseline levels of arterial oxygen pressure (paO2) according to quartiles of baseline plasma N-terminal pro-brain natriuretic peptide (NT-pro-BNP).

Plasma cell-free DNA levels were significantly higher in 90-day non-survivors than survivors, median 16 636 GE/ml (IQR 7262 – 46 866 GE/ml) versus 10 026 GE/ml (4870 – 19 820 GE/ml), respectively (p < 0.001). The median (IQR) baseline DNA concentration in postoperative patients was 11 436 GE/ml (5587 – 20 379 GE/ml), and in non-operative patients 12 156 GE/ml (4938 – 27 292 GE/ml), p = 0.36. Plasma DNA at admission correlated with the baseline PaO<sub>2</sub>/FiO<sub>2</sub>-ratio, p < 0.001). Figure 4 presents baseline plasma DNA according to quartiles of PaO<sub>2</sub>/FiO<sub>2</sub>-ratio (p < 0.001, Kruskal-Wallis for groups).



Figure 4. Plasma baseline cell-free DNA according to quartiles of PaO<sub>3</sub>/FiO<sub>3</sub>-ratio

The ROC-curves of baseline NT-pro-BNP and plasma cell-free DNA for the 90-day mortality prediction are presented in Figure 5. The best cutoff value for NT-pro-BNP at baseline was 1765 pg/ml. Its sensitivity for 90-day mortality was 73% (95% CI, 66 - 79%), with a specificity of 63% (95% CI, 58 - 67%), a negative predictive value of 85% (95% CI, 81-89%), a positive predictive value of 44% (95% CI, 39 - 50%), and a positive likelihood ratio of 1.965 (95% CI, 1.686 - 2.289). The best cut-off value for baseline plasma cell-free DNA obtained from the ROC-curve analysis, was 16 000 GE/ml, with a sensitivity of 53% (95% CI 45 - 60%), a specificity 69% (65 - 74%), and a positive likelihood ratio of 1.72 (1.4 - 2.11). The odds ratio of plasma cell-free DNA being over cut-off value was 2.22 (1.41 - 3.48) for 90-day

mortality. The AUC of NT-pro-BNP levels at baseline was 0.718 (95% CI 0.674 - 0.761) and that of plasma cell-free DNA 0.624 (95% CI 0.572 - 0.676).



Figure 5. ROC curves of plasma baseline N-terminal pro-brain natriuretic peptide (NT-pro-BNP) and cell-free DNA for predicting 90-day mortality

## 5.4. PROGNOSTIC VALUE OF COMBINING PLASMA NT-PRO-BNP AND CELL-FREE DNA

A significant correlation between NT-pro-BNP and cell-free DNA values was noticed at baseline,  $\rho$  0.301, p < 0.001 (Figure 6).



Figure 6. Plasma N-terminal pro-brain natriuretic peptide (NT-pro-BNP) values at baseline plotted against plasma cell-free DNA values at baseline. The picture in the upper left corner presents all values, and the picture in the low right corner a subset of values cropped from the upper picture.

The Kaplan-Meier survival curves for 90-day mortality in patients with baseline NT-pro-BNP and plasma DNA values over or below separate cut-off levels are presented in Figure 7. Survival was significantly different in patients with both markers being over cut-off levels (n=132), only NT-pro-BNP (n=146) or plasma DNA (n=83) being over cut-off, or both markers (n=219) being below cut-off levels (p < 0.001 log rank test for all curves).



Figure 7. Kaplan-Meier survival curves for 90-day mortality according to both N-terminal probrain natriuretic peptide (NT-pro-BNP) and cell-free DNA values being over or under cut-off

A multiple logistic regression analysis was accomplished with the inclusion of the following factors: baseline NT-pro-BNP over best cut-off (1795 ng/ml), baseline plasma cell-free DNA over best cut-off (16 000 GE/ml), infection status, baseline  $PaO_2/FiO_2$ -ratio, chronic heart disease, underlying risk factors for ARF (acute heart insufficiency, intoxication, and suspected aspiration), SAPS II score minus oxygenation, and SOFA score at 24 hours. The independent predictors of 90-day mortality were baseline NT-pro-BNP over cut-off (p < 0.001), baseline plasma cell-free DNA over cut-off (p = 0.004), baseline  $PaO_2/FiO_2$ -ratio (p = 0.023), and SAPS II score minus oxygenation (p< 0.001).

## 5.5. SERUM MARKERS OF COLLAGEN METABOLISM

Study patients (n=68) were on average 60 years old (SD 15, range 20-86), 50 (74%) were male, and 18 (26%) were postoperative patients. Thirteen (19%) patients fulfilled the criteria for ALI or ARDS, and 43 (63%) for MOD. SAPS II points ranged from 2 to 83 (mean 45, SD 15) and SOFA score at 24 hours from 2 to 17 (mean 9, SD 3). The mean (SD, range) ventilatory support time was 12 (11, 1-46) days, ICU

length of stay 15 (13, 1-60) days, and hospital length of stay 44 (20, 18-116) days. Patients in the cohort were more often admitted for operative reasons than the rest of the FINNALI study patients (p = 0.026). The ventilatory support time (p < 0.001), and length of stay in ICU and hospitals were significantly longer (p < 0.001 for both), but the severity of illness was equal, as measured by SAPS II score, and SOFA at 24 hours (p = 0.36 and p = 0.43, respectively).

PIIINP values increased over time in all patients in the cohort (p < 0.001), and the increase was more pronounced in patients with MOD (p = 0.026). The change in PINP levels over time was significant (p < 0.001), but did not differ between patients with MOD or without it (p = 0.74). ICTP levels showed a significant increase in all patients, but the levels in patients with MOD and without it were comparable (p = 0.16). In the maximum values of PIIINP, PINP, and ICTP during the first week, there was no difference between MOD and non-MOD patients.

Table 7 presents the levels of NT-pro-BNP and cell-free DNA in the collagen cohort patients in comparison to others. No differences in the levels were noticed between these groups.

| Table 7. Plasma N-terminal pro-brain natriuretic peptide (NT-pro-BNP) and cell-free DNA  |
|--|
| values in patients with both markers measured; a comparison between patients in collagen |
| cohort and other patients. Values are presented in median (IQR).                         |

|                          |             | Patients in the collagen cohort | Other patients with NT-<br>pro-BNP and cell-free<br>DNA samples | p-value<br>(Mann-Whitney) |
|--------------------------|-------------|---------------------------------|---|---------------------------|
| Number                   |             | 56                              | 524   |                           |
| NT-pro-BNP               | at baseline | 1646 (296 - 6438)               | 1626 (348 - 6423)   | 0.91                      |
|                          | at day 2    | 1874 (283 - 8251)               | 1882 (539 - 4869)   | 0.68                      |
| Plasma cell-<br>free DNA | at baseline | 14 540 (6490 - 27 556)          | 11 578 (5199 - 24 198)  | 0.20                      |
|                          | at day 2    | 13 370 (6982 - 25 623)          | 11 540 (6348 - 20 308)  | 0.26                      |

## 5.6. OUTCOME

The overall mortality at 90-days was 31% (95% CI 28-34%). In a subgroup of patients with ventilatory support more than 24 hours, 90-day mortality was 32% (95% CI 29-36%) and in ALI/ARDS patients 47% (95% CI 35-59%). In patients with a failure of non-invasive ventilatory support, the mortality rate was 49%. Patient mortality at 30 days in study IV was 4% (3 of 68).

## 6 DISCUSSION

#### Incidence

The incidence of acute respiratory failure reported here is much higher than reported earlier (Lewandowski et al. 1995, Luhr et al. 1999). The most obvious reason for this is the wider definition used in this study. Although one earlier study has reported an ARF incidence of 137 / 100 000, which is closer to that of the present study, the definition used in that study was completely different (Bersten et al. 2002). Nonetheless, the incidence in the present study remained high, even after correction of the ARF definition to 24 hours of respiratory support. Other plausible explanations include differences in admission policies and organizational factors. In many European countries, specific respiratory ICUs and intermediate care units exist (Corrado et al. 2002, Polverino et al. 2010). In Finland, however, intermediate care units are uncommon, and, thus, patients needing ventilatory support are commonly admitted to ICU. Additionally, the differences in health care systems may partly explain these results, especially in comparison to north American studies. The incidence of ALI/ARDS observed, on the contrary, was lower than in some other studies (Bersten et al. 2002, Rubenfeld et al. 2005) but still at the same level as in an earlier report from Finland (Valta et al. 1999). The difference in ALI and ARDS incidence remains unexplained, but factors mentioned above, most probably have some impact. Genetic variation for susceptibility may also partly explain this variation (Marshall et al. 2002).

#### Ventilatory modes and settings

The proportions of ventilatory modes used at baseline, resemble those reported in a 1-day point prevalence study in Nordic countries (Karason et al. 2002). In the present study, the use of pressure-controlled modes was clearly more popular than in most countries outside Scandinavia (Esteban et al. 2008).

In Finnish ICUs, the lung protective ventilatory strategy has been adopted only partially, the result being uniform with earlier reports (Weinert et al. 2003, Young et al. 2004). A steady increase in a proportion of tidal volumes less than 6.5 ml/kg PBW has been reported previously, but the proportion was still around 40% of patients in 2005 (Checkley et al. 2008). The tidal volumes in the present study were

higher than recommended, especially when calculated per predicted body weight instead of actual body weight. The difference in tidal volumes between PBW and ABW was larger in women than in men, as reported previously (Gajic et al. 2004), which has an important clinical significance. The size of the lungs is determined by gender and height and these factors should primarily impact the tidal volume setting, a fact that is often forgotten in clinical practise. The limitation of inspiratory pressure was, however, much better implemented.

### NT-pro-BNP and cell-free DNA in ARF patients

Both of the evaluated biomarkers were commonly increased in critically ill patients with acute respiratory failure. The levels of NT-pro-BNP were elevated in the great majority of the ARF patients, which is in accordance with earlier studies reporting great increases in NT-pro-BNP levels in ARF and ARDS patients (Bajwa et al. 2008). The present study differs from earlier studies in the patient population, but the results are basically comparable. Reference values for plasma cell-free DNA do not exist, but the levels in this study were high when compared to normal controls in meta-analysis (van der Vaart et al. 2010). When comparing to earlier studies, our results are essentially in accordance. Because of variations in method, however, direct comparisons cannot be done.

Cut-off values of NT-pro-BNP for best mortality prediction have ranged from 940 pg/ml in an unselected, non-cardiac ICU patient population, to 6800 pg/ml in ARDS patients, and 7090 pg/ml in patients with severe sepsis and septic shock (Varpula et al. 2007, Bajwa et al. 2008). The best cut-off value in the present study was 1765 pg/ml, in comparison to a previous study of 78 ICU patients (with an APACHE II score over 12) that had a level of 1900 pg/ml (Almog et al. 2006). The AUC for baseline NT-pro-BNP for the prediction of 90-day mortality in this study was 0.718. This result is in accordance with earlier studies in ARDS (Bajwa et al. 2008, Kotanidou et al. 2009).

The exact mechanism by which NT-pro-BNP is elevated in ARF patients is not known. Myocardial function, and thus the release of NT-pro-BNP, may be affected by acute respiratory failure and subsequent ventilatory treatment in several mechanisms. Theoretically, increased NT-pro-BNP could serve as a marker of fluid overload. Earlier studies, however, have shown that NT-pro-BNP levels are not able to distinguish between cardiogenic pulmonary oedema and ALI (Levitt et al. 2008) and do not associate with pulmonary artery occlusion pressure in critically ill patients (Jefic et al. 2005, Tung et al. 2004). The results of the present study are in accordance, since no correlation between baseline NT-pro-BNP and central venous pressure (CVP) or pulmonary artery occlusion pressure (PAOP) was noticed. Furthermore, filling pressures do not necessarily correlate with cardiac preload in critically ill patients, a result reported in mechanically ventilated sepsis patients (Osman et al. 2007). The relationship between NT-pro-BNP and the elevation of intrathoracic and transpulmonary pressures induced by positive pressure ventilation remains unresolved.

NT-pro-BNP levels have been reported to increase in patients with renal insufficiency (Forfia et al. 2005b) and the results of this study are compatible. NT-pro-BNP values showed a clear tendency to increase with deteriorating renal function whether the patient had a cardiac condition or not. In many critically ill patients, the significance of NT-pro-BNP measurements is, thus, diminished.

An interesting issue is the possible role of myocardial hypoxia. Hypoxemia has been shown to stimulate the secretion of BNP in an animal study on piglets (Khan et al. 2008). Additionally, hypoxia has been shown to directly induce BNP release from human myocytes in patients with cyanotic congenital heart disease (Hopkins et al. 2004). BNP has also recently been shown to be able to detect silent myocardial ischemia in diabetic patients without heart insufficiency (Rana et al. 2006). Based on recent data, the role of hypoxia has been emphasized in the regulation of natriuretic peptides (Arjamaa et al. 2011). The results of the present study are in accordance with this hypothesis, since the baseline NT-pro-BNP levels increased with the lowering arterial oxygen pressure, although the median levels were not hypoxemic. The level of tissue hypoxia, however, was not measured in this study. In critically ill patients, especially in septic patients, the oxygen utilizing capacity of tissues, resulting from the deteriorated microcirculation, is known to decrease, resulting in lactatemia and risk of organ dysfunction (Levy et al. 2005).

BNP release has also been shown to be stimulated by proinflammatory cytokines (Ma et al. 2004) and several neurohormones (adrenergic agonists, endothelin, and ATII) (Mair 2008). Theoretically, these factors may have played a role in our study population and partly explain the increased concentrations of NT-pro-BNP.

A range of different methods used in the quantification of cell-free DNA in earlier reports makes it difficult to make direct comparisons between studies. These differences most probably play role in some studies with highly differing concentrations (Kocsis et al. 2009). The levels of plasma cell-free DNA in this study, in general, are situated in the middle of those reported previously (Rhodes et al. 2006, Saukkonen et al. 2008, Saukkonen et al. 2007). In non-operative patients, baseline plasma DNA levels were higher in those with infection, consistent with published results (Rhodes et al. 2006, Saukkonen et al. 2007). In operative patients, the levels did not differ, although there was a tendency (p = 0.053) towards it. Operative patients presented with less severe illness, as measured by SAPS II score, but had similar levels of plasma DNA in comparison to non-operative patients. This result suggests that surgery, per se, may have raised the levels. This hypothesis is supported by the rising plasma DNA in operative, but not non-operative patients.

The prognostic value of plasma DNA was not particularly good in this study. The AUC was 0.643 for the 90-day mortality prediction in all patients in the cohort, somewhat lower than previous studies. None of the subgroups presented with better values. When examining the earlier reports of plasma DNA in critically ill patients, it is obvious that AUC is better when tested on short period survival, but shows a tendency to lower when longer outcome periods are employed (Rhodes et al. 2006, Saukkonen et al. 2008). In this context, the result of the present study is consistent.

The exact origin of plasma cell-free DNA in this study remains unclear. Theoretically, possible options in ARF include apoptotic neutrophils, alveolar epithelial cells, and myofibroblasts, but also remote organ cells. Furthermore, unlike in healthy humans, cell necrosis associated with inflammation is probable. A first successful attempt to characterize circulating DNA in cancer and control patients was made recently, where a differentiation between groups could be shown (van der Vaart et al. 2008). Tissue hypoxia is one tempting reason for increased plasma DNA levels, supported by a recent report in patients with mesenterial ischemia (Arnalich et al. 2010a). The higher concentrations in patients with infection support this hypothesis, considering the metabolic consequences of sepsis at the tissue level, as indicated earlier with NT-pro-BNP. Unfortunately, however, the tissue hypoxia parameter, lactate, was not measured in this study. Correlation with plasma DNA and pH at baseline was noticed, a finding possibly reflecting anaerobic metabolism at the tissue level. Nonetheless, due to observational nature of this study, these speculations remain purely hypothetical.

#### Prognostic value of combining plasma NT-pro-BNP and cell-free DNA

A correlation between baseline levels of NT-pro-BNP and plasma cell-free DNA was found, but it was rather weak, revealed also by visual inspection (Figure 6). Contrary to this, in a recent small study, no correlation between plasma DNA and NT-pro-BNP was noticed (Rhodes et al. 2006).

In a logistic regression analysis including both markers as categorical variables, they remained independent predictors of outcome, suggesting a role separate from the severity of illness.  $PaO_2/FiO_2$ -ratio was also an independent predictor in the multivariate analysis of study I without any biomarkers included in the analysis. Earlier studies have shown differing results concerning  $PaO_2/FiO_2$ -ratio as a prognostic factor in ALI and ARDS patients. Measured at baseline, it has not been an independent predictor of death, although it may have been associated with death in univariate analysis (Brun-Buisson et al. 2004). The other factors remaining significant in multivariate analysis were SAPS II score minus oxygenation points,

SOFA score at 24 hours, infection status, and chronic heart disease, the result being in accordance with earlier studies. SAPS II, in particular, has been frequently found to independently predict mortality in ALI/ARDS patients (Brun-Buisson et al. 2004, Monchi et al. 1998, Nuckton et al. 2002). In addition, chronic diseases, sepsis, and organ dysfunctions have been reported to be prognostic factors (Brun-Buisson et al. 2004, Doyle et al. 1995, Zilberberg et al. 1998).

A significant difference in survival was noticed, when both biomarkers were used in combination (Figure 7), consistent with a recent study evaluating the use of several biomarkers in combination for the diagnosis of ALI in trauma patients (Fremont et al. 2010). In that retrospective analysis, 107 trauma patients fulfilling AECC criteria for ALI/ARDS during their first three days after admission were compared to 85 patients without ALI over seven days. From 21 biomarkers measured, 7 markers representing epithelial and endothelial injury, collagen deposition, cardiac dysfunction, and inflammation, were selected to form a biomarker panel. Using this panel for diagnosis of ALI/ARDS, the AUC was 0.86 (95% CI 0.82-0.92). Restricting the number of biomarkers in the panel to three best performing (RAGE, procollagen propeptide III and BNP), the AUC was almost at the same level, 0.83 with 95% CI 0.76-0.88. Patients with a high probability of ALI/ARDS, according to the panel, spent more days in the ventilator and in ICU when compared to patients with a low probability of ALI/ARDS. The hospital mortality did not differ between groups, 18% in high and 6% in low probability group, but the study was most probably underpowered for the prediction of mortality. Another recent study showed similar results for predicting the mortality of ALI/ARDS patients with several biomarkers (Ware et al. 2010). This study was based on a patient cohort of an earlier prospective study of 549 patients, where low versus high levels of PEEP were evaluated (Brower et al. 2004). Ware and colleagues observed that a combination of six clinical risk factors and eight biomarkers was superior in mortality prediction with AUC 0.85 (95% CI 0.813 - 0.833). A reduced model with two clinical risk factors (APACHE III score and age) and two biomarkers (SP-D and IL-8), showed almost as good predictive power with AUC 0.834 (95% CI 0.789 - 0.862).

### Markers of collagen metabolism

This was the first study to report the levels and the evolution of markers of collagen metabolism in patients with ARF. Earlier studies in ARDS patients have found procollagen III levels to increase early in the course of disease and the results of this study were comparable (Marshall et al. 2000, Meduri et al. 1998). In ARDS patients, increase in PINP and PIIINP over time has been reported, in accordance with the results of the present study (Meduri et al. 1998). PINP levels, although

tending to increase, remained practically inside reference values. A similar result has been reported in severe sepsis patients (Gaddnas et al. 2009). The ratio of PIIINP and PINP increased early, followed by a later decrease back to baseline. This suggests that the collagen profile changes to a more stable and less deformable composition over time, a novel finding in this study. ICTP levels also showed an increase over time, that when accompanied with an initial decrease in the ratio of PINP and ICTP, this suggests degradation of collagen type I during the acute phase of ARF. High ICTP levels have been previously reported in patients with trauma and severe sepsis (Gaddnas et al. 2009, Waydhas et al. 1993).

Whether patients suffered from multiple organ dysfunction or not, maximum levels of serum markers of collagen metabolism did not differ. This is inconsistent with a previous report in sepsis patients (Gaddnas et al. 2009). The highly selected patient population in the present study is most probably a reason for this discrepancy. Only patients with serial blood samples extending to day 21 were included. Inevitably, this excluded the most severely ill patients, who did not survive until day 21. For the same reason, the mortality of study patients was extremely low, and precludes prognostic analyses.

Due to small patient numbers, subgroup analyses concerning operative status and the use of corticosteroids were not rational. These factors, however, may have an effect on procollagen levels. Procollagens measured from plasma have been shown to increase early in lung injury, correlating with outcome (Meduri et al. 1998). In this small landmark study of Meduri and colleagues, treatment with methylprednisolone resulted in the decrease of procollagen levels and increased survival. Furthermore, in a small clinical trial where corticosteroid treatment was started 10 days after the primary insult in ALI patients, better oxygenation was seen in the steroid group, but no difference in mortality nor adverse effects (Varpula et al. 2000). More recently, the results of a large scale RCT with 180 patients have been reported (Steinberg et al. 2006). In that study, patients in the methylprednisolone group had improved oxygenation and lung compliance, and fewer days in ventilator, but also higher rate of recurrent respiratory failure and no difference in mortality. Corticosteroid treatment was started, however, not until one to four weeks after the diagnosis of ARDS, possibly too late in the light of studies showing collagen synthesis to start very early after primary insult (Marshall et al. 2000). Of special interest, in a post-hoc analysis, patients treated with steroids and having higher levels of procollagen III at baseline, experienced better survival, in contrast with patients with low procollagen III levels, in whom steroid treatment associated with higher mortality. This result supports the wider employment of individually customised treatment for which biomarkers are one tool that may guide clinical decisions.

#### Outcome

The overall mortality at 90-days was 31%, which is slightly lower than in earlier studies in ARF patients (Behrendt 2000, Luhr et al. 1999), thus the implementation of lung protective ventilatory strategy may impact clinical outcome. On the other hand, mortality in ALI and ARDS patients was higher than in some randomized trials but comparable to recent pooled mortality in observational studies (Phua et al. 2009). It is worth noting that in multicentre studies, only Luhr and colleagues have reported 90-day mortality previously, the same end point that has been utilised in the present study.

#### Strengths and limitation of the study

The unquestionable strength of this study is a large and nationally comprehensive patient material. All intensive care units, except two units from small central hospitals, participated in this study. The coverage of 25 participating units represents 97% of the adult population in Finland. Thus, the generalisation of the results can be considered quite good in the group of critically ill ARF patients. However, the study has several points that need to be discussed. First, the group of ARF patients is heterogeneous due to numerous diseases able to cause respiratory failure. ARF does not have any standard definition, and thus the definition used in the present study is also arbitrary and can be criticised. All patients needing respiratory support, invasive or non-invasive, for at least six hours were included. The time frame has been longer in earlier studies, 24 hours in most cases, and only patients with invasive ventilation had been included (Flaatten et al. 2003, Luhr et al. 1999). However, in order to evaluate prognostic laboratory markers (Studies II and III), it is logical to collect the samples as near the insult as possible. The exact time of an insult leading to acute respiratory failure, is in most cases impossible to determine. The time elapsing from insult to sampling is, thus, imprecise and variable. Ventilatory support itself can also be considered an insult, therefore, minimizing the time of ventilatory support is rational in this context. Furthermore, excluding non-invasively treated ARF patients from the study would not have been sensible, since they clearly form a subgroup of ARF patients. Non-invasive ventilatory support has been used increasingly during previous years (Demoule et al. 2006) and has proven to be superior to invasive ventilation in selected groups of patients (Hilbert et al. 2001, Plant et al. 2000). Additionally, the results of the subgroup analyses with stricter ARF criteria, closer to the criteria of earlier studies, did not differ from the results of all patients strengthening the generalisation of the results.

The patients included in studies II and III, and especially in study IV, represented only a subgroup of all patients. Patients were more often admitted for elective

surgery in studies II and III, which may impact the results. In subgroup analyses performed in studies II and III, the results did not change, although elective patients and patients with a ventilatory period of less than 24 hours were excluded. Patients in study IV were stringently selected in order to evaluate the development of fibrosis markers over time, which prevented reasonable analyses concerning outcome.

### Ethical considerations

The study was approved by the ethical committee of Helsinki University Central Hospital. Due to the observational nature of the study, based on an established standard of care, informed consent was required only for blood sampling. Blood sampling was accomplished via arterial line, which is an established part of the monitoring in intensive care units. All patients in this study were treated with respiratory support, most with invasive ventilation, and sedation that rendered them incapable of giving consent. Thus, after explaining study information verbally and in writing, a written consent was obtained from the next of kin. Given that the next of kin may be suffering some confusion during the acute situation, this approach could be seen as ethically vulnerable, but the negligible risk caused by the blood sampling attenuates it.

### Methodological considerations

This was a prospective cohort study, which is reasonable for evaluating the questions posed in this study. Some issues, however, need to be discussed. This study was prospective, but purely observational, and patient care was not standardised in anyway. Factors known to have effect on outcome have been taken into consideration in the statistical analyses, but many unknown factors may have had an impact on the results. Additionally, the observational nature of the study makes it impossible to confirm or refute any causalities. The challenge of a cohort study is to collect a patient population which would represent well the larger population. The size of the cohort should be large enough, both in number of patients, and in geographical coverage. In this study, the overall number of patients was sufficient, but numbers in subgroups, including ALI and ARDS, was considerably lower restricting the confirmative subgroup analyses. The geographical coverage was excellent and possible impact factors, such as associated genetic factors among others, can be considered minimal.

The duration of the study period was eight weeks and the incidence calculations were based on that. Periodical change in the incidence is, thus, possible and can

be reflected to results. The occurrence of respiratory infections, in particular, is an important underlying condition for ARF, and is thought to show some seasonal variation. Indeed, the number of patients admitted to Finnish ICUs due to respiratory failure has been shown to be higher in the winter time (Reinikainen et al. 2006). The patient cohort in the present study was collected in the late spring time, so the possible bias would cause some underestimation of the incidence.

The laboratory method used in the analysis of NT-pro-BNP was a routinely-used commercial method. All samples were collected to Helsinki and the analyses were performed in one laboratory (Helsinki University Central Hospital Laboratory, HUSLAB) by professional personnel. Standardised laboratory methods for plasma cell-free DNA extraction and determination were carried out by experienced laboratory personnel. The measurements of serum markers of collagen metabolism were accomplished by a specialised laboratory in Oulu University Hospital.

#### Clinical implications and future perspectives

The results of this study are important in many aspects. First, the results of the incidence of ARF (I) offer valuable information regarding organizational planning, especially concerning the need for intensive care beds. Second, the ability of NT-pro-BNP to differentiate between cardiac and non-cardiac reasons for respiratory failure is affected by renal failure, suggesting that this measurement has limited value in many critically ill patients. Third, either NT-pro-BNP or plasma cell-free DNA as single parameters, do not seem to work as prognostic tools in population of unselected ARF patients, but when used in combination, the value seems to be better. Finally, interesting results of increased collagen III synthesis in ARF are worth further studies.

Since ALI is a multifactorial syndrome, with differences known to exist in the pathophysiology, and in the clinical picture according to predisposing conditions, it would seem rational to account for these differences somehow in future studies. Measurements of lung mechanics would be one solution to differentiate patients with different forms of ALI (Gattinoni et al. 1998). Standardized performance of these procedures may be challenging in a clinical setting, although new technology has been introduced recently for monitoring of ventilated lung areas (Frerichs et al. 2002) and functional residual capacity (FRC) (Wrigge et al. 1998). In large multicentre studies however, the use of this technology, with variation between manufacturers would be challenging.

Measuring biomarkers offers another possibility to recognize and stratify ALI patients better in future randomized trials. Large and heterogeneous patient populations provide more power for mortality prediction, but smaller, more

selected and homogeneous populations with more severe disease, and possibly greater treatment benefit, would be rational, especially in trials testing new therapies. Finding those patients who are most likely to benefit from potential therapy is essential. An example reflecting well on the significance of better stratification of patients in the studies is the finding that plasma RAGE associates with mortality only in patients with injurious tidal volumes (Calfee et al. 2008). Thus, the value of RAGE as a prognostic measure, seems poor in the present standard of care (lung protective ventilatory strategy). Of single biomarkers tested in large trials, none has proved to be excellent, and a combination of several biomarkers representing distinct aspects of the pathophysiology of ALI has been reported to be superior in mortality prediction (Ware et al. 2010). In addition to being potential tool in research, measurements of biomarkers could still provide a clinical tool for monitoring the course of disease or response to treatment.

An important future direction is to refine the criteria for ALI and ARDS. The AECC criteria, which have been established for almost 20 years, have not been able achieve what they were initially intended for. As noticed already more than decade ago, the use of these criteria in two concurrent studies resulted in two different kinds of ALI/ARDS patient populations, thus divergent results (Roupie et al. 1999, Villar et al. 1999). Additionally, the occurrence of ARDS has shown wide variation between centres even inside a single study, although the same criteria had been used (Brun-Buisson et al. 2004). Indeed, new criteria for ARDS have just been presented at the annual meeting of the European Society of Intensive Care Medicine (ESICM 2011, Berlin). ARF patients have a significant impact on healthcare, thus if the standard criteria for this condition could be defined, the research field would encompass a larger defined patient population.

A well recognized existence of differences in the clinical picture of ALI, as well as in the susceptibility to develop ALI when exposed to risk factors, suggests a role for genetic variants. Studies of genetic polymorphisms have revealed several points in ALI pathogenesis, including ACE, IL-10, and TNF (Gong et al. 2006, Gong et al. 2005, Marshall et al. 2002). Also, polymorphisms associated with genes regulating the coagulation cascade are potentially important in ALI, as has been characterized well earlier (Aiach et al. 1999, Arnaud et al. 2000, Endler et al. 2003). Studying the genetics of such a complex disease as ALI is challenging, in fact the genetic research of ALI remains in its infancy (Gao et al. 2009). A paucity of replication studies, which constitute to confirm the genotype-phenotype associations, is a common problem in the growing field of clinical genetic research in general and also with studies concerning ALI (Chanock et al. 2007). Genetic research of ALI is essential to fully understand the big picture of this syndrome, and will definitely be increasingly pursued in the future. Although much remains to be accomplished in future work, the studies of biomarkers has increased the knowledge of ALI pathophysiology enormously. A big dilemma remains, that smaller experimental studies, which can better measure the consequences of interventions and physiological incidents, often lack the power to show more than associations between matters. Furthermore, huge resources are needed to perform larger studies of reasonable study periods, with enough power for prognostic purposes, but also a patient population that is selected in a rational way.

# 7 CONCLUSIONS

Following conclusions can be drawn on the basis of these studies:

- The calculated incidence of acute respiratory failure in Finnish ICUs was 149.5 / 100 000 inhabitants per year. The 90-day mortality was 31%. Tidal volumes were larger than recommended. In inspiratory pressures the recommendations were implemented better.
- 2. Plasma NT-pro-BNP and cell-free DNA measured at baseline were commonly increased in ARF patients. Renal function and cardiac condition had impact on NT-pro-BNP values. Both NT-pro-BNP and plasma cell-free DNA at baseline were independent predictors for 90-day mortality. NT-pro-BNP and plasma DNA correlated with each other at baseline, and their use in combination may increase their prognostic value.
- 3. The first week of ARF was represented by increased synthesis of collagen type III and degradation of collagen type I. Three weeks after ARF commenced, collagen metabolism reverted towards normal. No association with multiple organ dysfunction was noticed.

## ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

A large number of people have made this study possible, to whom I wish to offer my sincerest thanks.

I owe my gratitude to my supervisors, Docent Tero Varpula and Docent Ville Pettilä. Docent Tero Varpula, your example as an intensivist aroused my interest in intensive care, and especially in ventilatory treatment, in the first place. Besides a "senior researcher", I consider you to be my godfather in intensive care. I am thankful to you in guiding me towards the goal of this project. Docent Ville Pettilä, I deeply appreciate your knowledge in statistics, in research in general, and your clinical expertise. Your ability to see relevant points clearly is unique. Without your persistent attitude and demanding, but encouraging, way of making things happen, this study would most probably remain unfinished. In spite of your sometimes hectic schedule, you always had "five minutes" whenever I needed your guidance.

I want to warmly thank the reviewers of this thesis, professor Leena Lindgren and professor Olli Polo, for their kind and helpful comments.

Professor Per Rosenberg is appreciated for his guidance and valuable comments, and especially for his lessons in doctoral education.

I am thankful to all my co-authors for their contributions to the study. Especially I want to thank Rita Linko MD, who has been in the same boat from the beginning, and shared the moments of joy but also frustration. I wish you all the best for your own dissertation. I express my warmest gratitude to Marjut Varpula PhD, Päivi Lakkisto PhD, and Fiia Gäddnäs PhD; you all had a significant role in this study and the co-operation with you was most pleasant. Matti Reinikainen MD, is worthy of praise for his excellent comments.

My sincere gratitude goes to Docent Päivi Valta, who taught me about the pressures and the curves. I honour your deep knowledge and exhilarating attitude towards the respiratory mechanics. I thank Silvia Nunes for introducing me to the world of measuring respiratory mechanics. Päivi and Silvia, you are real scientists.

The ladies on the P-floor, the study nurses Sari Sutinen, Leena Pettilä, Raija Niemi, and Eeva-Liisa Piiparinen; you are deeply thanked not only for your contribution in the FINNALI study, but also for your friendship. All the investigators and the study nurses in all the 25 centres in Finland, you are the foundation of this thesis, which wouldn't have been able to be finished without you.

I would like to express my deepest thanks to Dr. Jennifer Rowland for the excellent editing of the English language of this thesis and also for the unselfish support that she gave me.

All my dear colleagues at work, thank you for doing the clinical work while I have been writing. Especially I wish to thank my "bosses", Docent Anne Kuitunen, Docent Marja Hynninen, and Docent Anna-Maria Koivusalo. Days at work have been pleasant and sometimes even full of laughter - sometimes heavy, but always rewarding.

My deepest thanks and love go to all my friends, who provided moral support and understanding throughout this endeavour. Anna-Maija, you were my co-author, but especially I want to thank you for your valuable friendship. Team "Paljakka and PerheSafarit" (Anna-Maija, Anna, and Meri); our journeys in the wilderness have been important breaks during this very different tour in to the world of research. I am already waiting for the next one. Päivi, Mirka, and all the changing members of BBS (Bemböle Bulimic Society); your company has provided physical as well as mental nourishment.

Lastly, my deepest love goes to my father, Pentti, and my late mother, Aino, who have always encouraged me to study as far as I wish to continue. And Hannele, my sister, thank you for the Sunday walks, and for listening and supporting me patiently.

Helsinki, December 2011

Marjatta Okkonen

## REFERENCES

- Aboab, J, Louis, B, Jonson, B and Brochard, L. Relation between PaO2/FIO2 ratio and FIO2: a mathematical description. Intensive Care Med 32:1494-1497, 2006
- Adler, KB, Low, RB, Leslie, KO, Mitchell, J and Evans, JN. Contractile cells in normal and fibrotic lung. Lab Invest 60:473-485, 1989
- Agouridakis, P, Kyriakou, D, Alexandrakis, MG, Prekates, A, Perisinakis, K, Karkavitsas, Nand Bouros, D. The predictive role of serum and bronchoalveolar lavage cytokines and adhesion molecules for acute respiratory distress syndrome development and outcome. Respir Res 3:25, 2002
- Aiach, M, Nicaud, V, Alhenc-Gelas, M, Gandrille, S, Arnaud, E, Amiral, J, Guize, L, Fiessinger, JN and Emmerich, J. Complex association of protein C gene promoter polymorphism with circulating protein C levels and thrombotic risk. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 19:1573-1576, 1999
- Almog, Y, Novack, V, Megralishvili, R, Kobal, S, Barski, L, King, D and Zahger,D. Plasma level of N terminal pro-brain natriuretic peptide as a prognostic marker in critically ill patients. Anesth Analg 102:1809-1815, 2006
- Amato, MB, Barbas, CS, Medeiros, DM, Magaldi, RB, Schettino, GP, Lorenzi-Filho, G, Kairalla, RA, Deheinzelin, D, Munoz, C, Oliveira, R, Takagaki, TY and Carvalho, CR. Effect of a protective-ventilation strategy on mortality in the acute respiratory distress syndrome. N Engl J Med 338:347-354, 1998
- Angus, DC, Musthafa, AA, Clermont, G, Griffin, MF, Linde-Zwirble, WT, Dremsizov, TT and Pinsky, MR. Quality-adjusted survival in the first year after the acute respiratory distress syndrome. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 163:1389-1394, 2001
- ARDSNet. Ventilation with lower tidal volumes as compared with traditional tidal volumes for acute lung injury and the acute respiratory distress syndrome. The Acute Respiratory Distress Syndrome Network. N Engl J Med 342:1301-1308, 2000
- Arjamaa, O and Nikinmaa, M. Hypoxia regulates the natriuretic peptide system. Int J Physiol Pathophysiol Pharmacol 3:191-201, 2011
- Armstrong, L, Thickett, DR, Mansell, JP, Ionescu, M, Hoyle, E, Billinghurst, RC, Poole, AR and Millar, AB. Changes in collagen turnover in early acute respiratory distress syndrome. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 160:1910-1915, 1999

- Arnalich, F, Maldifassi, MC, Ciria, E, Quesada, A, Codoceo, R, Herruzo, R, Garcia-Cerrada, C, Montoya, F, Vazquez, JJ, Lopez-Collazo, E and Montiel, C.
  Association of cell-free plasma DNA with perioperative mortality in patients with suspected acute mesenteric ischemia. Clin Chim Acta 411:1269-1274, 2010a
- Arnalich, F, Menendez, M, Lagos, V, Ciria, E, Quesada, A, Codoceo, R, Vazquez, JJ, Lopez-Collazo, E and Montiel, C. Prognostic value of cell-free plasma DNA in patients with cardiac arrest outside the hospital: an observational cohort study. Crit Care 14:R47, 2010b
- Arnaud, E, Barbalat, V, Nicaud, V, Cambien, F, Evans, A, Morrison, C, Arveiler, D, Luc, G, Ruidavets, JB, Emmerich, J, Fiessinger, JN and Aiach, M. Polymorphisms in the 5' regulatory region of the tissue factor gene and the risk of myocardial infarction and venous thromboembolism: the ECTIM and PATHROS studies. Etude Cas-Temoins de l'Infarctus du Myocarde. Paris Thrombosis case-control Study. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 20:892-898, 2000
- Ashbaugh, DG, Bigelow, DB, Petty, TL and Levine, BE. Acute respiratory distress in adults. Lancet 2:319-323, 1967
- Bajwa, EK, Januzzi, JL, Gong, MN, Thompson, BT and Christiani, DC. Prognostic value of plasma N-terminal probrain natriuretic peptide levels in the acute respiratory distress syndrome. Crit Care Med 36:2322-2327, 2008
- Baylis, C and Vallance, P. Measurement of nitrite and nitrate levels in plasma and urine--what does this measure tell us about the activity of the endogenous nitric oxide system? Curr Opin Nephrol Hypertens 7:59-62, 1998
- Behrendt, CE. Acute respiratory failure in the United States: incidence and 31-day survival. Chest 118:1100-1105, 2000
- Bellomo, R, Cass, A, Cole, L, Finfer, S, Gallagher, M, Lo, S, McArthur, C, McGuinness, S, Myburgh, J, Norton, R, Scheinkestel, C and Su, S. Intensity of continuous renal-replacement therapy in critically ill patients. N Engl J Med 361:1627-1638, 2009
- Bernard, GR, Artigas, A, Brigham, KL, Carlet, J, Falke, K, Hudson, L, Lamy, M, Legall, JR, Morris, A and Spragg, R. The American-European Consensus Conference on ARDS. Definitions, mechanisms, relevant outcomes, and clinical trial coordination. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 149:818-824, 1994
- Bernard, GR, Vincent, JL, Laterre, PF, LaRosa, SP, Dhainaut, JF, Lopez-Rodriguez,
  A, Steingrub, JS, Garber, GE, Helterbrand, JD, Ely, EW and Fisher, CJ, Jr.
  Efficacy and safety of recombinant human activated protein C for severe sepsis. N Engl J Med 344:699-709, 2001
- Bersten, AD, Edibam, C, Hunt, T and Moran, J. Incidence and mortality of acute lung injury and the acute respiratory distress syndrome in three Australian States. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 165:443-448, 2002

- Biemond, BJ, Levi, M, ten Cate, H, Soule, HR, Morris, LD, Foster, DL, Bogowitz, CA, van der Poll, T, Buller, HR and ten Cate, JW. Complete inhibition of endotoxin-induced coagulation activation in chimpanzees with a monoclonal Fab fragment against factor VII/VIIa. Thromb Haemost 73:223-230, 1995
- Blanc-Brude, OP, Archer, F, Leoni, P, Derian, C, Bolsover, S, Laurent, GJ and Chambers, RC. Factor Xa stimulates fibroblast procollagen production, proliferation, and calcium signaling via PAR1 activation. Exp Cell Res 304:16-27, 2005
- Bode, DC, Pagani, ED, Cumiskey, WR, von Roemeling, R, Hamel, L and Silver, PJ. Comparison of urinary desmosine excretion in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease or cystic fibrosis. Pulm Pharmacol Ther 13:175-180, 2000
- Botas, C, Poulain, F, Akiyama, J, Brown, C, Allen, L, Goerke, J, Clements, J, Carlson, E, Gillespie, AM, Epstein, C and Hawgood, S. Altered surfactant homeostasis and alveolar type II cell morphology in mice lacking surfactant protein D. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 95:11869-11874, 1998
- Brett, J, Schmidt, AM, Yan, SD, Zou, YS, Weidman, E, Pinsky, D, Nowygrod, R, Neeper, M, Przysiecki, C, Shaw, A and et al. Survey of the distribution of a newly characterized receptor for advanced glycation end products in tissues. Am J Pathol 143:1699-1712, 1993
- Brochard, L, Roudot-Thoraval, F, Roupie, E, Delclaux, C, Chastre, J, Fernandez-Mondejar, E, Clementi, E, Mancebo, J, Factor, P, Matamis, D, Ranieri, M, Blanch, L, Rodi, G, Mentec, H, Dreyfuss, D, Ferrer, M, Brun-Buisson, C, Tobin, M and Lemaire, F. Tidal volume reduction for prevention of ventilator-induced lung injury in acute respiratory distress syndrome. The Multicenter Trail Group on Tidal Volume reduction in ARDS. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 158:1831-1838, 1998
- Broeckaert, F, Clippe, A, Knoops, B, Hermans, C and Bernard, A. Clara cell secretory protein (CC16): features as a peripheral lung biomarker. Ann N Y Acad Sci 923:68-77, 2000
- Brower, RG, Lanken, PN, MacIntyre, N, Matthay, MA, Morris, A, Ancukiewicz, M, Schoenfeld, D and Thompson, BT. Higher versus lower positive endexpiratory pressures in patients with the acute respiratory distress syndrome. N Engl J Med 351:327-336, 2004
- Brower, RG, Shanholtz, CB, Fessler, HE, Shade, DM, White, P, Jr., Wiener, CM, Teeter, JG, Dodd-o, JM, Almog, Y and Piantadosi, S. Prospective, randomized, controlled clinical trial comparing traditional versus reduced tidal volume ventilation in acute respiratory distress syndrome patients. Crit Care Med 27:1492-1498, 1999

- Brown, LM, Kallet, RH, Matthay, MA and Dicker, RA. The influence of race on the development of acute lung injury in trauma patients. Am J Surg 201:486-491, 2011
- Brueckmann, M, Huhle, G, Lang, S, Haase, KK, Bertsch, T, Weiss, C, Kaden, JJ, Putensen, C, Borggrefe, M and Hoffmann, U. Prognostic value of plasma N-terminal pro-brain natriuretic peptide in patients with severe sepsis. Circulation 112:527-534, 2005
- Brun-Buisson, C, Minelli, C, Bertolini, G, Brazzi, L, Pimentel, J, Lewandowski, K, Bion, J, Romand, JA, Villar, J, Thorsteinsson, A, Damas, P, Armaganidis, A and Lemaire, F. Epidemiology and outcome of acute lung injury in European intensive care units. Results from the ALIVE study. Intensive Care Med 30:51-61, 2004
- Calfee, CS, Eisner, MD, Parsons, PE, Thompson, BT, Conner, ER, Jr., Matthay, MA and Ware, LB. Soluble intercellular adhesion molecule-1 and clinical outcomes in patients with acute lung injury. Intensive Care Med 35:248-257, 2009
- Calfee, CS, Eisner, MD, Ware, LB, Thompson, BT, Parsons, PE, Wheeler, AP, Korpak, A and Matthay, MA. Trauma-associated lung injury differs clinically and biologically from acute lung injury due to other clinical disorders. Crit Care Med 35:2243-2250, 2007
- Calfee, CS, Ware, LB, Eisner, MD, Parsons, PE, Thompson, BT, Wickersham, N and Matthay, MA. Plasma receptor for advanced glycation end products and clinical outcomes in acute lung injury. Thorax 63:1083-1089, 2008
- Carvalho, AC, Bellman, SM, Saullo, VJ, Quinn, D and Zapol, WM. Altered factor VIII in acute respiratory failure. N Engl J Med 307:1113-1119, 1982
- Castro, CY. ARDS and diffuse alveolar damage: a pathologist's perspective. Semin Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 18:13-19, 2006
- Chambers, RC. Procoagulant signalling mechanisms in lung inflammation and fibrosis: novel opportunities for pharmacological intervention? Br J Pharmacol 153 Suppl 1:S367-378, 2008
- Chanock, SJ, Manolio, T, Boehnke, M, Boerwinkle, E, Hunter, DJ, Thomas, G, Hirschhorn, JN, Abecasis, G, Altshuler, D, Bailey-Wilson, JE, Brooks, LD, Cardon, LR, Daly, M, Donnelly, P, Fraumeni, JF, Jr., Freimer, NB, Gerhard, DS, Gunter, C, Guttmacher, AE, Guyer, MS, Harris, EL, Hoh, J, Hoover, R, Kong, CA, Merikangas, KR, Morton, CC, Palmer, LJ, Phimister, EG, Rice, JP, Roberts, J, Rotimi, C, Tucker, MA, Vogan, KJ, Wacholder, S, Wijsman, EM, Winn, DM and Collins, FS. Replicating genotype-phenotype associations. Nature 447:655-660, 2007
- Charpentier, J, Luyt, CE, Fulla, Y, Vinsonneau, C, Cariou, A, Grabar, S, Dhainaut, JF, Mira, JP and Chiche, JD. Brain natriuretic peptide: A marker of myocardial dysfunction and prognosis during severe sepsis. Crit Care Med 32:660-665, 2004
- Chavakis, T, Bierhaus, A and Nawroth, PP. RAGE (receptor for advanced glycation end products): a central player in the inflammatory response. Microbes Infect 6:1219-1225, 2004
- Checkley, W, Brower, R, Korpak, A and Thompson, BT. Effects of a clinical trial on mechanical ventilation practices in patients with acute lung injury. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 177:1215-1222, 2008
- Cheng, C, Tsuneyama, K, Kominami, R, Shinohara, H, Sakurai, S, Yonekura, H, Watanabe, T, Takano, Y, Yamamoto, H and Yamamoto, Y. Expression profiling of endogenous secretory receptor for advanced glycation end products in human organs. Mod Pathol 18:1385-1396, 2005
- Cheng, IW, Ware, LB, Greene, KE, Nuckton, TJ, Eisner, MD and Matthay, MA. Prognostic value of surfactant proteins A and D in patients with acute lung injury. Crit Care Med 31:20-27, 2003
- Cherepanova, AV, Tamkovich, SN, Bryzgunova, OE, Vlassov, VV and Laktionov, PP. Deoxyribonuclease activity and circulating DNA concentration in blood plasma of patients with prostate tumors. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1137:218-221, 2008
- Chesnutt, AN, Matthay, MA, Tibayan, FA and Clark, JG. Early detection of type III procollagen peptide in acute lung injury. Pathogenetic and prognostic significance. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 156:840-845, 1997
- Christenson, RH. What is the value of B-type natriuretic peptide testing for diagnosis, prognosis or monitoring of critically ill adult patients in intensive care? Clin Chem Lab Med 46:1524-1532, 2008
- Clark, JG, Milberg, JA, Steinberg, KP and Hudson, LD. Type III procollagen peptide in the adult respiratory distress syndrome. Association of increased peptide levels in bronchoalveolar lavage fluid with increased risk for death. Ann Intern Med 122:17-23, 1995
- Clerico, A, Fontana, M, Zyw, L, Passino, C and Emdin, M. Comparison of the diagnostic accuracy of brain natriuretic peptide (BNP) and the N-terminal part of the propeptide of BNP immunoassays in chronic and acute heart failure: a systematic review. Clin Chem 53:813-822, 2007
- Clerico, A, Recchia, FA, Passino, C and Emdin, M. Cardiac endocrine function is an essential component of the homeostatic regulation network: physiological and clinical implications. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 290:H17-29, 2006
- Cocci, F, Miniati, M, Monti, S, Cavarra, E, Gambelli, F, Battolla, L, Lucattelli, M and Lungarella, G. Urinary desmosine excretion is inversely correlated with the extent of emphysema in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 34:594-604, 2002
- Conner, ER, Ware, LB, Modin, G and Matthay, MA. Elevated pulmonary edema fluid concentrations of soluble intercellular adhesion molecule-1 in patients with acute lung injury: biological and clinical significance. Chest 116:83S-84S, 1999

- Cook, NR and Ridker, PM. Advances in measuring the effect of individual predictors of cardiovascular risk: the role of reclassification measures. Ann Intern Med 150:795-802, 2009
- Corrado, A, Roussos, C, Ambrosino, N, Confalonieri, M, Cuvelier, A, Elliott, M, Ferrer, M, Gorini, M, Gurkan, O, Muir, JF, Quareni, L, Robert, D, Rodenstein, D, Rossi, A, Schoenhofer, B, Simonds, AK, Strom, K, Torres, A and Zakynthinos, S. Respiratory intermediate care units: a European survey. Eur Respir J 20:1343-1350, 2002
- Davidson, TA, Rubenfeld, GD, Caldwell, ES, Hudson, LD and Steinberg, KP. The effect of acute respiratory distress syndrome on long-term survival. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 160:1838-1842, 1999
- de Bold, AJ, Bruneau, BG and Kuroski de Bold, ML. Mechanical and neuroendocrine regulation of the endocrine heart. Cardiovasc Res 31:7-18, 1996
- Deheinzelin, D, Jatene, FB, Saldiva, PH and Brentani, RR. Upregulation of collagen messenger RNA expression occurs immediately after lung damage. Chest 112:1184-1188, 1997
- Dellinger, RP, Levy, MM, Carlet, JM, Bion, J, Parker, MM, Jaeschke, R, Reinhart, K, Angus, DC, Brun-Buisson, C, Beale, R, Calandra, T, Dhainaut, JF, Gerlach, H, Harvey, M, Marini, JJ, Marshall, J, Ranieri, M, Ramsay, G, Sevransky, J, Thompson, BT, Townsend, S, Vender, JS, Zimmerman, JL and Vincent, JL. Surviving Sepsis Campaign: international guidelines for management of severe sepsis and septic shock: 2008. Crit Care Med 36:296-327, 2008
- Demoule, A, Girou, E, Richard, JC, Taille, S and Brochard, L. Increased use of noninvasive ventilation in French intensive care units. Intensive Care Med 32:1747-1755, 2006
- Determann, RM, Royakkers, A, Wolthuis, EK, Vlaar, AP, Choi, G, Paulus, F, Hofstra, JJ, de Graaff, MJ, Korevaar, JC and Schultz, MJ. Ventilation with lower tidal volumes as compared with conventional tidal volumes for patients without acute lung injury: a preventive randomized controlled trial. Crit Care 14:R1, 2010
- Determann, RM, Wolthuis, EK, Choi, G, Bresser, P, Bernard, A, Lutter, R and Schultz, MJ. Lung epithelial injury markers are not influenced by use of lower tidal volumes during elective surgery in patients without preexisting lung injury. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 294:L344-350, 2008
- Di Somma, S, Magrini, L, Pittoni, V, Marino, R, Mastrantuono, A, Ferri, E, Ballarino, P, Semplicini, A, Bertazzoni, G, Carpinteri, G, Mule, P, Pazzaglia, M, Shah, K, Maisel, A and Clopton, P. In-hospital percentage BNP reduction is highly predictive for adverse events in patients admitted for acute heart failure: the Italian RED Study. Crit Care 14:R116, 2010
- Doyle, RL, Szaflarski, N, Modin, GW, Wiener-Kronish, JP and Matthay, MA. Identification of patients with acute lung injury. Predictors of mortality. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 152:1818-1824, 1995

- Dreyfuss, D, Basset, G, Soler, P and Saumon, G. Intermittent positive-pressure hyperventilation with high inflation pressures produces pulmonary microvascular injury in rats. Am Rev Respir Dis 132:880-884, 1985
- Eddy, AA. Interstitial macrophages as mediators of renal fibrosis. Exp Nephrol 3:76-79, 1995
- Ehrhart, IC, Zou, L, Theodorakis, MJ, Parkerson, JB, Gu, X, Caldwell, RB and Catravas, JD. Effect of nitrite on endothelial function in isolated lung. Gen Pharmacol 34:401-408, 2000
- Eichacker, PQ, Gerstenberger, EP, Banks, SM, Cui, X and Natanson, C. Metaanalysis of acute lung injury and acute respiratory distress syndrome trials testing low tidal volumes. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 166:1510-1514, 2002
- Eisner, MD, Parsons, P, Matthay, MA, Ware, L and Greene, K. Plasma surfactant protein levels and clinical outcomes in patients with acute lung injury. Thorax 58:983-988, 2003
- Endler, G and Mannhalter, C. Polymorphisms in coagulation factor genes and their impact on arterial and venous thrombosis. Clin Chim Acta 330:31-55, 2003
- Enkhbaatar, P, Murakami, K, Shimoda, K, Mizutani, A, Traber, L, Phillips, GB, Parkinson, JF, Cox, R, Hawkins, H, Herndon, D and Traber, D. The inducible nitric oxide synthase inhibitor BBS-2 prevents acute lung injury in sheep after burn and smoke inhalation injury. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 167:1021-1026, 2003
- Entzian, P, Huckstadt, A, Kreipe, H and Barth, J. Determination of serum concentrations of type III procollagen peptide in mechanically ventilated patients. Pronounced augmented concentrations in the adult respiratory distress syndrome. Am Rev Respir Dis 142:1079-1082, 1990
- Erickson, SE, Shlipak, MG, Martin, GS, Wheeler, AP, Ancukiewicz, M, Matthay, MA and Eisner, MD. Racial and ethnic disparities in mortality from acute lung injury. Crit Care Med 37:1-6, 2009
- Esteban, A, Anzueto, A, Frutos, F, Alia, I, Brochard, L, Stewart, TE, Benito, S, Epstein, SK, Apezteguia, C, Nightingale, P, Arroliga, AC and Tobin, MJ. Characteristics and outcomes in adult patients receiving mechanical ventilation: a 28-day international study. JAMA 287:345-355, 2002
- Esteban, A, Ferguson, ND, Meade, MO, Frutos-Vivar, F, Apezteguia, C, Brochard, L, Raymondos, K, Nin, N, Hurtado, J, Tomicic, V, Gonzalez, M, Elizalde, J, Nightingale, P, Abroug, F, Pelosi, P, Arabi, Y, Moreno, R, Jibaja, M, D'Empaire, G, Sandi, F, Matamis, D, Montanez, AM and Anzueto, A. Evolution of mechanical ventilation in response to clinical research. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 177:170-177, 2008

- Esteban, A, Fernandez-Segoviano, P, Frutos-Vivar, F, Aramburu, JA, Najera, L, Ferguson, ND, Alia, I, Gordo, F and Rios, F. Comparison of clinical criteria for the acute respiratory distress syndrome with autopsy findings. Ann Intern Med 141:440-445, 2004
- Fadok, VA, Bratton, DL, Konowal, A, Freed, PW, Westcott, JY and Henson, PM. Macrophagesthathaveingestedapoptoticcellsinvitroinhibitproinflammatory cytokine production through autocrine/paracrine mechanisms involving TGF-beta, PGE2, and PAF. J Clin Invest 101:890-898, 1998
- Fahy, RJ, Lichtenberger, F, McKeegan, CB, Nuovo, GJ, Marsh, CB and Wewers, MD. The acute respiratory distress syndrome: a role for transforming growth factor-beta 1. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 28:499-503, 2003
- Ferring, M and Vincent, JL. Is outcome from ARDS related to the severity of respiratory failure? Eur Respir J 10:1297-1300, 1997
- Finfer, S, Chittock, DR, Su, SY, Blair, D, Foster, D, Dhingra, V, Bellomo, R, Cook, D,
  Dodek, P, Henderson, WR, Hebert, PC, Heritier, S, Heyland, DK, McArthur,
  C, McDonald, E, Mitchell, I, Myburgh, JA, Norton, R, Potter, J, Robinson,
  BG and Ronco, JJ. Intensive versus conventional glucose control in critically
  ill patients. N Engl J Med 360:1283-1297, 2009
- Flaatten, H, Gjerde, S, Guttormsen, AB, Haugen, O, Hoivik, T, Onarheim, H and Aardal, S. Outcome after acute respiratory failure is more dependent on dysfunction in other vital organs than on the severity of the respiratory failure. Crit Care 7:R72, 2003
- Forfia, PR, Watkins, SP, Rame, JE, Stewart, KJ and Shapiro, EP. Relationship between B-type natriuretic peptides and pulmonary capillary wedge pressure in the intensive care unit. J Am Coll Cardiol 45:1667-1671, 2005a
- Forfia, PR, Watkins, SP, Rame, JE, Stewart, KJ and Shapiro, EP. Relationship between B-type natriuretic peptides and pulmonary capillary wedge pressure in the intensive care unit. J Am Coll Cardiol. 45:1667-1671., 2005b
- Frank, JA, Pittet, JF, Lee, H, Godzich, M and Matthay, MA. High tidal volume ventilation induces NOS2 and impairs cAMP- dependent air space fluid clearance. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 284:L791-798, 2003
- Fremont, RD, Koyama, T, Calfee, CS, Wu, W, Dossett, LA, Bossert, FR, Mitchell, D, Wickersham, N, Bernard, GR, Matthay, MA, May, AK and Ware, LB. Acute lung injury in patients with traumatic injuries: utility of a panel of biomarkers for diagnosis and pathogenesis. J Trauma 68:1121-1127, 2010
- Frerichs, I, Hinz, J, Herrmann, P, Weisser, G, Hahn, G, Dudykevych, T, Quintel, M and Hellige, G. Detection of local lung air content by electrical impedance tomography compared with electron beam CT. J Appl Physiol 93:660-666, 2002

- Gaddnas, F, Koskela, M, Koivukangas, V, Risteli, J, Oikarinen, A, Laurila, J, Saarnio, J and Ala-Kokko, T. Markers of collagen synthesis and degradation are increased in serum in severe sepsis: a longitudinal study of 44 patients. Crit Care 13:R53, 2009
- Gaddnas, FP, Koskela, M, Koivukangas, V, Laurila, J, Saarnio, J, Risteli, J, Oikarinen, A and Ala-Kokko, T. Skin collagen synthesis is depressed in patients with severe sepsis. Anesth Analg 111:156-163, 2010
- Gajic, O, Dara, SI, Mendez, JL, Adesanya, AO, Festic, E, Caples, SM, Rana, R, St Sauver, JL, Lymp, JF, Afessa, B and Hubmayr, RD. Ventilator-associated lung injury in patients without acute lung injury at the onset of mechanical ventilation. Crit Care Med 32:1817-1824, 2004
- Gajic, O, Frutos-Vivar, F, Esteban, A, Hubmayr, RD and Anzueto, A. Ventilator settings as a risk factor for acute respiratory distress syndrome in mechanically ventilated patients. Intensive Care Med 31:922-926, 2005
- Gao, L and Barnes, KC. Recent advances in genetic predisposition to clinical acute lung injury. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 296:L713-725, 2009
- Garcia Moreira, V, de la Cera Martinez, T, Gago Gonzalez, E, Prieto Garcia, B and Alvarez Menendez, FV. Increase in and clearance of cell-free plasma DNA in hemodialysis quantified by real-time PCR. Clin Chem Lab Med 44:1410-1415, 2006
- Garland, A, Dawson, NV, Altmann, I, Thomas, CL, Phillips, RS, Tsevat, J, Desbiens, NA, Bellamy, PE, Knaus, WA and Connors, AF, Jr. Outcomes up to 5 years after severe, acute respiratory failure. Chest 126:1897-1904, 2004
- Gattinoni, L, Pelosi, P, Suter, PM, Pedoto, A, Vercesi, P and Lissoni, A. Acute respiratory distress syndrome caused by pulmonary and extrapulmonary disease. Different syndromes? Am J Respir Crit Care Med 158:3-11, 1998
- Gattinoni, L, Tognoni, G, Pesenti, A, Taccone, P, Mascheroni, D, Labarta, V, Malacrida, R, Di Giulio, P, Fumagalli, R, Pelosi, P, Brazzi, L and Latini, R. Effect of prone positioning on the survival of patients with acute respiratory failure. N Engl J Med 345:568-573, 2001
- Gong, MN, Thompson, BT, Williams, PL, Zhou, W, Wang, MZ, Pothier, L and Christiani, DC. Interleukin-10 polymorphism in position -1082 and acute respiratory distress syndrome. Eur Respir J 27:674-681, 2006
- Gong, MN, Zhou, W, Williams, PL, Thompson, BT, Pothier, L, Boyce, P and Christiani, DC. -308GA and TNFB polymorphisms in acute respiratory distress syndrome. Eur Respir J 26:382-389, 2005
- Goodman, RB, Strieter, RM, Martin, DP, Steinberg, KP, Milberg, JA, Maunder, RJ, Kunkel, SL, Walz, A, Hudson, LD and Martin, TR. Inflammatory cytokines in patients with persistence of the acute respiratory distress syndrome. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 154:602-611, 1996

- Gornik, I, Wagner, J, Gasparovic, V, Lauc, G and Gornik, O. Free serum DNA is an early predictor of severity in acute pancreatitis. Clin Biochem 42:38-43, 2009
- Goss, CH, Brower, RG, Hudson, LD and Rubenfeld, GD. Incidence of acute lung injury in the United States. Crit Care Med 31:1607-1611, 2003
- Greene, KE, Wright, JR, Steinberg, KP, Ruzinski, JT, Caldwell, E, Wong, WB, Hull, W, Whitsett, JA, Akino, T, Kuroki, Y, Nagae, H, Hudson, LD and Martin, TR. Serial changes in surfactant-associated proteins in lung and serum before and after onset of ARDS. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 160:1843-1850, 1999
- Han, YP, Tuan, TL, Hughes, M, Wu, H and Garner, WL. Transforming growth factorbeta - and tumor necrosis factor-alpha -mediated induction and proteolytic activation of MMP-9 in human skin. J Biol Chem 276:22341-22350, 2001a
- Han, YP, Tuan, TL, Wu, H, Hughes, M and Garner, WL. TNF-alpha stimulates activation of pro-MMP2 in human skin through NF-(kappa)B mediated induction of MT1-MMP. J Cell Sci 114:131-139, 2001b
- Heider, U, Fleissner, C, Zavrski, I, Kaiser, M, Hecht, M, Jakob, C and Sezer, O. Bone markers in multiple myeloma. Eur J Cancer 42:1544-1553, 2006
- Held, TK, Mielke, ME, Chedid, M, Unger, M, Trautmann, M, Huhn, D and Cross, AS. Granulocyte colony-stimulating factor worsens the outcome of experimental Klebsiella pneumoniae pneumonia through direct interaction with the bacteria. Blood 91:2525-2535, 1998
- Herridge, MS, Cheung, AM, Tansey, CM, Matte-Martyn, A, Diaz-Granados, N, Al-Saidi, F, Cooper, AB, Guest, CB, Mazer, CD, Mehta, S, Stewart, TE, Barr, A, Cook, D and Slutsky, AS. One-year outcomes in survivors of the acute respiratory distress syndrome. N Engl J Med 348:683-693, 2003
- Hickling, KG, Henderson, SJ and Jackson, R. Low mortality associated with low volume pressure limited ventilation with permissive hypercapnia in severe adult respiratory distress syndrome. Intensive Care Med 16:372-377, 1990
- Hickling, KG, Walsh, J, Henderson, S and Jackson, R. Low mortality rate in adult respiratory distress syndrome using low-volume, pressure-limited ventilation with permissive hypercapnia: a prospective study. Crit Care Med 22:1568-1578, 1994
- Hilbert, G, Gruson, D, Vargas, F, Valentino, R, Gbikpi-Benissan, G, Dupon, M, Reiffers, J and Cardinaud, JP. Noninvasive ventilation in immunosuppressed patients with pulmonary infiltrates, fever, and acute respiratory failure. N Engl J Med 344:481-487, 2001
- Hopkins, WE, Chen, Z, Fukagawa, NK, Hall, C, Knot, HJ and LeWinter, MM. Increased atrial and brain natriuretic peptides in adults with cyanotic congenital heart disease: enhanced understanding of the relationship between hypoxia and natriuretic peptide secretion. Circulation. 109:2872-2877. Epub 2004 Jun 2871., 2004

- Hordijk, PL. Endothelial signalling events during leukocyte transmigration. FEBS J 273:4408-4415, 2006
- Howell, DC, Goldsack, NR, Marshall, RP, McAnulty, RJ, Starke, R, Purdy, G, Laurent, GJ and Chambers, RC. Direct thrombin inhibition reduces lung collagen, accumulation, and connective tissue growth factor mRNA levels in bleomycin-induced pulmonary fibrosis. Am J Pathol 159:1383-1395, 2001
- Howell, DC, Johns, RH, Lasky, JA, Shan, B, Scotton, CJ, Laurent, GJ and Chambers, RC. Absence of proteinase-activated receptor-1 signaling affords protection from bleomycin-induced lung inflammation and fibrosis. Am J Pathol 166:1353-1365, 2005
- Howell, DC, Laurent, GJ and Chambers, RC. Role of thrombin and its major cellular receptor, protease-activated receptor-1, in pulmonary fibrosis. Biochem Soc Trans 30:211-216, 2002
- Humphrey, H, Hall, J, Sznajder, I, Silverstein, M and Wood, L. Improved survival in ARDS patients associated with a reduction in pulmonary capillary wedge pressure. Chest 97:1176-1180, 1990
- Hussain, N, Wu, F, Zhu, L, Thrall, RS and Kresch, MJ. Neutrophil apoptosis during the development and resolution of oleic acid-induced acute lung injury in the rat. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 19:867-874, 1998
- Idell, S, Gonzalez, K, Bradford, H, MacArthur, CK, Fein, AM, Maunder, RJ, Garcia, JG, Griffith, DE, Weiland, J, Martin, TR and et al. Procoagulant activity in bronchoalveolar lavage in the adult respiratory distress syndrome. Contribution of tissue factor associated with factor VII. Am Rev Respir Dis 136:1466-1474, 1987a
- Idell, S, Kueppers, F, Lippmann, M, Rosen, H, Niederman, M and Fein, A. Angiotensin converting enzyme in bronchoalveolar lavage in ARDS. Chest 91:52-56, 1987b
- Imai, Y, Parodo, J, Kajikawa, O, de Perrot, M, Fischer, S, Edwards, V, Cutz, E, Liu, M, Keshavjee, S, Martin, TR, Marshall, JC, Ranieri, VM and Slutsky, AS. Injurious mechanical ventilation and end-organ epithelial cell apoptosis and organ dysfunction in an experimental model of acute respiratory distress syndrome. JAMA 289:2104-2112, 2003
- IrishCriticalCareTrialsGroup. Acute lung injury and the acute respiratory distress syndrome in Ireland: a prospective audit of epidemiology and management. Crit Care 12:R30, 2008
- Jabaudon, M, Futier, E, Roszyk, L, Chalus, E, Guerin, R, Petit, A, Mrozek, S, Perbet, S, Cayot-Constantin, S, Chartier, C, Sapin, V, Bazin, JE and Constantin, JM. Soluble form of the receptor for advanced glycation end products is a marker of acute lung injury but not of severe sepsis in critically ill patients. Crit Care Med 39:480-488, 2011

- James, SK, Lindahl, B, Siegbahn, A, Stridsberg, M, Venge, P, Armstrong, P, Barnathan, ES, Califf, R, Topol, EJ, Simoons, ML and Wallentin, L. N-terminal pro-brain natriuretic peptide and other risk markers for the separate prediction of mortality and subsequent myocardial infarction in patients with unstable coronary artery disease: a Global Utilization of Strategies To Open occluded arteries (GUSTO)-IV substudy. Circulation 108:275-281, 2003
- Jarai, R, Fellner, B, Haoula, D, Jordanova, N, Heinz, G, Karth, GD, Huber, K and Geppert, A. Early assessment of outcome in cardiogenic shock: relevance of plasma N-terminal pro-B-type natriuretic peptide and interleukin-6 levels. Crit Care Med 37:1837-1844, 2009
- Jarai, R, Wojta, J and Huber, K. Circulating B-type natriuretic peptides in patients with acute coronary syndromes. Pathophysiological, prognostical and therapeutical considerations. Thromb Haemost 94:926-932, 2005
- Jefic, D, Lee, JW, Savoy-Moore, RT and Rosman, HS. Utility of B-type natriuretic peptide and N-terminal pro B-type natriuretic peptide in evaluation of respiratory failure in critically ill patients. Chest 128:288-295, 2005
- Johnson, MD, Bao, HF, Helms, MN, Chen, XJ, Tigue, Z, Jain, L, Dobbs, LG and Eaton, DC. Functional ion channels in pulmonary alveolar type I cells support a role for type I cells in lung ion transport. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 103:4964-4969, 2006
- Jung, K, Fleischhacker, M and Rabien, A. Cell-free DNA in the blood as a solid tumor biomarker--a critical appraisal of the literature. Clin Chim Acta 411:1611-1624, 2010
- Kahn, JM, Goss, CH, Heagerty, PJ, Kramer, AA, O'Brien, CR and Rubenfeld, GD. Hospital volume and the outcomes of mechanical ventilation. N Engl J Med 355:41-50, 2006
- Karason, S, Antonsen, K and Aneman, A. Ventilator treatment in the Nordic countries. A multicenter survey. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand 46:1053-1061, 2002
- Karbing, DS, Kjaergaard, S, Smith, BW, Espersen, K, Allerod, C, Andreassen, S and Rees, SE. Variation in the PaO2/FiO2 ratio with FiO2: mathematical and experimental description, and clinical relevance. Crit Care 11:R118, 2007
- Karmpaliotis, D, Kirtane, AJ, Ruisi, CP, Polonsky, T, Malhotra, A, Talmor, D, Kosmidou, I, Jarolim, P, de Lemos, JA, Sabatine, MS, Gibson, CM and Morrow, D. Diagnostic and prognostic utility of brain natriuretic Peptide in subjects admitted to the ICU with hypoxic respiratory failure due to noncardiogenic and cardiogenic pulmonary edema. Chest 131:964-971, 2007
- Katzenstein, AL, Bloor, CM and Leibow, AA. Diffuse alveolar damage--the role of oxygen, shock, and related factors. A review. Am J Pathol 85:209-228, 1976
- Khan, AR, Birbach, M, Cohen, MS, Ittenbach, RF, Spray, TL, Levy, RJ and Gaynor, JW. Chronic hypoxemia increases ventricular brain natriuretic peptide precursors in neonatal swine. Ann Thorac Surg 85:618-623, 2008

- King, J, Deboisblanc, BP, Mason, CM, Onofrio, JM, Lipscomb, G, Mercante, DE, Summer, WR and Nelson, S. Effect of granulocyte colony-stimulating factor on acute lung injury in the rat. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 151:302-309, 1995
- Kisseleva, T and Brenner, DA. Fibrogenesis of parenchymal organs. Proc Am Thorac Soc 5:338-342, 2008
- Kitamura, Y, Hashimoto, S, Mizuta, N, Kobayashi, A, Kooguchi, K, Fujiwara, I and Nakajima, H. Fas/FasL-dependent apoptosis of alveolar cells after lipopolysaccharide-induced lung injury in mice. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 163:762-769, 2001
- Knaus, WA, Draper, EA, Wagner, DP and Zimmerman, JE. APACHE II: a severity of disease classification system. Crit Care Med 13:818-829, 1985
- Kocsis, AK, Szabolcs, A, Hofner, P, Takacs, T, Farkas, G, Boda, K and Mandi, Y. Plasma concentrations of high-mobility group box protein 1, soluble receptor for advanced glycation end-products and circulating DNA in patients with acute pancreatitis. Pancreatology 9:383-391, 2009
- Kolobow, T, Moretti, MP, Fumagalli, R, Mascheroni, D, Prato, P, Chen, V and Joris, M. Severe impairment in lung function induced by high peak airway pressure during mechanical ventilation. An experimental study. Am Rev Respir Dis 135:312-315, 1987
- Kotanidou, A, Karsaliakos, P, Tzanela, M, Mavrou, I, Kopterides, P, Papadomichelakis,
  E, Theodorakopoulou, M, Botoula, E, Tsangaris, I, Lignos, M, Ikonomidis,
  I, Ilias, I, Armaganidis, A, Orfanos, SE and Dimopoulou, I. Prognostic importance of increased plasma amino-terminal pro-brain natriuretic peptide levels in a large noncardiac, general intensive care unit population. Shock 31:342-347, 2009
- Latini, R, Masson, S, Anand, I, Salio, M, Hester, A, Judd, D, Barlera, S, Maggioni, AP, Tognoni, G and Cohn, JN. The comparative prognostic value of plasma neurohormones at baseline in patients with heart failure enrolled in Val-HeFT. Eur Heart J 25:292-299, 2004
- Le Gall, JR, Lemeshow, S and Saulnier, F. A new Simplified Acute Physiology Score (SAPS II) based on a European/North American multicenter study. JAMA 270:2957-2963, 1993
- Lee, TH, Montalvo, L, Chrebtow, V and Busch, MP. Quantitation of genomic DNA in plasma and serum samples: higher concentrations of genomic DNA found in serum than in plasma. Transfusion 41:276-282, 2001
- Lesur, O, Langevin, S, Berthiaume, Y, Legare, M, Skrobik, Y, Bellemare, JF, Levy, B, Fortier, Y, Lauzier, F, Bravo, G, Nickmilder, M, Rousseau, E and Bernard, A. Outcome value of Clara cell protein in serum of patients with acute respiratory distress syndrome. Intensive Care Med 32:1167-1174, 2006
- Lewandowski, K. Epidemiological data challenge ARDS/ALI definition. Intensive Care Med 25:884-886, 1999

- Lewandowski, K, Metz, J, Deutschmann, C, Preiss, H, Kuhlen, R, Artigas, A and Falke, KJ. Incidence, severity, and mortality of acute respiratory failure in Berlin, Germany. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 151:1121-1125, 1995
- Levi, M and Ten Cate, H. Disseminated intravascular coagulation. N Engl J Med 341:586-592, 1999
- Levitt, JE, Gould, MK, Ware, LB and Matthay, MA. The pathogenetic and prognostic value of biologic markers in acute lung injury. J Intensive Care Med 24:151-167, 2009
- Levitt, JE, Vinayak, AG, Gehlbach, BK, Pohlman, A, Van Cleve, W, Hall, JB and Kress, JP. Diagnostic utility of B-type natriuretic peptide in critically ill patients with pulmonary edema: a prospective cohort study. Crit Care 12:R3, 2008
- Levy, B, Gibot, S, Franck, P, Cravoisy, A and Bollaert, PE. Relation between muscle Na+K+ ATPase activity and raised lactate concentrations in septic shock: a prospective study. Lancet 365:871-875, 2005
- Liebler, JM, Qu, Z, Buckner, B, Powers, MR and Rosenbaum, JT. Fibroproliferation and mast cells in the acute respiratory distress syndrome. Thorax 53:823-829, 1998
- Liliensiek, B, Weigand, MA, Bierhaus, A, Nicklas, W, Kasper, M, Hofer, S, Plachky, J, Grone, HJ, Kurschus, FC, Schmidt, AM, Yan, SD, Martin, E, Schleicher, E, Stern, DM, Hammerling, GG, Nawroth, PP and Arnold, B. Receptor for advanced glycation end products (RAGE) regulates sepsis but not the adaptive immune response. J Clin Invest 113:1641-1650, 2004
- Linko, R, Suojaranta-Ylinen, R, Karlsson, S, Ruokonen, E, Varpula, T and Pettila, V. One-year mortality, quality of life and predicted life-time cost-utility in critically ill patients with acute respiratory failure. Crit Care 14:R60, 2010
- Liu, KD, Levitt, J, Zhuo, H, Kallet, RH, Brady, S, Steingrub, J, Tidswell, M, Siegel, MD, Soto, G, Peterson, MW, Chesnutt, MS, Phillips, C, Weinacker, A, Thompson, BT, Eisner, MD and Matthay, MA. Randomized clinical trial of activated protein C for the treatment of acute lung injury. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 178:618-623, 2008
- Lo, YM, Rainer, TH, Chan, LY, Hjelm, NM and Cocks, RA. Plasma DNA as a prognostic marker in trauma patients. Clin Chem 46:319-323, 2000
- Lo, YM, Zhang, J, Leung, TN, Lau, TK, Chang, AM and Hjelm, NM. Rapid clearance of fetal DNA from maternal plasma. Am J Hum Genet 64:218-224, 1999
- Luhr, OR, Antonsen, K, Karlsson, M, Aardal, S, Thorsteinsson, A, Frostell, CG and Bonde, J. Incidence and mortality after acute respiratory failure and acute respiratory distress syndrome in Sweden, Denmark, and Iceland. The ARF Study Group. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 159:1849-1861, 1999
- Lundin, S, Mang, H, Smithies, M, Stenqvist, O and Frostell, C. Inhalation of nitric oxide in acute lung injury: results of a European multicentre study. The European Study Group of Inhaled Nitric Oxide. Intensive Care Med 25:911-919, 1999

- Ma, KK, Ogawa, T and de Bold, AJ. Selective upregulation of cardiac brain natriuretic peptide at the transcriptional and translational levels by pro-inflammatory cytokines and by conditioned medium derived from mixed lymphocyte reactions via p38 MAP kinase. J Mol Cell Cardiol. 36:505-513., 2004
- Mackay, F, Loetscher, H, Stueber, D, Gehr, G and Lesslauer, W. Tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF-alpha)-induced cell adhesion to human endothelial cells is under dominant control of one TNF receptor type, TNF-R55. J Exp Med 177:1277-1286, 1993
- Mair, J. Biochemistry of B-type natriuretic peptide--where are we now? Clin Chem Lab Med. 46:1507-1514., 2008
- Marshall, RP, Bellingan, G, Webb, S, Puddicombe, A, Goldsack, N, McAnulty, RJ and Laurent, GJ. Fibroproliferation occurs early in the acute respiratory distress syndrome and impacts on outcome. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 162:1783-1788, 2000
- Marshall, RP, Webb, S, Hill, MR, Humphries, SE and Laurent, GJ. Genetic polymorphisms associated with susceptibility and outcome in ARDS. Chest 121:68S-69S, 2002
- Martins, GA, Kawamura, MT and Carvalho Mda, G. Detection of DNA in the plasma of septic patients. Ann N Y Acad Sci 906:134-140, 2000
- Mason, RJ. Biology of alveolar type II cells. Respirology 11 Suppl:S12-15, 2006
- Masson, S, Latini, R, Anand, IS, Vago, T, Angelici, L, Barlera, S, Missov, ED, Clerico, A, Tognoni, G and Cohn, JN. Direct comparison of B-type natriuretic peptide (BNP) and amino-terminal proBNP in a large population of patients with chronic and symptomatic heart failure: the Valsartan Heart Failure (Val-HeFT) data. Clin Chem 52:1528-1538, 2006
- Matute-Bello, G, Liles, WC, Frevert, CW, Nakamura, M, Ballman, K, Vathanaprida, C, Kiener, PA and Martin, TR. Recombinant human Fas ligand induces alveolar epithelial cell apoptosis and lung injury in rabbits. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 281:L328-335, 2001a
- Matute-Bello, G, Liles, WC, Steinberg, KP, Kiener, PA, Mongovin, S, Chi, EY, Jonas, M and Martin, TR. Soluble Fas ligand induces epithelial cell apoptosis in humans with acute lung injury (ARDS). J Immunol 163:2217-2225, 1999
- Matute-Bello, G, Winn, RK, Jonas, M, Chi, EY, Martin, TR and Liles, WC. Fas (CD95) induces alveolar epithelial cell apoptosis in vivo: implications for acute pulmonary inflammation. Am J Pathol 158:153-161, 2001b
- McAuley, DF, Frank, JA, Fang, X and Matthay, MA. Clinically relevant concentrations of beta2-adrenergic agonists stimulate maximal cyclic adenosine monophosphate-dependent airspace fluid clearance and decrease pulmonary edema in experimental acid-induced lung injury. Crit Care Med 32:1470-1476, 2004

- McClintock, D, Zhuo, H, Wickersham, N, Matthay, MA and Ware, LB. Biomarkers of inflammation, coagulation and fibrinolysis predict mortality in acute lung injury. Crit Care 12:R41, 2008
- McClintock, DE, Starcher, B, Eisner, MD, Thompson, BT, Hayden, DL, Church, GD and Matthay, MA. Higher urine desmosine levels are associated with mortality in patients with acute lung injury. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 291:L566-571, 2006
- McClintock, DE, Ware, LB, Eisner, MD, Wickersham, N, Thompson, BT and Matthay, MA. Higher urine nitric oxide is associated with improved outcomes in patients with acute lung injury. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 175:256-262, 2007
- McGill, SN, Ahmed, NA and Christou, NV. Increased plasma von Willebrand factor in the systemic inflammatory response syndrome is derived from generalized endothelial cell activation. Crit Care Med 26:296-300, 1998
- Mead, J, Takishima, T and Leith, D. Stress distribution in lungs: a model of pulmonary elasticity. J Appl Physiol 28:596-608, 1970
- Meduri, GU, Kohler, G, Headley, S, Tolley, E, Stentz, F and Postlethwaite, A. Inflammatory cytokines in the BAL of patients with ARDS. Persistent elevation over time predicts poor outcome. Chest 108:1303-1314, 1995
- Meduri, GU, Tolley, EA, Chinn, A, Stentz, F and Postlethwaite, A. Procollagen types I and III aminoterminal propeptide levels during acute respiratory distress syndrome and in response to methylprednisolone treatment. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 158:1432-1441, 1998
- Melkko, J, Kauppila, S, Niemi, S, Risteli, L, Haukipuro, K, Jukkola, A and Risteli, J. Immunoassay for intact amino-terminal propeptide of human type I procollagen. Clin Chem 42:947-954, 1996
- Meyer, B, Huelsmann, M, Wexberg, P, Delle Karth, G, Berger, R, Moertl, D, Szekeres, T, Pacher, R and Heinz, G. N-terminal pro-B-type natriuretic peptide is an independent predictor of outcome in an unselected cohort of critically ill patients. Crit Care Med 35:2268-2273, 2007
- Monchi, M, Bellenfant, F, Cariou, A, Joly, LM, Thebert, D, Laurent, I, Dhainaut, JF and Brunet, F. Early predictive factors of survival in the acute respiratory distress syndrome. A multivariate analysis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 158:1076-1081, 1998
- Montgomery, AB, Stager, MA, Carrico, CJ and Hudson, LD. Causes of mortality in patients with the adult respiratory distress syndrome. Am Rev Respir Dis 132:485-489, 1985
- Moss, M, Ackerson, L, Gillespie, MK, Moore, FA, Moore, EE and Parsons, PE. von Willebrand factor antigen levels are not predictive for the adult respiratory distress syndrome. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 151:15-20, 1995

- Moss, M and Mannino, DM. Race and gender differences in acute respiratory distress syndrome deaths in the United States: an analysis of multiple-cause mortality data (1979-1996). Crit Care Med 30:1679-1685, 2002
- Mu, D, Cambier, S, Fjellbirkeland, L, Baron, JL, Munger, JS, Kawakatsu, H, Sheppard, D, Broaddus, VC and Nishimura, SL. The integrin alpha(v)beta8 mediates epithelial homeostasis through MT1-MMP-dependent activation of TGF-beta1. J Cell Biol 157:493-507, 2002
- Murray, JF, Matthay, MA, Luce, JM and Flick, MR. An expanded definition of the adult respiratory distress syndrome. Am Rev Respir Dis 138:720-723, 1988
- Myllyharju, J and Kivirikko, KI. Collagens, modifying enzymes and their mutations in humans, flies and worms. Trends Genet 20:33-43, 2004
- Needham, DM, Bronskill, SE, Calinawan, JR, Sibbald, WJ, Pronovost, PJ and Laupacis, A. Projected incidence of mechanical ventilation in Ontario to 2026: Preparing for the aging baby boomers. Crit Care Med 33:574-579, 2005
- Nelson, S, Belknap, SM, Carlson, RW, Dale, D, DeBoisblanc, B, Farkas, S, Fotheringham, N, Ho, H, Marrie, T, Movahhed, H, Root, R and Wilson, J. A randomized controlled trial of filgrastim as an adjunct to antibiotics for treatment of hospitalized patients with community-acquired pneumonia. CAP Study Group. J Infect Dis 178:1075-1080, 1998
- Nuckton, TJ, Alonso, JA, Kallet, RH, Daniel, BM, Pittet, JF, Eisner, MD and Matthay, MA. Pulmonary dead-space fraction as a risk factor for death in the acute respiratory distress syndrome. N Engl J Med 346:1281-1286, 2002
- Oberholzer, A, Oberholzer, C and Moldawer, LL. Cytokine signaling--regulation of the immune response in normal and critically ill states. Crit Care Med 28:N3-12, 2000
- Opal, SM and Huber, CE. The role of interleukin-10 in critical illness. Curr Opin Infect Dis 13:221-226, 2000
- Osman, D, Ridel, C, Ray, P, Monnet, X, Anguel, N, Richard, C and Teboul, JL. Cardiac filling pressures are not appropriate to predict hemodynamic response to volume challenge. Crit Care Med 35:64-68, 2007
- Park, WY, Goodman, RB, Steinberg, KP, Ruzinski, JT, Radella, F, 2nd, Park, DR, Pugin, J, Skerrett, SJ, Hudson, LD and Martin, TR. Cytokine balance in the lungs of patients with acute respiratory distress syndrome. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 164:1896-1903, 2001
- Parsons, PE, Eisner, MD, Thompson, BT, Matthay, MA, Ancukiewicz, M, Bernard, GR and Wheeler, AP. Lower tidal volume ventilation and plasma cytokine markers of inflammation in patients with acute lung injury. Crit Care Med 33:1-6; discussion 230-232, 2005a
- Parsons, PE, Matthay, MA, Ware, LB and Eisner, MD. Elevated plasma levels of soluble TNF receptors are associated with morbidity and mortality in patients with acute lung injury. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 288:L426-431, 2005b

- Parsons, PE, Moore, FA, Moore, EE, Ikle, DN, Henson, PM and Worthen, GS. Studies on the role of tumor necrosis factor in adult respiratory distress syndrome. Am Rev Respir Dis 146:694-700, 1992
- Peek, GJ, Mugford, M, Tiruvoipati, R, Wilson, A, Allen, E, Thalanany, MM, Hibbert, CL, Truesdale, A, Clemens, F, Cooper, N, Firmin, RK and Elbourne, D. Efficacy and economic assessment of conventional ventilatory support versus extracorporeal membrane oxygenation for severe adult respiratory failure (CESAR): a multicentre randomised controlled trial. Lancet 374:1351-1363, 2009
- Pemberton, CJ, Johnson, ML, Yandle, TG and Espiner, EA. Deconvolution analysis of cardiac natriuretic peptides during acute volume overload. Hypertension 36:355-359, 2000
- Pencina, MJ, D'Agostino, RB, Sr., D'Agostino, RB, Jr. and Vasan, RS. Evaluating the added predictive ability of a new marker: from area under the ROC curve to reclassification and beyond. Stat Med 27:157-172; discussion 207-112, 2008
- Perkins, GD, McAuley, DF, Thickett, DR and Gao, F. The beta-agonist lung injury trial (BALTI): a randomized placebo-controlled clinical trial. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 173:281-287, 2006
- Perl, M, Chung, CS and Ayala, A. Apoptosis. Crit Care Med 33:S526-529, 2005a
- Perl, M, Chung, CS, Lomas-Neira, J, Rachel, TM, Biffl, WL, Cioffi, WG and Ayala, A. Silencing of Fas, but not caspase-8, in lung epithelial cells ameliorates pulmonary apoptosis, inflammation, and neutrophil influx after hemorrhagic shock and sepsis. Am J Pathol 167:1545-1559, 2005b
- Pettila, V, Pettila, M, Sarna, S, Voutilainen, P and Takkunen, O. Comparison of multiple organ dysfunction scores in the prediction of hospital mortality in the critically ill. Crit Care Med 30:1705-1711, 2002
- Pettila, V, Takkunen, O, Varpula, T, Markkola, A, Porkka, K and Valtonen, V. Safety of granulocyte colony-stimulating factor (filgrastim) in intubated patients in the intensive care unit: interim analysis of a prospective, placebo-controlled, double-blind study. Crit Care Med 28:3620-3625, 2000
- Phua, J, Badia, JR, Adhikari, NK, Friedrich, JO, Fowler, RA, Singh, JM, Scales, DC, Stather, DR, Li, A, Jones, A, Gattas, DJ, Hallett, D, Tomlinson, G, Stewart, TE and Ferguson, ND. Has mortality from acute respiratory distress syndrome decreased over time?: A systematic review. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 179:220-227, 2009
- Pinheiro de Oliveira, R, Hetzel, MP, dos Anjos Silva, M, Dallegrave, D and Friedman, G. Mechanical ventilation with high tidal volume induces inflammation in patients without lung disease. Crit Care 14:R39, 2010
- Pittet, JF, Mackersie, RC, Martin, TR and Matthay, MA. Biological markers of acute lung injury: prognostic and pathogenetic significance. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 155:1187-1205, 1997

- Plant, PK, Owen, JL and Elliott, MW. Early use of non-invasive ventilation for acute exacerbations of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease on general respiratory wards: a multicentre randomised controlled trial. Lancet 355:1931-1935, 2000
- Pohl, J, Bruhn, HD and Christophers, E. Thrombin and fibrin-induced growth of fibroblasts: role in wound repair and thrombus organization. Klin Wochenschr 57:273-277, 1979
- Polverino, E, Nava, S, Ferrer, M, Ceriana, P, Clini, E, Spada, E, Zanotti, E, Trianni, L, Barbano, L, Fracchia, C, Balbi, B and Vitacca, M. Patients' characterization, hospital course and clinical outcomes in five Italian respiratory intensive care units. Intensive Care Med 36:137-142, 2010
- Prabhakaran, P, Ware, LB, White, KE, Cross, MT, Matthay, MA and Olman, MA. Elevated levels of plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 in pulmonary edema fluid are associated with mortality in acute lung injury. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 285:L20-28, 2003
- Pugin, J, Verghese, G, Widmer, MC and Matthay, MA. The alveolar space is the site of intense inflammatory and profibrotic reactions in the early phase of acute respiratory distress syndrome. Crit Care Med 27:304-312, 1999
- Quartin, AA, Campos, MA, Maldonado, DA, Ashkin, D, Cely, CM and Schein, RM. Acute lung injury outside of the ICU: incidence in respiratory isolation on a general ward. Chest 135:261-268, 2009
- Rainer, TH, Chan, AK, Lee, LL, Yim, VW, Lam, NY, Yeung, SW, Graham, CA and Lo, DY. Use of plasma DNA to predict mortality and need for intensive care in patients with abdominal pain. Clin Chim Acta 398:113-117, 2008
- Rainer, TH, Lam, NY, Man, CY, Chiu, RW, Woo, KS and Lo, YM. Plasma betaglobin DNA as a prognostic marker in chest pain patients. Clin Chim Acta 368:110-113, 2006
- Rainer, TH, Wong, LK, Lam, W, Yuen, E, Lam, NY, Metreweli, C and Lo, YM. Prognostic use of circulating plasma nucleic acid concentrations in patients with acute stroke. Clin Chem 49:562-569, 2003
- Rana, BS, Davies, JI, Band, MM, Pringle, SD, Morris, A and Struthers, AD. B-type natriuretic peptide can detect silent myocardial ischaemia in asymptomatic type 2 diabetes. Heart 92:916-920, 2006
- Ranieri, VM, Suter, PM, Tortorella, C, De Tullio, R, Dayer, JM, Brienza, A, Bruno, F and Slutsky, AS. Effect of mechanical ventilation on inflammatory mediators in patients with acute respiratory distress syndrome: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA 282:54-61, 1999
- Ray, P, Le Manach, Y, Riou, B and Houle, TT. Statistical evaluation of a biomarker. Anesthesiology 112:1023-1040, 2010
- Reinikainen, M, Uusaro, A, Ruokonen, E and Niskanen, M. Excess mortality in winter in Finnish intensive care. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand 50:706-711, 2006

- Rhodes, A, Wort, SJ, Thomas, H, Collinson, P and Bennett, ED. Plasma DNA concentration as a predictor of mortality and sepsis in critically ill patients. Crit Care 10:R60, 2006
- Riedemann, NC, Guo, RF and Ward, PA. Novel strategies for the treatment of sepsis. Nat Med 9:517-524, 2003
- Risteli, J, Elomaa, I, Niemi, S, Novamo, A and Risteli, L. Radioimmunoassay for the pyridinoline cross-linked carboxy-terminal telopeptide of type I collagen: a new serum marker of bone collagen degradation. Clin Chem 39:635-640, 1993
- Roupie, E, Lepage, E, Wysocki, M, Fagon, JY, Chastre, J, Dreyfuss, D, Mentec, H, Carlet, J, Brun-Buisson, C, Lemaire, F and Brochard, L. Prevalence, etiologies and outcome of the acute respiratory distress syndrome among hypoxemic ventilated patients. SRLF Collaborative Group on Mechanical Ventilation. Societe de Reanimation de Langue Francaise. Intensive Care Med 25:920-929, 1999
- Roussos, C and Koutsoukou, A. Respiratory failure. Eur Respir J Suppl 47:3s-14s, 2003
- Rubenfeld, GD, Caldwell, E, Peabody, E, Weaver, J, Martin, DP, Neff, M, Stern, EJ and Hudson, LD. Incidence and outcomes of acute lung injury. N Engl J Med 353:1685-1693, 2005
- Rubin, DB, Wiener-Kronish, JP, Murray, JF, Green, DR, Turner, J, Luce, JM, Montgomery, AB, Marks, JD and Matthay, MA. Elevated von Willebrand factor antigen is an early plasma predictor of acute lung injury in nonpulmonary sepsis syndrome. J Clin Invest 86:474-480, 1990
- Rumbak, MJ and Solomon, DA. Does the clinical consensus definition of ALI/ ARDS continue to fit our needs? Chest 135:251-252, 2009
- Sakka, SG, Klein, M, Reinhart, K and Meier-Hellmann, A. Prognostic value of extravascular lung water in critically ill patients. Chest 122:2080-2086, 2002
- Sakuma, T, Okaniwa, G, Nakada, T, Nishimura, T, Fujimura, S and Matthay, MA. Alveolar fluid clearance in the resected human lung. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 150:305-310, 1994
- Santos, FB, Nagato, LK, Boechem, NM, Negri, EM, Guimaraes, A, Capelozzi, VL, Faffe, DS, Zin, WA and Rocco, PR. Time course of lung parenchyma remodeling in pulmonary and extrapulmonary acute lung injury. J Appl Physiol 100:98-106, 2006
- Saukkonen, K, Lakkisto, P, Pettila, V, Varpula, M, Karlsson, S, Ruokonen, E and Pulkki, K. Cell-free plasma DNA as a predictor of outcome in severe sepsis and septic shock. Clin Chem 54:1000-1007, 2008
- Saukkonen, K, Lakkisto, P, Varpula, M, Varpula, T, Voipio-Pulkki, LM, Pettila, V and Pulkki, K. Association of cell-free plasma DNA with hospital mortality and organ dysfunction in intensive care unit patients. Intensive Care Med 33:1624-1627, 2007

- Schmal, H, Czermak, BJ, Lentsch, AB, Bless, NM, Beck-Schimmer, B, Friedl, HP and Ward, PA. Soluble ICAM-1 activates lung macrophages and enhances lung injury. J Immunol 161:3685-3693, 1998
- Schmidt, AM, Yan, SD, Yan, SF and Stern, DM. The multiligand receptor RAGE as a progression factor amplifying immune and inflammatory responses. J Clin Invest 108:949-955, 2001
- Schultz, MJ, Millo, J, Levi, M, Hack, CE, Weverling, GJ, Garrard, CS and van der Poll, T. Local activation of coagulation and inhibition of fibrinolysis in the lung during ventilator associated pneumonia. Thorax 59:130-135, 2004
- Scotton, CJ and Chambers, RC. Molecular targets in pulmonary fibrosis: the myofibroblast in focus. Chest 132:1311-1321, 2007
- Scotton, CJ, Krupiczojc, MA, Konigshoff, M, Mercer, PF, Lee, YC, Kaminski, N, Morser, J, Post, JM, Maher, TM, Nicholson, AG, Moffatt, JD, Laurent, GJ, Derian, CK, Eickelberg, O and Chambers, RC. Increased local expression of coagulation factor X contributes to the fibrotic response in human and murine lung injury. J Clin Invest 119:2550-2563, 2009
- Shingu, M, Hashimoto, M, Ezaki, I and Nobunaga, M. Effect of cytokine-induced soluble ICAM-1 from human synovial cells on synovial cell-lymphocyte adhesion. Clin Exp Immunol 98:46-51, 1994
- Shirasawa, M, Fujiwara, N, Hirabayashi, S, Ohno, H, Iida, J, Makita, K and Hata, Y. Receptor for advanced glycation end-products is a marker of type I lung alveolar cells. Genes Cells 9:165-174, 2004
- Sibbald, WJ, Short, AK, Warshawski, FJ, Cunningham, DG and Cheung, H. Thermal dye measurements of extravascular lung water in critically ill patients. Intravascular Starling forces and extravascular lung water in the adult respiratory distress syndrome. Chest 87:585-592, 1985
- Singer, AJ and Clark, RA. Cutaneous wound healing. N Engl J Med 341:738-746, 1999
- Sittipunt, C, Steinberg, KP, Ruzinski, JT, Myles, C, Zhu, S, Goodman, RB, Hudson, LD, Matalon, S and Martin, TR. Nitric oxide and nitrotyrosine in the lungs of patients with acute respiratory distress syndrome. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 163:503-510, 2001
- Sokolova, E and Reiser, G. A novel therapeutic target in various lung diseases: airway proteases and protease-activated receptors. Pharmacol Ther 115:70-83, 2007
- Sookhai, S, Wang, JJ, McCourt, M, Kirwan, W, Bouchier-Hayes, D and Redmond, P. A novel therapeutic strategy for attenuating neutrophil-mediated lung injury in vivo. Ann Surg 235:285-291, 2002
- Spragg, RG, Lewis, JF, Walmrath, HD, Johannigman, J, Bellingan, G, Laterre, PF, Witte, MC, Richards, GA, Rippin, G, Rathgeb, F, Hafner, D, Taut, FJ and Seeger, W. Effect of recombinant surfactant protein C-based surfactant on the acute respiratory distress syndrome. N Engl J Med 351:884-892, 2004

- Staub, NC. Pulmonary edema: physiologic approaches to management. Chest 74:559-564, 1978
- Steinberg, KP, Hudson, LD, Goodman, RB, Hough, CL, Lanken, PN, Hyzy, R, Thompson, BT and Ancukiewicz, M. Efficacy and safety of corticosteroids for persistent acute respiratory distress syndrome. N Engl J Med 354:1671-1684, 2006
- Stewart, TE, Meade, MO, Cook, DJ, Granton, JT, Hodder, RV, Lapinsky, SE, Mazer, CD, McLean, RF, Rogovein, TS, Schouten, BD, Todd, TR and Slutsky, AS. Evaluation of a ventilation strategy to prevent barotrauma in patients at high risk for acute respiratory distress syndrome. Pressure- and Volume-Limited Ventilation Strategy Group. N Engl J Med 338:355-361, 1998
- Suzuki, N, Kamataki, A, Yamaki, J and Homma, Y. Characterization of circulating DNA in healthy human plasma. Clin Chim Acta 387:55-58, 2008
- Swinkels, DW, Wiegerinck, E, Steegers, EA and de Kok, JB. Effects of bloodprocessing protocols on cell-free DNA quantification in plasma. Clin Chem 49:525-526, 2003
- Teder, P, Vandivier, RW, Jiang, D, Liang, J, Cohn, L, Pure, E, Henson, PM and Noble, PW. Resolution of lung inflammation by CD44. Science 296:155-158, 2002
- Tracey, KJ, Lowry, SF and Cerami, A. Cachetin/TNF-alpha in septic shock and septic adult respiratory distress syndrome. Am Rev Respir Dis 138:1377-1379, 1988
- Treggiari, MM, Martin, DP, Yanez, ND, Caldwell, E, Hudson, LD and Rubenfeld, GD. Effect of intensive care unit organizational model and structure on outcomes in patients with acute lung injury. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 176:685-690, 2007
- Tsuno, K, Miura, K, Takeya, M, Kolobow, T and Morioka, T. Histopathologic pulmonary changes from mechanical ventilation at high peak airway pressures. Am Rev Respir Dis 143:1115-1120, 1991
- Tung, RH, Garcia, C, Morss, AM, Pino, RM, Fifer, MA, Thompson, BT, Lewandrowski, K, Lee-Lewandrowski, E and Januzzi, JL. Utility of B-type natriuretic peptide for the evaluation of intensive care unit shock. Crit Care Med 32:1643-1647, 2004
- Uchida, T, Shirasawa, M, Ware, LB, Kojima, K, Hata, Y, Makita, K, Mednick, G, Matthay, ZA and Matthay, MA. Receptor for advanced glycation end-products is a marker of type I cell injury in acute lung injury. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 173:1008-1015, 2006
- Valta, P, Uusaro, A, Nunes, S, Ruokonen, E and Takala, J. Acute respiratory distress syndrome: frequency, clinical course, and costs of care. Crit Care Med 27:2367-2374, 1999
- van de Stolpe, A and van der Saag, PT. Intercellular adhesion molecule-1. J Mol Med (Berl) 74:13-33, 1996

- van der Vaart, M and Pretorius, PJ. A method for characterization of total circulating DNA. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1137:92-97, 2008
- van der Vaart, M and Pretorius, PJ. Is the role of circulating DNA as a biomarker of cancer being prematurely overrated? Clin Biochem 43:26-36, 2010
- Wang, F, Pan, W, Pan, S, Wang, S, Ge, Q and Ge, J. Usefulness of N-terminal probrain natriuretic peptide and C-reactive protein to predict ICU mortality in unselected medical ICU patients: a prospective, observational study. Crit Care 15:R42, 2011
- Wang, R, Zagariya, A, Ibarra-Sunga, O, Gidea, C, Ang, E, Deshmukh, S, Chaudhary, G, Baraboutis, J, Filippatos, G and Uhal, BD. Angiotensin II induces apoptosis in human and rat alveolar epithelial cells. Am J Physiol 276:L885-889, 1999
- Ware, LB. Prognostic determinants of acute respiratory distress syndrome in adults: impact on clinical trial design. Crit Care Med 33:S217-222, 2005
- Ware, LB, Conner, ER and Matthay, MA. von Willebrand factor antigen is an independent marker of poor outcome in patients with early acute lung injury. Crit Care Med 29:2325-2331, 2001a
- Ware, LB, Eisner, MD, Thompson, BT, Parsons, PE and Matthay, MA. Significance of von Willebrand factor in septic and nonseptic patients with acute lung injury. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 170:766-772, 2004
- Ware, LB, Fang, X and Matthay, MA. Protein C and thrombomodulin in human acute lung injury. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 285:L514-521, 2003
- Ware, LB, Koyama, T, Billheimer, DD, Wu, W, Bernard, GR, Thompson, BT, Brower, RG, Standiford, TJ, Martin, TR and Matthay, MA. Prognostic and pathogenetic value of combining clinical and biochemical indices in patients with acute lung injury. Chest 137:288-296, 2010
- Ware, LB and Matthay, MA. The acute respiratory distress syndrome. N Engl J Med 342:1334-1349, 2000
- Ware, LB and Matthay, MA. Alveolar fluid clearance is impaired in the majority of patients with acute lung injury and the acute respiratory distress syndrome. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 163:1376-1383, 2001b
- Ware, LB, Matthay, MA, Parsons, PE, Thompson, BT, Januzzi, JL and Eisner, MD. Pathogenetic and prognostic significance of altered coagulation and fibrinolysis in acute lung injury/acute respiratory distress syndrome. Crit Care Med 35:1821-1828, 2007
- Varpula, M, Pulkki, K, Karlsson, S, Ruokonen, E and Pettila, V. Predictive value of N-terminal pro-brain natriuretic peptide in severe sepsis and septic shock. Crit Care Med 35:1277-1283, 2007
- Varpula, T, Pettila, V, Rintala, E, Takkunen, O and Valtonen, V. Late steroid therapy in primary acute lung injury. Intensive Care Med 26:526-531, 2000

- Waydhas, C, Nast-Kolb, D, Trupka, A, Lenk, S, Duswald, KH, Schweiberer, L and Jochum, M. Increased serum concentrations of procollagen type III peptide in severely injured patients: an indicator of fibrosing activity? Crit Care Med 21:240-247, 1993
- Webb, HH and Tierney, DF. Experimental pulmonary edema due to intermittent positive pressure ventilation with high inflation pressures. Protection by positive end-expiratory pressure. Am Rev Respir Dis 110:556-565, 1974
- Weber, KT. Cardiac interstitium in health and disease: the fibrillar collagen network. J Am Coll Cardiol 13:1637-1652, 1989
- Weber, KT. Fibrosis, a common pathway to organ failure: angiotensin II and tissue repair. Semin Nephrol 17:467-491, 1997
- Weinert, CR, Gross, CR and Marinelli, WA. Impact of randomized trial results on acute lung injury ventilator therapy in teaching hospitals. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 167:1304-1309, 2003
- Wenisch, C, Graninger, W, Schonthal, E and Rumpold, H. Increased serum concentrations of the carboxy-terminal cross-linked telopeptide of collagen type I in patients with Gram-negative septicaemia. Eur J Clin Invest 26:237-239, 1996
- Verkman, AS. Role of aquaporins in lung liquid physiology. Respir Physiol Neurobiol 159:324-330, 2007
- White, MK, Baireddy, V and Strayer, DS. Natural protection from apoptosis by surfactant protein A in type II pneumocytes. Exp Cell Res 263:183-192, 2001
- Wiedemann, HP, Wheeler, AP, Bernard, GR, Thompson, BT, Hayden, D, deBoisblanc, B, Connors, AF, Jr., Hite, RD and Harabin, AL. Comparison of two fluid-management strategies in acute lung injury. N Engl J Med 354:2564-2575, 2006
- Wijeratne, S, Butt, A, Burns, S, Sherwood, K, Boyd, O and Swaminathan, R. Cellfree plasma DNA as a prognostic marker in intensive treatment unit patients. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1022:232-238, 2004
- Villar, J, Perez-Mendez, L and Kacmarek, RM. Current definitions of acute lung injury and the acute respiratory distress syndrome do not reflect their true severity and outcome. Intensive Care Med 25:930-935, 1999
- Villar, J, Perez-Mendez, L, Lopez, J, Belda, J, Blanco, J, Saralegui, I, Suarez-Sipmann, F, Lubillo, S and Kacmarek, RM. An early PEEP/FIO2 trial identifies different degrees of lung injury in patients with acute respiratory distress syndrome. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 176:795-804, 2007
- Villar, J and Slutsky, AS. The incidence of the adult respiratory distress syndrome. Am Rev Respir Dis 140:814-816, 1989
- Vincent, JL, Akca, S, De Mendonca, A, Haji-Michael, P, Sprung, C, Moreno, R, Antonelli, M and Suter, PM. The epidemiology of acute respiratory failure in critically ill patients(\*). Chest 121:1602-1609, 2002

- Vincent, JL, Moreno, R, Takala, J, Willatts, S, De Mendonca, A, Bruining, H, Reinhart, CK, Suter, PM and Thijs, LG. The SOFA (Sepsis-related Organ Failure Assessment) score to describe organ dysfunction/failure. On behalf of the Working Group on Sepsis-Related Problems of the European Society of Intensive Care Medicine. Intensive Care Med 22:707-710, 1996
- Wolthuis, EK, Vlaar, AP, Choi, G, Roelofs, JJ, Haitsma, JJ, van der Poll, T, Juffermans, NP, Zweers, MM and Schultz, MJ. Recombinant human soluble tumor necrosis factor-alpha receptor fusion protein partly attenuates ventilator-induced lung injury. Shock 31:262-266, 2009
- Wrigge, H, Sydow, M, Zinserling, J, Neumann, P, Hinz, J and Burchardi, H. Determination of functional residual capacity (FRC) by multibreath nitrogen washout in a lung model and in mechanically ventilated patients. Accuracy depends on continuous dynamic compensation for changes of gas sampling delay time. Intensive Care Med 24:487-493, 1998
- Wright, CF and Burton, H. The use of cell-free fetal nucleic acids in maternal blood for non-invasive prenatal diagnosis. Hum Reprod Update 15:139-151, 2009
- Wright, JR. Immunomodulatory functions of surfactant. Physiol Rev 77:931-962, 1997
- Yilmaz, M, Keegan, MT, Iscimen, R, Afessa, B, Buck, CF, Hubmayr, RD and Gajic, O. Toward the prevention of acute lung injury: protocol-guided limitation of large tidal volume ventilation and inappropriate transfusion. Crit Care Med 35:1660-1666; quiz 1667, 2007
- Youden, WJ. Index for rating diagnostic tests. Cancer 3:32-35, 1950
- Young, MP, Manning, HL, Wilson, DL, Mette, SA, Riker, RR, Leiter, JC, Liu, SK, Bates, JT and Parsons, PE. Ventilation of patients with acute lung injury and acute respiratory distress syndrome: has new evidence changed clinical practice? Crit Care Med 32:1260-1265, 2004
- Zakynthinos, E, Kiropoulos, T, Gourgoulianis, K and Filippatos, G. Diagnostic and prognostic impact of brain natriuretic peptide in cardiac and noncardiac diseases. Heart Lung 37:275-285, 2008
- Zambon, M and Vincent, JL. Mortality rates for patients with acute lung injury/ ARDS have decreased over time. Chest 133:1120-1127, 2008
- Zaravinos, A, Tzoras, S, Apostolakis, S, Lazaridis, K and Spandidos, DA. Levosimendan reduces plasma cell-free DNA levels in patients with ischemic cardiomyopathy. J Thromb Thrombolysis 31:180-187, 2011
- Zhang, L, Bukulin, M, Kojro, E, Roth, A, Metz, VV, Fahrenholz, F, Nawroth, PP, Bierhaus, A and Postina, R. Receptor for advanced glycation end products is subjected to protein ectodomain shedding by metalloproteinases. J Biol Chem 283:35507-35516, 2008
- Zilberberg, MD and Epstein, SK. Acute lung injury in the medical ICU: comorbid conditions, age, etiology, and hospital outcome. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 157:1159-1164, 1998